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Management Discussion & 
Analysis

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Being an integrated tin producer, the Group’s core operations comprise both upstream and downstream activities of 
the tin value chain through (i) the Group’s international tin smelting business, and (ii) our local tin mining operations 
at Rahman Hydraulic Tin Sdn Bhd (“RHT”) in Perak. 

Amid a challenging business climate in 2017, MSC remained resilient and for the first time in ten years, reported a 
profitable set of financial results for two consecutive years. Stronger tin prices led to higher earnings contribution 
from the Group’s tin mining division, however this was weighed down by losses at the Group’s smelting operations 
at Butterworth.

Appended below is a snapshot of the Group’s production figures as well as the average tin market price:

Operating snapshot 2017 2016

Group’s revenue Approx. RM1.4 billion Approx. RM1.5 billion

Group’s profit before tax (RM million) RM28.2 million RM49.5 million

MSC International Tin Smelter

Production of refined tin (tonnes) 27,172 26,802

(Loss)/Profit before tax (RM million) (19.5) 19.4

Rahman Hydraulic Tin

Production of tin-in concentrates (tonnes) 2,226 2,228

Sales of tin metal (tonnes) 2,225 2,491

Profit before tax (RM million) 46.7 40.3

Average tin market price (USD per tonne) 20,036 17,900

For the year ended 31 December 2017 (“FY2017”), MSC reported a pre-tax profit and net profit of RM28.2 million 
and RM16.1 million respectively.
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Management Discussion & 
Analysis (cont’d)

MSC’s international tin smelting business performance was impacted 
by higher cost of sales and operating expenses due to inefficiencies 
of the aged equipment at the Butterworth facility, which led to lower 
recovery of tin. As a result, the smelting division recorded a pre-tax 
loss of RM19.5 million in FY2017 from a pre-tax profit of RM19.4 
million for the year ended 31 December 2016 (“FY2016”). The absence 
of reversal of inventories written down to net realisable value of 
RM17.4 million (which occurred in FY2016) further contributed to 
the performance difference. 

The losses from tin smelting were however offset by our mining 
division’s improved pre-tax profit of RM46.7 million, a 16% increase 
from last year’s pre-tax profit of RM40.3 million. The growth was on 
the back of higher average tin prices in 2017, which rose by 12% to 
USD20,036/tonne from USD17,900/tonne in 2016 (Source: Kuala 
Lumpur Tin Market). 

Group revenue marginally decreased to RM1.4 billion in FY2017, 
compared to RM1.5 billion in the previous year due to lower sales 
volume of refined tin during the year.

FINANCIAL POSITION

During FY2017, borrowings increased to RM452.8 million due to 
the drawdown of additional short-term trade facilities to finance the 
Group’s day-to-day operations. As a consequence there was a 31% 
reduction in trade and other payables to RM86.5 million as at 31 
December 2017. 

Despite taking on more debt, the Group’s gearing of 1.6 times is still 
within manageable levels, and we are confident will be supported by 
future business prospects. 

Meanwhile, the Group’s inventories rose to RM469.7 million in FY2017 
following the increase in tin stock levels, ready to be processed for 
smelting purposes. As a result of the rise in inventories, the Group’s 
cash and bank balances decreased in tandem to RM68.7 million in 
FY2017.

We continue to closely monitor the collection of the Group’s 
receivables. As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables amounted to 
RM11.4 million and is largely within the Group’s normal trade credit 
terms of up to 90 days.  

Total shareholders’ equity also increased to RM290.8 million 
in FY2017 due to higher retained earnings of RM72.4 million. 
Consequently, net asset per share grew to RM2.91 in FY2017. 

Total Shareholders’ 
Equity increased to 

RM290.8 million

Higher Retained Earnings 

of RM72.4 million



Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad 
Annual Report Year 2017026

Management Discussion & 
Analysis (cont’d)

INTERNATIONAL TIN SMELTING BUSINESS

The Butterworth international tin smelting operations achieved higher production output of 27,172 tonnes of refined 
tin for FY2017, up from 26,802 tonnes in the previous year mainly attributable to an increase in supply of feed 
materials during the year. 

During the course of the year, the Group continued to work on the re-location of the smelting facility from Butterworth, 
Penang to Pulau Indah, Port Klang. The new production facility in Pulau Indah houses a state of the art extractive 
technology using the Top Submerged Lance (“TSL”) furnace which employs a more comprehensive single stage 
continuous smelting process, enabling higher operating efficiency and lower operating expenditure while bringing 
about a much smaller carbon footprint for the Group. 

With the TSL furnace, the management estimates that the annual production capacity can be upgraded by 50%, 
using oxygen enrichment of the fuel. 

LOCAL TIN MINING BUSINESS

RHT, our tin mining operations is Malaysia’s biggest hard-rock open-pit mine (located in the state of Perak) and is 
the country’s largest producer by far of tin-in concentrates.

For 2017, RHT’s production volume of tin-in concentrates remained stable at approximately 2,226 tonnes as all 
processing plants at the mine operated at close to full capacity throughout the year treating ore material mined 
from the open-pit operation. 

Tin Exploration and Resource

As at 31 December 2017, RHT’s estimated ore resources are tabulated below:

Resource Volume
(m3)

Resource Volume
(m3)

Grade
(KgSn/m3)

Contained Tin
(tonnes Sn)

Measured 1,475,404 2.38 3,509
Indicated 1,906,147 2.12 4,038
Inferred 13,521,023 1.71 23,077
Total 16,902,574 1.81 30,624

Out of the above total resource volume of 16,902,574 m3, about 5,303,347 m3 grading an average of 2.26 KgSn/m3 and 
containing 11,987 tonnes of tin metal resource are located within the current designed mine pit (mineable resources).
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Management Discussion & 
Analysis (cont’d)

Sustainable mining programs

RHT continues to perform exploration activities of new tin mine 
deposits to ensure a sustainable supply of feed intake to support its 
smelting activities. A metallurgical test program is currently being 
carried out to determine the characterisation of the new tin mine 
deposits and to establish a proper set up for the processing plant 
to treat these ores.

In addition to the above program, RHT will undertake a geotechnical 
study followed by a pit optimisation analysis to plan for a new pit 
design that is safe and economically profitable. In general, the study 
will involve geotechnical drilling, laboratory analysis, hydrology and 
hydraulic analysis, and pit slope stability analysis. RHT has appointed 
a geotechnical consultant to conduct the entire study. The overall 
works is estimated to complete by the end-2018. 

Upon completion of the metallurgical test and pit optimisation 
analysis, tin resources from the new tin mine deposits will further 
support the Group’s future supply of tin resources.

Developments on Sg Lembing exploration works

We have identified mineable tin ore deposits during our initial 
exploration works at the Sg Lembing mine. Our 80%-owned subsidiary, 
SL Tin Sdn. Bhd. (“SL Tin”) has proposed to proceed with small-scale 
mining in 2018 and we are in the midst of selecting a contractor to 
invest and commence mining in the mining leases.

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK

Prospect for tin demand is positive as more new discoveries are being 
made for usages of tin for different industries. While tin consumption 
will still largely come from the expanding consumer electronics 
industry in the medium term, we expect future demand to be driven 
by new tin applications in various technologies. The rise of tin usage 
in lithium-ion batteries bodes well for the Group as more automotive 
manufacturers push for electric vehicles.

Moving forward, the Group’s focus will remain on enhancing 
the Group’s operational and cost efficiencies with the ongoing 
rationalisation initiatives in order to remain competitive amid the 
changing business climate. 

One of the Group’s key initiatives is the advancement of the tin 
smelting technology, which is currently in progress at our new Pulau 
Indah Smelting plant which will boast the latest extractive technology 
using a Top Submerged Lance (“TSL”) furnace. This would mean 
an initial duplication of operating expenses as the old Butterworth 
smelter will have to be operating in parallel with this new plant until 
the new installation reaches stable and steady state. The rewards 
will be apparent in a year or so when extraction yields, operational 
efficiencies and lower manpower costs follows the commissioning 
of the new plant. Cash flow stagnation will also be greatly reduced 

Production 
Capacity to 
increase by 

50%
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as the TSL employs a one stage smelting process instead of the 
multi-stage process of the current plant. The Group aims to develop 
this facility to become one of the most modern and cost-efficient tin 
smelters in the region.

With the smelting facility upgrade, the Group is well-positioned to 
leverage on the rising demand of tin and with the lower operating 
costs, we look forward to an enhanced profit level. We continue to 
explore new areas of growth while remaining focused on our cost 
optimisation and rationalisation exercises with the aim of creating 
sustainable value for our shareholders.

DIVIDEND

For FY2017, the Group has declared a Final Single-Tier dividend of 4 
sen, amounting to RM4.0 million. This represents a dividend payout 
of 25% of MSC’s FY2017 net profit and is subject to shareholders’ 
approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

While we intend to consistently reward our shareholders, our ability 
to pay dividends will depend upon a number of factors, such as the 
Group’s financial performance, cash flow requirements and capital 
expenditure needed for potential business expansion plans.

ANTICIPATED RISKS

Significant changes in tin prices

The Group is directly exposed to the risk of fluctuations in tin prices, 
which have been historically volatile and controlled by various factors, 
such as the tin demand and supply conditions, global economic 
environment and Government trade policies. Significant changes 
in tin prices may affect the feasibility of our mining and smelting 
operations. 

The Group is taking necessary steps to mitigate this risk by entering 
into forward commodity contracts to act as a hedge against adverse 
tin price movements. As part of the Group’s financial management 
controls, we constantly monitor the movement of tin prices and 
review our hedging policies.

Fluctuations in foreign currency rates

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from our 
business transactions and borrowings denominated in foreign 
currencies, primarily in United States Dollar and Singapore Dollar. 
As such, changes in currency rates could impact the financial 
performance of the Group. 

To minimise our foreign currency risk, we apply natural hedging 
when possible as our purchases and sales are mostly transacted 
in United States Dollar. The residual risks are managed by entering 
into forward currency contracts to further reduce the risk against 
currency fluctuations.

Management Discussion & 
Analysis (cont’d)
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Equipment efficiency

The Group’s performance is dependent on the reliability and 
effectiveness of our operating equipment as both our mining and 
smelting operations are equipment-intensive. Inefficiencies in the use 
of equipment may result in lower extractive yield which can negatively 
impact the profitability of the Group. 

We are currently addressing this with the ongoing upgrade of our 
smelting furnace with a more advanced technology, which will 
enhance the Group’s tin recovery yield and minimise its risk. The 
Group is also continuously improving its maintenance practices in 
order to sustain the longevity of the equipment. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (“CSR”’ )  AND 
SUSTAINABILITY

We continue to strengthen our sustainability efforts in 2017, 
ensuring our operations are carried out and held to high standards 
of practices in respect of society and the surrounding environment. 
The Group’s commitment to sustainability practices is elaborated in 
our Sustainability Statement.

Our Butterworth smelter is a Conflict Free Smelter (“CFS”) and our 
products are sourced from conflict free areas in accordance to the 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) 
due diligence guidelines. Kindly refer to the CFS Audit Report which 
highlights our commitment to this cause.
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Management Discussion & 
Analysis (cont’d)
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TIN
STATISTICS

Deliveries of Refined Tin From Penang
(Tonnes Refined Tin by reported destination)
 

Destination 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Africa 380 181 245 242 270 145  693 

Australia & New Zealand 5 6 44  -  -  -  - 

China 1,325 2,755 1,590 316 587 866  848 

ECC (incl. UK) 2,467 1,435 2,077 2,479 1,756 2,112  1,931 

India Pakistan & Bangladesh 3,140 3,420 4,073 4,459 2,286 2,686  3,832 

Japan 1,633 1,819 1,988 3,348 3,763 3,517  3,881 

Middle East 687 722 261 266 313 265  503 

Taiwan 1,291 1,169 1,534 1,394 1,034 1,075  1,025 

Korea 7,905 6,870 7,261 7,780 6,725 5,824  1,947 

Rest of Asia Pacific 180 130  - 240 273 15  76 

Singapore 380 1,910 795 100 45  -  - 

South America 500  - 25 325 215  -  - 

U.S.A 1,060 1,900 3,850 5,165 5,125 4,100  5,151 

20,953 22,317 23,743 26,114 22,392 20,605  19,887 

Malaysia
For domestic consumption* 18,504 15,696 9,349 9,037 7,572 6,375  7,263 

39,457 38,013 33,092 35,151 29,964 26,980 27,150 

* Include tin deliveries to LME warehouses in Pasir Gudang and Port Kelang
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Production of Tin-In-Concentrates
In Malaysia

	 Import of Foreign Tin Concentrates
Into Malaysia

Year Tonnes Year Tonnes

2007  2,264 2007  20,643

2008  2,606 2008  20,987

2009  2,380 2009  22,928

2010  2,668 2010  31,359

2011  3,344 2011  33,031

2012 3,725 2012  29,719

2013 3,688 2013  28,328

2014  3,777 2014  31,915

2015  4,158 2015  29,121

2016  4,123 2016  27,535

2017  4,576 2017  33,455
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KLTM LME 3-Month 
Buying Average 
USD per tonne

Highest USD per 
tonne

Lowest USD per 
tonne

Average USD per 
tonne

KLTM Turnover 
(Tonnes)

2007 17,250 10,050 14,523 14,757 14,500

2008 25,400 9,850 18,438 18,077 18,434

2009 16,800 10,130 12,493 16,900 18,341

2010 27,000 15,395 18,859 15,599 20,400

2011 33,300 18,560 26,177 11,387 26,100

2012 25,500 17,300 21,163 10,206 21,100

2013 25,150 19,150 22,318 9,530 22,308

2014 23,680 18,300 21,895 10,826 21,889

2015 19,950 13,700 16,050 12,679 16,018

2016 22,000 13,250 17,926 11,568 17,861

2017 21,100 18,900 20,027 8,890 19,970

2017

January 21,100 19,700 20,753 722 20,692

February 19,930 18,950 19,526 658 19,486

March 20,380 19,150 19,748 744 19,768

April 20,300 19,600 19,875 687 19,942

May 20,550 19,700 20,103 744 20,081

June 20,430 19,180 19,699 625 19,547

July 20,850 19,900 20,164 711 20,079

August 20,850 20,000 20,435 774 20,387

September 20,850 20,600 20,739 722 20,657

October 20,940 19,650 20,439 780 20,275

November 19,550 19,350 19,478 923 19,450

December 19,670 18,900 19,368 800 19,342

Tin
Statistics (cont’d)
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT

KEY HIGHLIGHTS 2017

At MSC, sustainability is at the heart of our operations. Respecting people and planet, whilst striving for profit, is 
crucial to developing a business that achieves long-term success. 

We will continue to recognise our impact on the world around us and on our local communities as we aim to create 
an environment that values and inspires our employees, ultimately delivering value to our stakeholders. 

Through this sustainability statement, we aim to provide our stakeholders with accurate and reliable information in 
regard to the management of economic, environmental and social aspects of the Group.

ENVIRONMENT

100 %  
Of water used 
at tin mine is 
recycled

19 %
Total energy 
consumed is 
generated from 
renewable sources

RM 5 
million 
Investment in 
environmental 
management and 
monitoring

32 hectares 
Of mined-out 
area successfully 
rehabilitated

SOCIAL

87,454 hours 
Total training 
hours

Equivalent to 86 
hours per employee

RM 181.0K 
Investment in 
employees’ 
training and 
development

RM 193.5K
Investment in local 
communities

95 %
Of tin mining 
employees 
come from local 
communities

HEALTH AND SAFETY

3.7 million hours
Total manhours worked

11.07 incidents per 
million manhours worked 

Lost Time Incident 
Frequency Rate (LTIFR)

0 
Fatalities in 2017 
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SUSTAINABILITY FRAMEWORK

Integration of sustainable practices in our operations enable us to sustain the volatility of economic cycles and 
mitigate environmental impacts of our operations.

Our approach to sustainability ties directly to our business objective of running a world-class integrated tin business 
in a sustainable way through quality operations. Our initiatives align with this purpose and extend to our sustainable 
business operations, workplace, supply chain and communities. We follow a framework built upon four strategic pillars 
and core values to support our practices, committed to achieving sustainable performance in planning for the future.

Committed to be a conflict-free tin smelter

We are proud to participate in the International Tin 
Research Institute (“ITRI”) Tin Supply Chain Initiatives 
(“iTSCi”) as we adopt a policy on conflict minerals and 
commit to becoming a Conflict-Free Tin Smelter (“CFS”). 

iTSCi is a collaboration between the international 
tin industry (represented by ITRI) and the Tantalum-
Niobium International Study Centre, of which MSC is a 
member. It is a traceability, tracking and due diligence 
programme which allows exports of conflict-free 
materials from Democratic Republic of Congo (“DRC”) 
and its neighbouring countries, to enter the global 
supply chain. 

At MSC, we abide by due diligence requirements by 
relevant regulations on the supply chain of tin mineral 
and ensure that we avoid trade in cassiterite that directly 
or indirectly finances or benefits armed groups in the 
region. 

A CFS audit is carried out annually for MSC to be 
validated as a responsible and sustainable tin smelter. 
As of May 2017, MSC is once again certified as a CFS 
compliant smelter. 

STRATEGIC GOALS

VISION
To be a successful world-class organisation 
in our integrated core businesses of 
mining, smelting, manufacturing and global 
marketing for tin and tin-based products 
delivering sustainable shareholder value 
through quality operations

STRATEGIC PILLARS
Local communities | Human Resources | Safety and Health | Environmental Management

CORE VALUES 

Intellectual, honesty and integrity | Adding value through innovation and continuous improvement | 
Global perspective and competitive spirit | Respect for the environment and the health and safety of 

its employees | Creating sustainable shareholder value through quality operations

MISSION
To be synonymous with creativity, value, 
service and quality

To be a creative organisation, caring about 
our employees and customers

To leverage on core competencies to 
focus on organic growth and strategic 
acquisitions

Sustainability Statement (cont’d)

Embraces the “Social and Environmental License to 
Operate” concept

We continue to embrace the “Social and Environmental 
License to Operate” concept as we contribute to 
the development of the environment and social 
well-being of local communities. It is an important 
concept which reinforces our commitment to ethical 
business practices, built upon meaningful stakeholder 
engagement for the mutual benefit of the Group and 
the local population. 

Socially, we focus on building trust with the community 
to enhance credibility and legitimacy of the Group. 
Engagement with members of the community, 
identifying and responding to their concerns is key to 
delivering sustainable socio-economic benefits which 
are in line with ethical business practices. 
 
It is also the Group’s responsibility to implement 
effective environmental management programmes 
and comply with regulations as we are aware of the 
impact that our operations have on the surrounding 
environment.
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OUR VALUE CHAIN

As an integrated tin producer, our business encompasses the whole range of value chain from the exploration stage 
to mining, smelting and marketing of tin-based products. We strive to achieve a higher standard when managing 
both the upstream and downstream sectors of the industry. 
 
We source raw materials locally and from outside the country. We own and operate the oldest and largest open 
pit-mine in Malaysia through our subsidiary, Rahman Hydraulic Tin Sdn Bhd (“RHT”) in Pengkalan Hulu, Perak. 
Currently, our RHT mine contributes approximately 8% of our smelter’s input. In addition to the RHT mine, we have 
also started initial exploration activities at the Sg Lembing Tin (“SL Tin”) prospect in Pahang. The Group also imports 
tin concentrates from outside the country such as Australia, Africa and others to ensure availability of tin ore supply. 
 
As a business focusing on tin mining and smelting, MSC is continuously exploring ways to maximise the recovery 
of tin concentrate. Future exploration programs to guarantee sustainable supply of tin concentrates include a 
geophysical survey to investigate the occurrence of deep seated tin ore bodies and drilling program at the Western 
slope of RHT for the extension of current tin ore bodies. 
 
In addition to a metallurgical study undertaken in 2017, there are also plans in the pipeline to carry out a geotechnical 
study for a new mine pit design to be used to mine the current and new resources until the end of the mining leases 
in 2030. The designing work will be utilised as a training platform for RHT engineers and geologists.

Sustainability Statement (cont’d)

Domestic 
consumption

7,262
tonnes

Export of 
refined tin

19,888
tonnes

TECHNOLOGY UPGRADE

Since 1887, MSC has grown and progressed to become a global leader in tin smelting. The existing tin smelting 
facility in Butterworth, Penang has been in use since 1902 and currently has a production capacity of approximately 
40,000 tonnes of refined tin a year.

In 2016, MSC acquired a production facility in Pulau Indah located in Klang which houses a modern Top Submerged 
Lance (“TSL”) furnace which was previously used for smelting lead. It is currently being retrofitted and converted 
for the purposes of smelting tin. 

Upon completion of this, we will be the first in the world to successfully convert a lead smelter into a tin smelter. We 
aim to develop this facility to become one of the most advanced tin smelters in the region. 
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TECHNOLOGY UPGRADE (cont’d)

The Butterworth plant uses reverberatory furnaces 
for multi-stage smelting process. The extraction of tin 
occurs at considerably high temperatures in the region 
of 1,350 to 1,450 degree Celsius. 

During the ore smelting process, the slag produced will 
rise to the top whereas the tin metal, being heavier, will 
be tapped off from the bottom of the furnace. 

The slag produced from the ore furnace will then 
be charged to slag furnace for further extraction of 
remaining tin in the slag. This process is repeated until 
the slag becomes discard slag which is classified as 
waste. 

Due to the nature of this process, the amount of slag 
or waste generated is considerably high. This method 
is considered traditional and will eventually give way 
to newer and more efficient smelting processes as 
technological advancements are made.

The TSL furnace, which uses the ISASMELTTM process 
is set to increase production capacity, improve cost 
and production efficiencies and minimise carbon 
footprint of the Group.

More efficient smelting process 
This process has significant advantages over the 
reverberatory furnace as the multiples stages of 
smelting can be done in a single stage. One of the 
benefits is an increase in production capacity of up 
to 60,000 tonnes a year.

This is made possible by the design of the TSL furnace 
which is able to treat a larger volume of feed materials 
with oxygen enrichment while the submerged lance 
tip mixes the molten slag at high temperatures, 
increasing reaction and production rates. 

As it is just a single stage smelting process, the 
slag will be discarded, reducing the volume of 
waste generated with lower tin in discarded slag. 
The simplified process also enables MSC to reduce 
the processing time for smelting, further enhancing 
efficiency.

With the technology upgrade, we will also see a 
decrease in labour costs due to a smaller number 
of personnel needed for the entire smelting process 
using the TSL furnace. These will contribute to the 
Group’s operational efficiencies while driving costs 
down.

Minimised carbon footprint
The ISASMELTTM technology has also proven to be 
more environmental-friendly with a cleaner smelting 
process. The furnace upgrade enables us to improve 
our environmental performance with the use of 
natural gas as fuel and at lower levels of energy 
intensity. 

Due to higher reaction rates, the process is more 
energy efficient as we treat a higher volume of tin ore 
at higher intensities. Furthermore, the TSL furnace is 
equipped with a more effective gas treatment system 
which produces lower dust emission and off-gases. 

Tradit ional  Reverberatory Furnace at 
Butterworth, Penang

Top Submerged Lance (“TSL”) Furnace at 
Pulau Indah, Klang, Selangor

Sustainability Statement (cont’d)
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

We understand that our business operations affect 
a wide range of stakeholders and have identified the 
material aspects which are important to them, in terms 
of economic, environment and social impacts. They were 
determined via discussions and reviewed by our senior 
management and teams across our group of companies 
whilst also taking into consideration feedback from our 
stakeholders. 

The final list of topics which we have recognised as of 
significant importance to our business are listed below: 

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We recognise the importance of effective engagement 
with stakeholders in building a sustainable business 
with the aim to create long-term value for them. Over 
the years, we have improved our stakeholder process 
by strategically identifying key stakeholder groups to 
determine which issues are most material to them. 
Understanding and managing our stakeholders’ 
expectations and concerns is key to the Group’s 
sustainability and growth.

We engage with both internal and external stakeholder 
groups through various channels of communication. 
Below, we provide a summary of key stakeholder groups 
and ways in which we engage with them:

Stakeholders Engagement Methods
Investors/Shareholders •	 Annual General 

Meeting
•	 Bursa 

announcements
•	 Meetings
•	 Press releases
•	 Corporate website
•	 Road shows / 

Analyst briefings
Customers •	 Regular updates

•	 Engagement survey

Economic

Environmental

•	 Financial performance
•	 Sustainable procurement practices
•	 Corporate governance
•	 Fluctuation in tin metal prices
•	 Fluctuation in foreign exchange currencies
•	 International trade policies

•	 Mining and smelting waste management
•	 Water management
•	 Energy management
•	 Air quality management
•	 Recycling of waste materials
•	 Rehabilitation efforts
•	 Environmental incidents
•	 Compliance of environmental laws

Sustainability Statement (cont’d)

Social
•	 Occupational safety and health
•	 Employees’ welfare 
•	 Training and development
•	 Diversity in workplace
•	 Impact on the local community
•	 Human rights

Employees •	 Engagement 
sessions with 
management

•	 Human Resource 
programmes

•	 Social events
•	 Sport and 

recreational 
activities

Local communities •	 Meet-ups with 
community

•	 Community events
•	 Charitable activities

Government agencies 
(Department of 
Environment, Department 
of Safety and Health, 
Department of Mineral 
and Geoscience, Atomic 
Energy Licensing Board)

•	 On-site inspections
•	 Incident reports
•	 Regular reports
•	 Regular meetings
•	 Events

Industry associations
(International Tin 
Association)

•	 Open dialogues
•	 Industry events
•	 Interviews
•	 Task force

Non-governmental 
organisations

•	 Site visits
•	 Meetings
•	 Events
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Sustainability Statement (cont’d)

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

We are aware of the impact our business activities of tin mining and smelting have on the environment. As one of 
the world’s three largest refined tin producers, it is our duty to uphold ourselves to the highest possible standards 
when managing the impact on our surroundings. Environmental Management is one of the strategic pillars which 
make up MSC’s sustainability framework.

ENERGY MANAGEMENT

Energy consumption and conservation is an important aspect of MSC’s environmental management as our operations 
at the mines and smelters consume a significant amount of energy. 

The introduction of the new TSL furnace at the Pulau 
Indah operations in Port Klang will further optimise 
the utilisation of electricity moving forward as it will 
significantly reduce the number of rounds involved in 
the smelting process. 

Furthermore, our team at the mining operations is 
working closely with a leading local university to carry 
out metallurgical tests to improve the efficiency of our 
processing plants.

Our operations use multiple sources of energy 
including electricity generation through the national 
grid, diesel and water. In an effort to conserve energy 
at the mines, we try to maximise our usage of power 
generated by our 1.0 MW mini hydro plant, which 
utilises water, a source of renewable energy. To this 
end, we are one of the few mining companies which 
uses hydro plants to generate electricity. 

The mini hydro plant accounts for 
19% of the Group’s 
total energy needs.

Committed to the conservation of energy, MSC has employed a specialist as a Certified Energy Manager to advise on 
matters relating to the effective and efficient usage of electrical supply at the mines. The Energy Manager analyses 
the energy data collected from the operations and churns out an official monthly report which is then submitted to 
the Energy Commission for monitoring. As part of our sustainability management planning, MSC is sending managers 
to be trained as Certified Energy Managers to raise the level of MSC’s in-house knowledge. 

AIR QUALITY

We observe the effects that our operations have on the quality of air. As a control measure, an air pollution control 
system was installed in 2012 at our smelter operations to reduce particulate matter emissions into the environment. 

The air pollution and quality monitoring system implemented at our smelting facility is the scrubber system, which 
acts as a filter for the furnace operations. At the end of each cycle of smelting, the plume generated will be channelled 
to the scrubber, where it will be cooled and scrubbed using water. The scrubber consists of several layers of packing 
and high-pressure water sprays. As a result, the amount of plume released to the atmosphere is significantly reduced 
with most of the pollutants in the plume scrubbed off. 

In 2017, the Group invested in a new monitoring system at the smelter to ensure the pH of the scrubbing liquid is 
within a desirable range. We conduct regular air quality monitoring to ensure that levels are in compliance with the 
Department of Environment (“DOE”) requirements under the Environment Quality (Clean Air) Regulations 2014.
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Sustainability Statement (cont’d)

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT (Cont’d)

WASTE MANAGEMENT

Smelters and mines produce a substantial amount of waste, including hazardous and non-hazardous solid waste 
as well as wastewater effluent. The various types of waste that are produced require different systems for proper 
disposal of the materials. 

Non-hazardous waste materials at the mine comprising tailing and process water from ore processing plants are 
stored or recycled within our operations while overburden waste from mine pit are disposed by hydraulic excavators 
and dump trucks at the waste dump located at the Southern slopes and foothill of Gunung Paku. 

MSC has a scheduled waste management system which is in accordance with the Environmental Quality (Scheduled 
Wastes) Regulations 2005 of the Environmental Quality Act (EQA) 1974. The process requires segregation and 
temporary storage of waste, clear labelling of materials and monitoring prior to removal, to ensure the prevention 
of contamination of the surroundings. 

Types of scheduled waste generated at the mines include waste of lead acid batteries, spent lubricating and hydraulic 
oil, disposed contaminated containers and filters. The disposal process is closely supervised by a Competent Person 
in Scheduled Waste Management (“CePSWaM”) registered under the DOE. In 2017, there were no incidents reported 
involving the spillage of hazardous waste materials. 

To encourage recycling of waste, Research and Development (“R&D”) efforts are underway in collaboration with a 
leading local university to explore the usage of slimy tailing materials for other industries. Furthermore, the new 
smelter in Pulau Indah, Port Klang will be equipped with a facility to carry out R&D activities for our smelting operations.

MINE REHABILITATION

As a responsible miner, experimental and progressive mine rehabilitation and greening works are being done when and 
where possible, way before the time for final mine closure. Our mining subsidiary, RHT is currently working closely with 
the Forest Research Institute, Malaysia (“FRIM”) on experimental projects for reforestation and mine rehabilitation.

The collaboration project with FRIM covers a total area 
of 4 hectares involving afforestation and reforestation 
approach with selected high value timber species. RHT 
has been working with FRIM since 2011 for a 5-year 
collaboration project and this project is extended for 
another 4 years until 2020.

Apart from that, RHT has also extensively carried out 
greening works on the slopes of tailing bunds, river 
banks and waste dump through planting grasses and 
hydroseeding, as well as planting trees to avoid erosion 
and sedimentation into the nearby rivers.

To date, MSC has successfully rehabilitated 32 hectares of the inactive and mined-out area. 
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Sustainability Statement (cont’d)

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT (Cont’d)

WATER MANAGEMENT

Water is a vital resource in our operations. The processing and re-treatment plants at the mine require a substantial 
amount of water for the separation process of the ore through wet gravitational separation method. 

One of the measures we have taken to promote efficient management of water is through the recycling of processed 
water in the tailing ponds. The water used by the plants will be recycled by pumping back clear water from the last 
tailing pond to the water storage pond, where the water will be re-directed to the plants for utilisation.

As shown in the diagram below, the process is a closed-circuit system linking the plants, tailing ponds and water 
storage ponds, making the water discharged from ore processing plants 100% recycled, with some losses of re-
circulating water mainly through evaporation. 

WATER MANAGEMENT

In 2017, our mining operations consumed over 8.9 billion gallons of recycled water while 528 million gallons, was 
pumped from the nearby river, Sg Kijang to the tailing ponds to make up for the losses from evapotranspiration and 
water seepages. 

WATER QUALITY

We closely monitor the quality of the surrounding rivers as we understand the impact certain chemicals have on 
the surrounding community and biodiversity of the rivers. We practice continuous monitoring and sampling in two 
rivers namely Sg Kijang and Sg Kepayang, as well as other surrounding rivers to observe any environmental impact. 

Daily pH monitoring for river water is conducted along Sg Kijang, including at both river exits of Kijang Dam and 
Kepayang Dam, where the results with photos are sent daily via e-mail to Department of Mineral and Geoscience 
(“DMG”). Water sampling exercises are also carried out at the rivers every fortnightly and water samples are sent to 
DMG’s laboratory and a Skim Akreditasi Makmal Malaysia (“SAMM”) accredited independent laboratory for analysis 
on pH and heavy metals and the results are also submitted to DMG on a fortnight basis.

As part of MSC’s environmental management efforts, 
lime dosing operations are undertaken at multiple 
stations at Sg Kijang, Sg Kepayang and Sg Duri in order 
to neutralise the acidity of river water and to ensure the 
water quality of rivers exiting the mining leases are in 
compliance with the water quality standard prescribed in 
Mineral Development (Effluent) Regulations 2016 under 
Mineral Development Act 1994. 

In 2017, there was no reported contamination of water 
discharged from our operations. 

Water source #2
A series of tailing 

ponds

Water source #1
Fresh water from Sg 

Kijang

Processing plants
Re-treatment plants

Water storage pond

Water is 100% recycled

Wet tailings

Water 
supply
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Sustainability Statement (cont’d)

SOCIAL IMPACT

EMPOWERING OUR PEOPLE

Our employees are integral to the Group’s success. MSC seeks to attract, develop and retain a pool of talented 
individuals by creating a work environment that is conducive for employees to thrive on. 

As at end-2017, we employed over 1,017 people from diverse backgrounds with women comprising 17% of our total 
workforce. Despite the small number of women in a traditionally male-dominated industry, their contribution to the 
Group is equally valued. In an effort to retain talent, our human resources team closely monitor workforce trends and 
analyse exit interviews. By collecting information and gaining insights, we are better prepared to respond to challenges. 

Developing talent

We understand that employees need to feel inspired and engaged in order to perform, hence it is our responsibility to 
provide them with the skills and support they require for personal and professional growth. We promote a culture of 
continuous learning to ensure that our employees have the right knowledge and skills to deliver sustainable results. 

In 2017, we invested over RM180,000 for employees’ training and development, where employees spent a total of 
87,454 hours in training. This is equivalent to 86 hours of training received per employee during the year. The trainings 
provided are centred on technical on-the-job training as well as managerial skills development.

Rewarding talent

At MSC, we believe employees should have equal opportunity to perform regardless of background. All employees are 
given an annual performance review, which acts as an engagement platform for employees and senior management 
to give and receive feedback. 

In recognition of employees’ performance and commitment to the Group, we aim to build a culture where employees 
are valued and rewarded appropriately based on merit. Furthermore, our full-time employees also stand to enjoy 
incentives and benefits such as medical and insurance coverage, maternity and annual leaves, financial assistance 
for employees with children in tertiary education and food subsidies.

Some of the Group’s workforce initiatives aimed at building relationships and promoting inclusiveness include the 
Excellence Performance & Long Service Awards and social gatherings such as Family Days and Annual Dinners. To 
cultivate teamwork, we encourage employees to keep active through social activities organised by the Sports and 
Recreation Club. Friendly tournaments and competition that were held in 2017 include fishing competition, futsal 
league, badminton and bowling tournaments. Our employees also took part in hiking trips to Gunung Baling and 
Gunung Kenderong and enjoyed trips to Singapore and Pulau Tioman. 

Employee breakdown by 
company

Employee breakdown by 
gender

Employee breakdown by 
category

Fixed-Term 
Contract 

13%

Permanent 
87%

RHT 
46%

MSC 
54%

Female 
17%

Male 
83%
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Sustainability Statement (cont’d)

SOCIAL IMPACT (Cont’d)

SAFETY AND HEALTH

Our employees’ safety is of high importance to us. Our aim is to minimise the incidences that could lead to injury and 
occupational illnesses at the workplace. The establishment of the Occupational Safety and Health (“OSH”) policy has 
demonstrated our commitment to this end. We continuously review and improve our OSH policy, work procedures 
and safety programmes with the objective of ensuring that the business activities performed are in a manner that 
protect the wellbeing of our employees, contractors and visitors. Compliance with OSH standards is a key element 
in ensuring sustainable mining and smelting practices.

Every employee is entrusted to take ownership in upholding the highest standards of safety. It is imperative that we 
communicate our OSH policy to employees within our operations for them to develop greater OSH understanding, 
sense of awareness and accountability. 

We have a dedicated Safety and Health Committee to 
oversee proper implementation and communication of 
the OSH policy at both the smelters and mines consisting 
20 employees and 27 employees, respectively. 

We have also established an Emergency Response 
Team with the strength of over 30 employees at the 
smelting operations, dedicated to enhancing the Group’s 
preparedness in an emergency. Safety training sessions 
attended by our employees in 2017 include courses 
on advanced first aid, forklift training, basic defensive 
driving and chemical handling.

At the mines, we provide an equipped workplace to 
ensure the safety of our workers with the provision of 
suitable personal protective equipment, employees’ 
quarters, first aid facilities and designated resting and 
eating areas. 

A total of 3.7 million manhours worked were recorded 
in 2017, with a total of 41 Lost Time Injury (“LTI”) cases. 
This translates to a Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 
(“LTIFR”) of 11.1 LTIs per million hours worked. There 
were no serious injuries or fatalities reported in 2017.



Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad 
Annual Report Year 2017044

In 2017, our mining subsidiary, RHT, which is located 
in Pengkalan Hulu, procured goods and services from 
47 local business partners, representing 10% of RHT’s 
business partners. 

We also employ 95% of locals in our workforce throughout 
the mining value chain, which further demonstrates our 
commitment to creating sustainable value in the local 
community.

We aim to improve community well-being and lifestyle 
through contributions to various charitable organisations, 
welfare establishments and sponsorships of community 
events. 

RM40,000 was dedicated for education by providing industrial training, educational visits for students from community 
schools, welfare assistance, upgrading of school facilities and computer laboratory and the development of an urban 
community library.

During 2017, the Group contributed over RM193,500 to local social development 
and community engagement events.

Sustainability Statement (cont’d)

SOCIAL IMPACT (Cont’d)

GIVING BACK TO THE LOCAL COMMUNITY

We are committed to giving back to the surrounding communities where we operate in. We adopt a collaborative 
approach when it comes to engaging with local communities to develop meaningful relationships and create lasting 
mutual benefits. With a deeper understanding of expectations and concerns, the Group is better prepared to assess 
social impact and address critical issues. 

Socio-economic growth

We aim to create a sustainable future for the local communities. One way is to encourage participation of local 
communities in the Group’s value chain via cooperation with local businessmen as well as creation of job opportunities 
for locals. MSC has been a significant employer at Butterworth since the commencement of our smelting operations 
over 100 years ago.
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CONFLICT FREE SMELTER (cfs) 
AUDIT REPORT 2017

MSC is fully committed to meeting the requirement of EICC, OECD and Governments of the affected countries and 
subscribes to a larger term sustainability objective of improving the tin mining industry of the region. MSC remained 
committed to the responsible sourcing of minerals in Central Africa by supporting the expansion of ITSCI in Katanga 
province, Maniema, North Kivu and South Kivu.  MSC continued to reach out to all the stakeholders in the tin supply 
chain to promote due diligence activities. The successful implementation of the ITSCI program has spurred more 
ASM activities which are vital for the socio-economic growth of the communities who are dependent on it. Given 
MSC’s long presence in Central Africa and the crucial role it had played in the formulation of a sustainable tin supply 
chain initiative with ITRI back in 2010, it will continue to work with all parties who share its vision for a sustainable 
mineral sector in Central Africa. Malaysia Smelting Corporation (MSC) is committed to be a conflict free tin smelter 
by enhancing its status through a combination of efforts, and in close cooperation with Governments and NGOs. 
MSC has a dedicated internal CFS team for overseeing and executing its conflict free minerals compliance strategy. 
The team consists of individuals from relevant functional areas including operations and commercial departments. 
The team members have the necessary competence, knowledge and experience to oversee the supply chain due 
diligence processes.  

MSC maintains a Conflict Minerals Policy, available on its website, pursuant to which the company;

1. 	 Avoids trade in cassiterite that directly or indirectly finances or benefits armed groups in DRC and/or adjoining 
countries (collectively referred to as the region).

2. 	 Promote and support processes and schemes that legitimize minerals from the region to enter the global 
supply chain, thereby supporting the economy of the region and the local communities that depend on this 
trade for their livelihood.

3. 	 Promote sustainable development of the tin industries in the region through investments in industrial scale 
exploration, mining, mineral processing and smelting of tin and associated minerals.

MSC’s commitment to social responsibility and sustainability:

1. 	 MSC expects all our suppliers to exercise due diligence on its supply chain in accordance with the OECD Due 
Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas 
and to determine the source of any Conflict Minerals or Conflict Mineral containing product supplied to MSC.

2. 	 MSC expects all of our suppliers to adopt the following measures to improve the due diligence and reduce the 
risk of irregularities in chain of custody or traceability information:

•	 Continue to cooperate with suppliers to increase information accuracy, leading to RMI compliance, 
•	 Encourage others to participate in RMI to achieve conflict-free certification, 
•	 Create awareness among its suppliers on conflict mineral policies to enhance traceability and responsible 

sourcing practices. 

3. 	 MSC expects our suppliers to inform us if the consignments to MSC contains Conflict Minerals originating in 
the DRC or surrounding countries.

4. 	 Suppliers who are not able to provide adequate information about the source of any Conflict Minerals in the 
products supplied to MSC or that supply products containing Conflict Minerals from the DRC or surrounding 
countries shall be prohibited from continuing their future business with MSC. 
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MSC had successfully completed the annual Conflict-Free Smelter audit and has been certified as a CFS compliant 
smelter in 2017. The next audit has been slated for May 2018. MSC is committed to be validated as a responsible and 
sustainable tin smelter under the Conflict-Free Smelter (CFS) program for 2018. This underscores its commitment 
to source conflict free feed materials from the DRC and the adjoining countries. MSC will continue to spearhead 
initiatives to improve the CFS Program or Responsible Minerals Initiative Program to bring about greater clarity 
and transparency in the risk assessment, auditing guidelines and the technical content of the auditing reference 
documents. As a certified Conflict Free Smelter, MSC will continue to subscribe to the iTSCi due diligence program 
to trace materials for Level 1 and Level 3 countries by reviewing the data provided from the ground assessment 
and monitoring which includes incident reports, governance assessment, company audit reports, mine visit reports 
and baseline reports. MSC will continue to enhance the due diligence platform in its business going forward. As 
responsible sourcing and transparency in supply chain continues to dominate International Conferences, MSC ensures 
it is represented in such events to stay abreast with changes. 

Conflict Free Smelter (CFS) 
Audit Report 2017 (cont’d)
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad recognises the importance of 
maintaining high standards of corporate governance in managing its business affairs so as to build a sustainable 
business capable of enhancing shareholder value.

The Board upholds the Principles and Recommendations as promulgated by the Malaysian Code on Corporate 
Governance 2017 (the “MCCG 2017” or the “Code”). This statement sets out how the Company has applied the 
three key Principles of good corporate governance as enumerated in the MCCG 2017 during the financial year within 
Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). Where a specific practice 
of the MCCG 2017 has not been observed during the financial year under review, the non-observation, including the 
reasons thereof, is included in this statement.

This statement is prepared in compliance with the MCCG 2017 and the Bursa Malaysia Securities Main Market Listing 
Requirements and should be read together with the CG Report 2017 of the Company which provides details on how 
the Company applied each Practice as set out in the MCCG 2017 during the financial year 2017. The Company’s CG 
Report 2017 is available on the Company’s website, www.msmelt.com

A.	 BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

1.	 Board Responsibilities

1.1 	 Strategic Aims, Values and Standards

	 The Board acknowledges its key role in setting the strategic direction of the Group and has assumed 
the following principal responsibilities in discharging its fiduciary and leadership functions:

•	 to promote good corporate governance culture within the Group which reinforces ethical, prudent 
and professional behavior;

 
•	 to review and adopt a strategic plan for the Group to ensure sustainability of its business as the 

Board brings objectivity and breadth of judgment;

•	 to oversee the conduct of the Group’s businesses and evaluate whether the businesses are being 
properly managed;

•	 to identify principal business risks and ensure the implementation of appropriate internal controls 
and mitigating measures to manage these risks;

•	 to consider and implement succession planning, including appointing, training, fixing the 
compensation of and, where appropriate, replacing members of Senior Management;

•	 to review management proposals for the Company; and

•	 to review the adequacy and the integrity of the Group’s internal control system and management 
information system.

	 To ensure the proper discharge of its stewardship role, the Board has established Board Committees, 
namely the Audit & Risk Committee and Nominating & Remuneration Committee and further entrusted 
to them, specific responsibilities to oversee the Group’s affairs and authority to act on the Board’s behalf 
in accordance with their respective terms of reference. The Chairman of the relevant Board Committees 
also report to the Board on key issues deliberated at their respective meetings. The ultimate responsibility 
for decision making, however, lies with the Board.
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A.	 BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont’d)

1.	 Board Responsibilities (cont’d)

1.1 	 Strategic Aims, Values and Standards (cont’d)

	 The roles and functions of the Board, as well as roles delegated to Management, are clearly delineated 
in the Board Charter. This is taken into account through a formal schedule of matters reserved for the 
Board which includes setting the overall Group strategy and direction, approving major capital expenditure, 
consideration of significant financial matters and monitoring of financial and operating performance 
of the Group. Whilst the Board is responsible for creating the framework and policies within which the 
Group should be operating, Management is responsible for instituting compliance with laws, regulations, 
rules, directives and guidelines, including the achievement of the Group’s corporate objectives. Such 
demarcation of roles is clearly set out in the Board Charter and Delegation of Authority which complement 
and reinforce the supervisory role of the Board. The Group’s Code of Ethics continues to set out the 
standards of ethics and conduct expected from its Directors and employees to enhance the standards 
of corporate governance and corporate behaviour. The Code of Ethics covers all aspects of the Group’s 
business which include, amongst others, confidentiality of information, dealings in securities, conflict 
of interest, gifts, bribes and dishonest conducts.

	 The salient features of the Board Charter and Code of Ethics can be found at the Company’s website at 
www.msmelt.com.

	 The Company had also put in place a whistle-blowing policy which allows the whistle-blower to raise 
concerns about actual or potential corporate fraud or breach of ethics involving employees, Senior 
Management or Directors of the Group. Whistle-blowing reports are addressed to Designated Officers 
of the Group, namely Internal Auditor, Company Secretary, Chief Operating Officer or the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee following the form and specific conditions as prescribed under the policy. The 
policy also affirms that the identity of the whistle-blower will be kept confidential and protection will be 
accorded to the whistle-blower against any form of reprisal or retribution.

	 The Board recognises the importance of adhering to the Code of Ethics by all personnel in the Group 
and has the overall responsibility of overseeing the execution of the whistle-blowing policy.

1.2	 Chairman and CEO

	 There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO to engender accountability 
and facilitate the division of responsibility, such that no one individual has unfettered powers over decision 
making.

Chairman

	 Ms. Chew Gek Khim, a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director, is the Chairman of the Company and 
she leads the Board to ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the Board’s governance process and 
acts as a facilitator at Board meetings to ensure that contributions by Directors are forthcoming on 
matters being deliberated and that no Board member dominates discussion.

CEO

	 Dato ‘ Dr. Ir. Patrick Yong Mian Thong, the CEO is tasked to manage the business and operations of the 
Company and to implement the Group’s strategic plans, policies and decisions adopted by the Board. 
The CEO is also tasked with ensuring that whilst the ultimate objective is maximising total shareholders’ 
return, social and environmental factors are not neglected and also developing and maintaining strong 
communication programmes and dialogues with the shareholders, investors, analysts as well as 
employees and providing effective leadership to the Group’s organisation.

Statement on Corporate
Governance (cont’d)
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A.	 BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS (cont’d)

1.	 Board Responsibilities (cont’d)

1.3 	 Sustainability of Business

	 The Board is mindful of the importance of business sustainability and has incorporated the Corporate 
Sustainability Policy into its corporate strategy, considering its impacts on environmental, social and 
governance aspects. Additionally, the Company’s Sustainability Statement is disclosed on pages 34 to 
44 of this Annual Report .

1.4	 Access to Information and Advice

	 The Board has full and independent access to Management, the Company Secretary, the Internal Auditors, 
the External Auditors and other consultants for information needed to effectively carry out its duties.

	 Management provides the Board with complete and adequate information in a timely manner through 
regular updates on financial results, market trends and business developments.

	 Directors also have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Board 
is regularly updated and advised by a Company Secretary who is qualified, experienced and competent 
on new statutory and regulatory requirements, and their resultant implications to the Company and 
Directors in relation to the duties and responsibilities of the Board. 

	 The Company Secretary, who oversees adherence to board policies and procedures, briefs the Board on 
the proposed contents and timing of material announcements to be made to regulators. The Company 
Secretary attends all Board and Board Committee meetings to ensure that the meetings are properly 
convened, and that accurate and proper records of the proceedings and resolutions passed are taken 
and maintained accordingly. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary, if any, is a matter 
for the Board, as a whole, to decide.

	 Senior Management and external parties such as the auditors, solicitors and consultants are invited to 
attend Board meetings when there is a need for additional insights and professional views, advice and 
explanations on specific items on the meeting agenda. Independent professional advice may be sought 
in the furtherance of the Directors’ duties and responsibilities at the Company’s expense, if considered 
necessary, in accordance with established procedures set out in the Board Charter.

	 The Board is supplied with relevant information and reports on financial, operational, corporate, regulatory, 
business development and audit matters, by way of Board reports or upon specific requests. The Board 
and Board Committee papers are circulated in advance prior to the meetings to allow the Board members 
adequate time for making informed decisions and effective discharge of Board’s responsibilities. Minutes 
of Board and Board Committee’s meeting are circulated in a timely manner for review.

2.	 BOARD COMPOSITION

2.1	 Board of Directors

	 As at the date of this Statement, the Board comprises six (6) members, all Non-Executive Directors, 
five (5) of whom are Independent. The Board is chaired by a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. 
The Board comprises a majority of Independent Directors where the Chairman of the Board is not an 
Independent Director.

	 This composition fulfills the requirements set out under the Bursa’s Main Market Listing Requirements, 
which stipulate that at least two (2) Directors or one-third of the Board, whichever is higher, must be 
Independent.

Statement on Corporate
Governance (cont’d)
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2.	 BOARD COMPOSITION (cont’d)

2.1	 Board of Directors (cont’d)

	 The Board members are from different backgrounds with diverse perspectives. The mix of skills and 
experience is essential for successful attainment of corporate plans and objectives of the Group. A brief 
description of each of the Director’s background is set out in the Directors’ Profile on pages 14 to 16 of 
this Annual Report.

2.2 	 Tenure of Independent Director

	 The Independent Non-Executive Directors bring objective and independent views, advice and judgment 
on interests, not only of the Group, but also of the shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers and 
the many communities in which the Group conducts its business. Independent Non-Executive Directors 
are essential for protecting the interests of shareholders and can make significant contributions to the 
Company’s decision making by bringing in the quality of detached impartiality.

	 For the independent director of whom the tenure exceeds a cumulative term of nine (9) years, the 
independent director may continue to serve the Board subject to the director’s re-designation as a non-
independent director upon his/her completion of the nine (9) years. This unwritten policy serves as a 
guide in limiting the tenure of the independent director to nine (9) years.

	 However, the Board may, in exceptional circumstances decide that a director remains as an independent 
director after serving a cumulative term of nine (9) years, subject to the following:

(i)	 assessment by the Nominating Committee, regarding the independence and contribution of the 
said Director; and

(ii)	 shareholders’ approval in a general meeting, where the Board, assisted by the Nominating 
Committee, provides strong justification on such recommendation.

2.3	 Diversity of Board and Senior Management Team

	 The appointment of Board and Senior Management are based on their merit, skill and working experience 
and besides gender diversity, due regard are placed for diversity in terms of skills, experience, age and 
cultural background.

	 Please refer to the Profile of Directors and Senior Management team on pages 14 to 16 and 17 to 21 
respectively for further information.

2.4	 Nominating & Remuneration Committee

	 The Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee were combined as a single committee, 
namely Nominating & Remuneration Committee on 4 April 2016. The chairman of the Nominating & 
Remuneration Committee is Mr. Chia Chee Ming, Timothy, the Senior Independent Director of the Company. 
The Committee is primarily responsible to advise the Board on the nomination of new Board members 
and/or Board member and assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the Committees 
of the Board, to conduct an assessment and evaluation on the contribution of each individual director 
and effectiveness of the Audit Committee. The Committee is also responsible for reviewing the Board 
composition, gender diversity and right mix of skills and balance as well as considering the Board’s 
succession planning and making recommendations for new appointment of directors and members of 
Board Committees as well as identifying suitable training programmes for the Board. It also recommends 
to the Board on the remuneration policy and framework, performance measures criteria and proposes to 
the Board on the remuneration of the directors and senior management (ie General Manager and above).

	 The Terms of Reference of the Nominating & Remuneration Committee is set out in the Board Charter 
which is available on the Company’s website at www.msmelt.com.

Statement on Corporate
Governance (cont’d)
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2.	 BOARD COMPOSITION (cont’d)

2.5 	 Recruitment Process and Annual Assessment of Directors

	 In discharging its responsibilities, the Nominating & Remuneration Committee has developed certain 
criteria for use in the recruitment and annual assessment of Directors. The suitability of candidates is 
evaluated for recommendation to the Board and the Nominating & Remuneration Committee takes into 
consideration, inter-alia, the competency, commitment (including time commitment), contribution and 
performance of the candidates, including, where appropriate, the criteria on assessing the independence 
of candidates’ appointments as Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Nominating & Remuneration 
Committee met with each of the newly appointed Directors during the financial year under review, in 
person prior to recommending their appointment to the Board.

	 Following the appointment of a new Director, the Committee ensures that an induction programme is 
arranged for, which includes establishing rapport with other Directors, furnishing the new Director with 
necessary information for a better understanding of the business, e.g. Board minutes and management 
reports, the Board Charter and arranging visits to key sites.

	 The Committee reviews annually the required mix of skills and experience for Directors and assesses 
annually the contributions of each individual Director and the effectiveness of the Board Committees 
and the Board as a whole with the aim of providing individual contribution effectiveness of the Board 
and its Committees, identify gaps, maximise strengths and address weaknesses of the Board.

	
	 The assessment criteria used in the assessment of Board, Board Committees and individual Director 

include mix of skills and experience and size of the Board, quality of inputs, understanding of their roles, 
duties and responsibilities and etc.

	 Furthermore, the Nominating & Remuneration Committee reviews the size and composition of the Board 
with particular consideration on the impact on the effective functioning of the Board. Insofar as Board 
diversity is concerned, the Board does not have a specific policy on setting targets for women candidates. 
The evaluation of the suitability of candidates is solely based on the candidates’ competency, character, 
time commitment, integrity and experience in meeting the needs of the Company. Nevertheless, the 
Board takes cognizance of the policy of the Government advocating for more women directors on the 
Board of PLCs, and shall give due considerations when assessing their candidature. Presently, there is 
one (1) woman director in the Board.

	
	 The assessment of the independence of Independent Directors is in accordance with the criteria as set 

out in the Bursa Malaysia Main Market Listing Requirements.

	 The following is the record of attendance of the members of the Board:

	 Directors			   No. of meetings attended	

1.	 Ms. Chew Gek Khim			  5/5
2.	 Mr. Chia Chee Ming, Timothy		  5/5
3.	 Dato’ Ng Jui Sia			   5/5
4.	 Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan*		  3/3
5.	 Mr. Yap Chee Keong			  5/5
6.	 Mr. John Mathew A/L Mathai		  4/5

Statement on Corporate
Governance (cont’d)
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2.	 BOARD COMPOSITION (cont’d)

2.6	 Board Committees

	 The Board Committees are as follows:

(i)	 Audit Committee
(ii)	 Nominating & Remuneration Committee

The following are the record of attendance for the Board Committees’ Meetings held in year 2017:

(i)	 Audit Committee

	 Directors			   No. of meetings attended

1.	 Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan*			   2/2	
2.	 Dato’ Ng Jui Sia			   5/5
3.	 Mr. Yap Chee Keong			   4/5

(ii)	 Nominating & Remuneration Committee	

	 Directors			   No. of meetings attended	

1.	 Mr. Chia Chee Ming, Timothy			   2/2
2.	 Ms. Chew Gek Khim			   2/2
3.	 Mr. John Mathew A/L Mathai			   2/2

*     	 Dato’ Robert Teo  Keng Tuan is appointed as a director and member/chairman of Audit Committee
   	 of the Company on 17 May 2017.

	 The Board is satisfied with the time commitment given by the Directors. All directors do not hold more 
than 5 directorships as required under paragraph 15.06 of the Listing Requirements.

	 All existing directors have attended the Mandatory Accreditation Programme as required by the Listing 
Requirements. During the course of the year, they have also attended other training programme and 
seminar on areas that include the following:

i.	 Ms. Chew Gek Khim		 	

Date Organiser Title of Training Programme

18 April 2017 Gateway Partners Inaugural Annual Investor Forum

3 May 2017 Nanyang Technological University Singapore Sustainability Symposium

19 May 2017 Bain & Company SE Asia Private breakfast session

27 May 2017 ShareInvestor Pte Ltd Guest-of-Honor for REITs Symposium 
2017

7 to 9 June 2017 The Compass Family Office Group Singapore Conference 2017

14 August 2017 Wong Partnership “Recent changes to the Companies 
Act and SGX Listing Rules”

15 August 2017 Berkeley’s 2017 EMBA Class Guest Speaking to University of 
California

					   

Statement on Corporate
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2.	 BOARD COMPOSITION (cont’d)

2.6	 Board Committees (cont’d)	

i.	 Ms. Chew Gek Khim (cont’d)	

Date Organiser Title of Training Programme

26 August 2017 National University of Singapore	 Attend A Master Class - Predicting 
Behaviour,  Reading Minds and 
Understanding Ourselves by Asst 
Prof Christopher Asplund

12 September 2017 Singapore Institute of Directors	 SID Directors’ Conference 2017

22 September 2017 International Women’s Forum 
(Singapore)

Dialogue with IWF Women

30 October 2017 IHH Healthcare	 FutureHealth, Now: CEO Breakfast 
Series

		
ii	 Mr. Chia Chee Ming, Timothy

Date Organiser Title of Training Programme

23 February 2017 Singapore Power Ltd and World 
Energy Council

Cyber Security – Building Defences 
for the New
Battlefield

14 August  2017	 The Straits Trading Co Ltd Recent changes to the Companies 
Act & SGX Listing Rules by Wong 
Partnership

12 September  2017 Singapore Institute of Directors SID Directors’ Conference 2017 - 
The Sustainability Imperative. A 
Multifaceted, Mindshifting Look 
at Money and Meaning in the New 
Capitalism

20 September 2017 Singapore Institute of Directors Cyber Security for Directors

12 October 2017 Singapore Institute of Directors SID Remunerat ion Committee 
Chairmen Conversation

			    		
iii	 Dato’ Ng Jui Sia

	 He did not attend any training for the year 2017. 

Statement on Corporate
Governance (cont’d)
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2.	 BOARD COMPOSITION (cont’d)

2.6	 Board Committees (cont’d)	

iv	 Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan

Date Organiser Title of Training Programme

27 April 2017 Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(MIA)	

A Half  Day Programme -  THE 
COMPANIES ACT 2016: An Overview 
and its Significant Impact on Auditors

25 &
26 July 2017

Lembaga Hasil Dalam Negeri 
Malaysia (LHDN),
Chartered Tax Institute of Malaysia 
(CTIM)

National Tax Conference 2017

02 October 2017 Bursa Malaysia Advocacy Session on Corporate 
Disclosure for Directors and Principal 
Officers of Listed Issuers

09 October 2017 Institute of Internal Auditors 
Malaysia

2017 National Conference - AC 
Leadership Track

13 October 2017 Bursa Malaysia CG Breakfast Series for Directors: 
“Leading in a Volatile, Uncertain, 
Complex, Ambiguous (VUCA) World”

20 & 21 November 
2017

Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(MIA)

Audit Series: Workshop 5 - Auditing of 
Property Developers and Contractors

24 November 2017 Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(MIA)

Integrated Reporting Breakfast Talk

05 December 2017 Chartered Tax Institute Of Malaysia 2018 Budget Seminar

11 December 2017 Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(MIA)	

Complimentary Talk on Effective 
Ways to Improve Performance and 
Results for Internal Auditor

		
v    	 Mr. Yap Chee Keong

Date Organiser Title of Training Programme

4 July 2017 TMS Academy Driving For Performance from the 
Board

12 September 2017 Singapore Institute of Directors SID Directors Conference - The 
Sustainability Imperative 

10 October 2017 Human Capital Leadership
Institute

C r e a t i n g  a  P u r p o s e  D r i v e n 
Organisation
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2.	 BOARD COMPOSITION (cont’d)

2.6	 Board Committees (cont’d)

vi	 Mr. John Mathew A/L Mathai

Date Organiser Title of Training Programme

23 May 2017 Christopher & Lee Ong Land Law & Indefeasibility – The 
Emerging Concept of title void ab 
initio (at its inception): Purchaser 
Beware!

7 June 2017 Christopher & Lee Ong The Proposed Amendments on the 
Bankruptcy Act 1967 – Where does 
it take us?

26 August 2017	 Asian Legal Business In House Legal Summit – Companies 
Act 2016-Key Changes and Actions 
to be Taken    

13 September 2017 Christopher & Lee Ong	 Execution of Monetary Judgments

3.    	 REMUNERATION

3.1	 Remuneration Policy

	 The Company has adopted a Directors’ Remuneration Policy on 24 February 2017 and it sets out to 
provide remuneration principles and guidelines for the Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors 
of the Company. 

	 Futhermore, the Board in deciding, the appropriate level of fees of each Non-Executive Director, takes 
into consideration, the experience, the level of responsibilities undertaken, time commitment required in 
attending both the scheduled and special Board meetings, deliberation time required for Board papers 
as well as the number of memberships assumed on Board Committees. In deciding the remuneration for 
senior management, the Board takes into consideration the skills, qualification and working experience 
of the senior management.
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3.    	 REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

3.2	 Details of Directors’ Remuneration

	 The details of the remuneration of Directors of the Company comprising remuneration received from 
the Company and a subsidiary for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 are as follows:

Name of 
Directors

Fees
(RM)

Salaries
(RM)

Allowance
(RM)

Benefits in 
kind

(RM)

Other 
emoluments

(RM)
Total
(RM)

Ms. Chew Gek 
Khim

84,000.00 – 16,000.00 – – 100,000.00

Mr. Chia Chee 
Ming, Timothy

71,168.49 – 15,000.00 – – 86,168.49

Dato’ Ng Jui Sia 70,367.12 – 22,000.00 – – 92,367.12

Dato’ Robert 
Teo Keng Tuan

53,956.16 – 10,000.00 – – 63,956.16

Mr. Yap Chee 
Keong

68,000.00 – 17,000.00 – – 85,000.00

Mr. John  
Mathew A/L 
Mathai

60,084.93 – 14,000.00 – – 74,084.93

Mr. Peter Ho 
Kok Wai*

30,071.23 – 6,000.00 – – 36,071.23

	
*	 Resigned as Audit Committee chairman on 26.04.2017 and from the Board on 17.05.2017.

The Directors’ fees are subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company.

3.3	 Remuneration of Top Five Senior Management

	 The remuneration of the top five senior management team of the Company is as follows:

Range of Remuneration (RM) No of Top Five Senior Management

1,700,000 – 1,750,000 1

650,001 - 700,000 1

600,000 - 650,000 1

500,000 - 550,000 1

400,000 - 450,000 1

TOTAL 5

	 The disclosure of top five senior management’s remuneration component in bands width of RM50,000 
but not on named basis is due to confidentiality & sensitivity of each remuneration package. 
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B.	 EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

4.	 Audit Committee

	 The chairman of the Audit Committee is Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan, an independent director of the Company.

	 On the composition and terms of reference of the Audit Committee, please refer to the Audit Committee Report 
on pages  60 to 62 for further information.

5.	 Assessment of Suitability and Independence of External Auditors

	 The Board, via the Audit Committee, has formalised policies and procedures to assess the suitability and 
independence of the External Auditors. Such policies and procedures entail the provision of written assurance 
by the External Auditors, confirming that they are, and have been, independent throughout the conduct of the 
audit engagement with the Company in accordance with the code of ethics on independence set out by the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants. The policies also set out the types of non-audit services that may be 
provided by the External Auditors, including the thresholds and procedures that need to be observed should 
the External Auditors be contracted to provide the non-audit services. It is also a mandatory requirement for 
our External Auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young to rotate the audit engagement partner as well as its other key 
audit partners from their audit of MSC and its subsidiaries once in every 5 years as set out in the Malaysian 
Institute of Accountants’ By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and Practice).

	 In this regard, the Audit Committee had assessed the independence of Messrs Ernst & Young as External 
Auditors of the Company as well as reviewed the level of non-audit services to be rendered by Messrs Ernst 
& Young to the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2017. Having satisfied itself with their 
technical competency, audit independence and fulfillment of criteria as set out in the policy, the Audit Committee 
recommended their re-appointment to the Board, upon which the shareholders’ approval will be sought at the 
forthcoming AGM.

	

6.	 Effective Governance, Risk Management and Internal Controls

	 Recognising the importance of risk management and internal controls, the Board has in past years formalised 
a structured risk management and internal control framework to identify, evaluate, control, monitor and report 
the principal business risks faced by the Group on an ongoing basis. The key features of the risk management 
framework are set out in the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control of this Annual Report. The 
Company has also appointed KPMG Mgmt. & Risk Consulting Sdn Bhd as the service provider for Enterprise 
Risk Management Update for the Group for financial year 2017.

	 In line with the MCCG 2017 and the Bursa’s Main Market Listing Requirements, the Board has an independent 
Internal Audit function which is led by Mr. Yoon Choon Kong, the Internal Auditor who reports directly to the Audit 
Committee. Mr. Yoon Choon Kong is an associate member of the Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia and a 
certified Lead Auditor, National Registration Scheme for Lead Assessors of Quality Systems. He is supported 
by 3 staff in the Internal Audit Division and he does not have any conflict of interests with the Company. 

	 Details of the Company’s internal control system and its framework including the scope of work during the 
financial year under review are provided in the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control of the 
Group on pages 63 to 66 of this Annual Report.

Statement on Corporate
Governance (cont’d)
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C.	 INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS

7. 	 Communication and engagement with Stakeholders

	 The Company recognises the importance of being transparent and accountable to its investors and, as such, 
has maintained an active and constructive communication policy that enables the Board and Management to 
communicate effectively with investors, financial community and the public generally. The various channels of 
communications are through the quarterly announcements on financial results to Bursa and the SGX, relevant 
announcements and circulars, when necessary, AGM and through the Group’s website at www.msmelt.com 
where shareholders can access corporate information, annual reports, press releases, financial information, 
company announcements, share prices and social responsibility reporting.

8. 	 Conduct of General Meetings

	 The AGM, which is the principal forum for shareholder dialogue, allows shareholders to review the Group’s 
performance via the Company’s annual report and pose questions to the Board for clarification. At the AGM, 
the shareholders participate in deliberating on resolutions being proposed or on the Group’s operations in 
general. During the last AGM, a question & answer session was held in the presence of all directors, where the 
Chairman invited shareholders to raise questions with responses from the Board.

	 The Company dispatches its notice of AGM to shareholders at least twenty eight (28) days before the date 
of the meeting to enable shareholders to go through the annual report and papers supporting the resolutions 
proposed. Shareholders are invited to ask questions regarding the resolutions being proposed before putting 
a resolution to vote as well as matters relating to the Group’s operations in general.

	 Paragraph 8.29A of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad requires that 
any resolution set out in the notice of any general meeting, or any notice of resolution which may be properly 
moved and is intended to be moved at any general meeting, is voted by poll for all AGM from 1 July 2016 
onwards. The Company will be conducting its voting on all resolutions by poll accordingly.

This Statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 10 April 2018.
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE 
INFORMATION

The following information is provided in compliance with the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad:

Utilisation of Proceeds

There were no proceeds raised by the Company from any corporate proposals during the financial year ended 31 
December 2017.

Audit Fees and Non-Audit Fees

The audit fees paid/payable to the external auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young in relation to the audit and non-audit 
services rendered to the Company and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 are as follows:

The Company 
(RM)

The Group
 (RM)

Audit Fees 460,000 590,000

Non-Audit Fees 70,000 70,000

Material Contracts

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving Directors, Chief Executive 
and Major Shareholders’ interest during the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

Recurrent Related Party Transactions of Revenue or Trading Nature

During the financial year, the Company and its subsidiaries had not entered into any recurrent related party transactions, 
which are of revenue or trading nature, which requires shareholders’ mandate.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REPORT

The Audit Committee was established on 30 August 1994 with the principle objective to assist the Board of Directors 
(the “Board”) in fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities relating to corporate governance, system of internal controls 
and financial reporting practices of the Group. 

In performing their duties and discharging their responsibilities, the Audit Committee is guided by its terms of reference 
(“TOR”). The Audit Committee’s TOR is available at the Company’s website at www.msmelt.com.

Composition of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company is currently composed of three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors and 
their record of attendance are as follows:

Present Members				    No. of meetings attended

Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan				        *2/2
Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director
(Appointed as Chairman/member on 17 May 2017)

Dato’ Ng Jui Sia				    5/5
Member, Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Yap Chee Keong				    4/5
Member, Independent Non-Executive Director

Past Members				    No. of meetings attended

Mr. Peter Ho Kok Wai    				       2/2
Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director
(Resigned as Chairman/member on 26 April 2017)

Mr. John Mathew A/L Mathai				    1/1
Member, Independent Non-Executive Director
(Appointed as member on 26 April 2017 and resigned as member on 17 May 2017)

Each member of the Committee is financially literate and has extensive years of relevant industry experience and a 
brief profile of each of the current Directors is presented on pages 14 to 16 of this Annual Report.

*	 Reflects the number of Audit Committee meeting attended during the financial year after the date of appointment 
as Chairman/member of the Committee.

The meetings were appropriately structured through the use of agenda and meeting papers, which contained sufficient 
information, were distributed to members with proper notification in writing.

The Company Secretary, as the secretary of the Committee, was present at all meetings. Representatives of the 
External Auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young, the Internal Auditor, as well as the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), Group 
Chief Financial Officer (“GCFO”) and other Senior Management staff also attended the meetings, where appropriate, 
upon invitation of the Committee.
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Audit Committee 
Report (cont’d)

Training and Continuous Engagement

Members of the Committee have attended relevant training seminars and programmes to enhance their competency 
in fulfilling their functions and duties more effectively, including trainings which are relevant to their discharge of 
duties as the Committee members. Details of training attended by each member are set out on pages 52 to 55 of 
this Annual Report.

During the financial year, the chairman of the Committee continuously engaged with the CEO and the Auditors by 
way of telephone conversations and attending ad-hoc meetings, in order to be kept informed of matters affecting the 
Group. Through such engagements, relevant issues were brought to the attention of the Committee in a timely manner.

Summary of Activities during the Financial Year under Review

The Committee carried out its duties in accordance with its terms of reference during the financial year under review. 
The main activities undertaken by the Committee were as follows:

•	 Reviewed with the External Auditors:

1.	 Scope of work and audit plan for the financial year prior to the commencement of audit fieldwork; and

2.	 The Directors’ Report and the audited financial statements of the Company and Group prior to submission 
to the Board for consideration and approval. The review was to ensure that the audited financial 
statements were drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016. Significant issues 
resulting from the audit of the financial statements by the External Auditors were deliberated.

•	 Met with the external auditors twice (2 times) during the financial year, without the presence of Management, 
to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits and other matters which the 
External Auditors wished to discuss with the Committee;

•	 Considered and recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of the External Auditors and the audit fees 
payable to the External Auditors for the Board’s submission to shareholders for approval at the Annual General 
Meeting;

•	 Reviewed the independence, suitability, objectivity and effectiveness of the External Auditors and the services 
provided, including non-audit services. The Committee has obtained written assurance from the External 
Auditors that they remained independent throughout the conduct of the audit engagement in accordance with 
the terms of all relevant professional and regulatory requirements. Non-audit fees totaling RM70,000 were 
paid/ payable to the External Auditors during the financial year for the provision of services in respect of the 
review of the Company’s Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control and other services;

•	 Reviewed the quarterly financial results against the budget and the results of the preceding year;

•	 Reviewed the quarterly unaudited financial results announcements prior to recommending them to the Board 
for consideration and approval for release to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited. The review and discussions were conducted with the CEO, GCFO and other Senior 
Management staff;

•	 Reviewed the Group Internal Audit function’s resource requirements, adequacy of plan, functions and scope 
for the financial year under review;

•	 Reviewed the performance and competency of the Group Internal Audit function;
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Audit Committee 
Report (cont’d)

•	 Reviewed the internal audit programmes, processes and reports, which highlighted the audit issues, 
recommendation and Management’s responses and discussed with Management and ensure appropriate 
actions were taken to improve the system of internal controls based on improvement opportunities identified 
in the internal audit reports;

•	 Reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the governance and risk management processes as well as the 
internal control system through risk assessment reports from Group Risk Management Steering Committee 
and the internal audit function. Significant risk issues were summarised and communicated to the Board for 
consideration and resolution;

•	 Reviewed the risk assessment updates for significant operating subsidiaries and assessed the appropriateness 
of the mitigation action plans to address the principal risks; and

•	 Reviewed the related party transactions and conflict of interest situations that arose within the Company or 
the Group.

Internal Audit Function

The Committee is supported by an in-house Internal Audit function in the discharge of its duties and responsibilities. 
The Internal Audit function provides independent assurance on the adequacy and integrity of the risk management, 
internal control and governance processes.

The Internal Auditor, who reports directly to the Audit Committee, is responsible for the regular review and appraisal 
of the effectiveness of the risk management, internal control and governance processes within the Group.

A summary of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit function during the financial year is as follows:

•	 Prepared the annual risk-based internal audit plan for the Committee’s approval;

•	 Carried out internal audits of the Group on a risk-based basis to review the adequacy of internal controls in 
the auditable areas and to assess consistency in the compliance with established policies and procedures. 
Verification (on sampling basis) of the existence, adequacy and effectiveness of risk controls established by 
Management within the selected processes and/or sub processes covering strategic, operational and financial 
aspects of the Group’s operations;

•	 Issued internal audit reports to the Committee on the state of internal control of the various operating units 
within the Group and the extent of compliance of the units with the Group’s established policies and procedures 
and management act ion plans to mitigate identified risks, with copies extended to Management, highlighting 
deficiencies together with corresponding improvement opportunities. The Internal Auditor attended all Audit 
Committee meetings and presented reports on areas of audit concern for the Committee’s deliberation; and

•	 Monitored remedial action taken by Management in response to recommendations made to address internal 
control deficiencies highlighted in previous cycles of internal audit.

The total cost incurred for the Internal Audit function for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 was RM906,000.

Further details of the activities of the Internal Audit function are set out in the Statement on Risk Management and 
Internal Control on pages 63 to 66 of this Annual Report.

This Report is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 10 April 2018.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Introduction

Paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Listing 
Requirements”) requires the board of directors of listed issuers to include in its annual report a “statement about the 
state of risk management and internal control of the listed issuer as a group”. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) 
of Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad (the “Company”) is committed to maintaining an effective system of risk 
management and internal control in Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 
to as the “Group”) and is pleased to provide the following Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control (this 
“Statement”), which outlines the nature and scope of the risk management and internal control system of the Group 
during the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

For the purpose of disclosure, the Board has taken into consideration the enumerations encapsulated in the “Statement 
on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers” (the “Guidelines”), a publication 
endorsed by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad pursuant to Paragraph 15.26(b) of the Listing Requirements.

Board’s Responsibility

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining as well as reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the  
risk management and internal control system to safeguard its shareholders’ investment and other stakeholders’ 
interests. The system of internal control covers not only financial controls but also non-financial controls such as 
operational and compliance controls and risk management procedures.

In view of the limitations inherent in any system of risk management and internal control, the system is designed 
to manage risks within tolerable and knowledgeable limits, rather than to eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve the 
Group’s business and corporate objectives. Accordingly, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance, 
against material misstatement or loss.

In evaluating the adequacy of the Group’s system of risk management and internal control, the Board is assisted 
by the Audit Committee which comprises a majority of Independent Directors. Notwithstanding the delegated 
responsibilities, the Board acknowledges its overall responsibility in the establishment and oversight of the Group’s 
risk management and internal control system.

The Board affirms that there is an on-going process for identifying, evaluating, managing, monitoring and reporting 
significant risks faced by the Group. The Board, through its Audit Committee, regularly reviews the results of this 
process, including mitigation measures taken by Management, to address areas of key risks as identified. This 
process has been in place for the financial year under review and up to the date of approval of this Statement for 
inclusion in the Annual Report of the Company.

Risk Management

The Board is guided by Practices 9.1 and 9.2 of the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance which calls for the 
establishment of an effective risk management and internal control framework and the disclosure thereof. 

Management is responsible for identifying, evaluating, monitoring and reporting of risks and internal control as well 
as providing assurance to the Board that it has done so in accordance with the policies and procedures set by the 
Board. Further assurance is provided by the Internal Audit function, which operates across the Group.
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Risk Management (cont’d)

The Board believes that maintaining an effective risk management and internal control system is premised on the 
following key elements of the Group’s risk management framework:

•	 A risk management structure which outlines the lines of reporting and establishes the responsibilities at 
different levels, i.e. the Board, Audit Committee and Management, as follows:

Ø	 Board and Audit Committee – ensure that there is a sound framework for internal controls and risk 
management;

Ø	 Group Risk Management Steering Committee (“GRMSC”) – comprises the Chief Executive Officer 
(“CEO“) and the Heads of respective Business Units which are tasked to review and approve the annual 
risk management work plan and report significant risk issues to the Audit Committee. The GRMSC is 
assisted by a Group Risk Manager; and

Ø	 Business/division heads – to review the risk profiles and performance of business units and reports to 
the GRMSC.

•	 Identification of principal risks (present and potential) faced by business units in the Group and Management’s 
plans to mitigate or manage these risks. For the financial year under review, risk assessments and updates 
were undertaken by all five (5) business/division heads. The results of these assessments and management 
action plans to manage critical risks were reported by the heads to the GRMSC for their further review. The 
Audit Committee, with assistance from the Group Internal Audit function, GRMSC and external consultants, 
then reviewed the Group Risk Profile which was compiled from the review of the individual risk profiles and 
risk registers. For each principal risk, the assessment process considers the potential likelihood of occurrence 
and magnitude, effectiveness of controls in place (if any), and action plans taken to manage those risks to 
the desired level. The risk responses and internal controls that Management have taken and/or are taking are 
discussed at Audit Committee meetings;

•	 Risk appetite and parameters (qualitative and quantitative) for the Group and individual business units have 
been articulated so as to gauge the acceptability of risk exposures;

•	 Risk Management Policy and Guidelines Document was reviewed and updated for adoption across the Group. 
The document offers practical guidance to employees on risk management issues; and

•	 Preparation of action plans to address risk and control issues on an ongoing basis. The action plans include 
the utilization of internal audit procedures, as discussed in further detail below.

Whilst the Board considers the risk management framework to be robust, the framework is still subject to periodic 
testing and continuous improvement, taking into consideration better practices and the changing business 
environment.

Internal Audit Function

The Group has in place an adequately resourced and an independent in-house Internal Audit function, which reports 
directly and provides assurance to Audit Committee on the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management, internal 
control and governance systems. In carrying out its activities, the Internal Audit function has unrestricted access to 
the relevant records, personnel and physical properties.

The Internal Audit function independently reviews the risk identification, evaluation and control processes implemented 
by Management, and reports to Audit Committee on a quarterly basis the outcome thereof. The Internal Audit 
function also reviews the internal control system within the Group based on a detailed annual internal audit plan 
approved by the Audit Committee. Its audit strategy and plan are based on the risk profiles of major business units 
of the Group. The Audit Committee evaluates the internal audit function to assess its effectiveness in the discharge 
of its responsibilities. 

Statement on Risk Management
and Internal Control (cont’d)
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Internal Audit Function (cont’d)

Further details of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit function are set out in the Audit Committee Report on 
pages 60 to 62 of this Annual Report as well as the Corporate Governance Report of Malaysia Smelting Corporation 
Berhad which is made available via an announcement on the website of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Internal Control

The key elements of the Group’s internal control system are described below:

(a) 	 Code of Ethics and Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures

•	 The Board is responsible for setting the ethical tone of the Group and engendering a healthy corporate 
culture. A Code of Ethics has been put in place to set out the standards of ethics and conduct expected 
from its Directors and employees to enhance the standards of corporate governance and corporate 
behaviour. The Code of Ethics covers all aspects of the Group’s business which include, amongst others, 
confidentiality of information, dealings in securities, conflict of interest, gifts, bribes and dishonest 
conducts.

•	 The Board has formalised a set of Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures to provide avenues for 
stakeholders of the Group to raise legitimate concerns relating to potential breaches of legislation 
malpractices in an objective manner without fear of reprisal.

(b)	  Lines of Responsibility and Delegation of Authority

•	 A process of hierarchical reporting has been established which provides for a documented and auditable 
trail of accountability; and

•	 The establishment of limits of authority through Expenditure Controls and Delegation of Authority Limits 
Policy for both the Company and its subsidiaries. In designing and implementing these limits of authority 
structures and systems, the Group is guided by the principle that no one individual should have unfettered 
powers.

(c) 	 Written Policies and Procedures

•	 The establishment of policies and procedures on health and safety, training and development, equal 
employment opportunities, human opportunities, staff performance and handling misconducts; and

•	 The establishment of financial policies and procedures for major subsidiaries, covering core processes 
like tin trading activities, asset management, purchasing, payment, inventory and payroll.

(d) 	 Planning, Monitoring and Reporting

•	 The CEO reports to the Board on significant changes in the business and the external environment;

•	 The Group Chief Financial Officer (“GCFO“) provides the Board with quarterly financial reports, which 
includes key financial indicators;

•	 Management information, which includes the monthly management reports covering both key financial 
and operational information, is provided to key Management for monitoring of performance against the 
business plan;

Statement on Risk Management
and Internal Control (cont’d)
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Statement on Risk Management
and Internal Control (cont’d)

Internal Control (cont’d)

The key elements of the Group’s internal control system are described below: (cont’d)

(d) 	 Planning, Monitoring and Reporting (cont’d)

•	 Management Team meetings are held regularly to identify, discuss and resolve strategic, operational, 
financial and key management issues; and

•	 The Audit Committee reviews the Group’s quarterly financial performance, together with Management, 
which is subsequently reported to the Board.

(e)	  Insurance

•	 Insurance and physical safeguards over major assets are in place to ensure that the assets of the Group 
are covered against any mishaps that may result in material losses to the Group. The insurance coverage 
is reviewed at regular intervals to ensure its adequacy vis-à-vis the Group’s risk appetite.

These key elements are relevant across Group operations and provide continuous assurance to increasingly higher 
levels of Management and, ultimately, to the Board. The processes are reviewed by the Internal Audit function, 
which evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls. Planned corrective actions are 
independently monitored for timely completion.

Commentary on the Adequacy and Effectiveness of the Group’s Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board has received assurance in writing from the CEO and the GCFO that the Group’s risk management and 
internal control system has been operating adequately and effectively, in all material aspects, during the financial 
year under review and up to the date of this Statement. Based on this assurance, the input from external and internal 
auditors, as well as the Board’s review, the Board is of the view that the risk management and internal control system 
is adequate to meet the needs of the Group in addressing financial, operational and compliance risks and have not 
resulted in any material losses, contingencies or uncertainties that would require disclosure in the Group’s annual 
report. Notwithstanding this, the Board and Senior Management remain committed to strengthening the Group’s 
control environment and processes. Ongoing measures and appropriate action plans will be put in place to enhance 
the Group’s system of internal control as and when necessary.

Pursuant to Paragraph 15.23 of the Listing Requirements, the external auditors have reviewed this Statement for 
inclusion in the Annual Report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and reported to the Board that 
nothing has come to their attention which caused them to believe that the Statement intended to be included in the 
Annual Report of the Company was not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the disclosures required 
by Paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Guidelines, nor was it factually inaccurate. The review of this Statement by external 
auditors was performed in accordance with the scope set out in Audit and Assurance Practice Guides 3, Guidance 
for Auditors on Engagements to Report on the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control included in the 
Annual Report, issued by the Malaysia Institute of Accountants.

This Statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 10 April 2018.
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statement of responsibility 
by directors

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the annual audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company are drawn up in accordance with the requirements of the applicable Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, 
International Financial Reporting Standards, the provisions of the Companies Act 2016 and the Main Market Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The Directors are also responsible for ensuring that the annual audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company are prepared with reasonable accuracy from the accounting records which give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2017 and of their financial performance and 
cash flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

In preparing the annual audited financial statements, the Directors have:

•	 Selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
•	 Made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
•	 Made an assessment of the Group’s and of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern

The Directors also have a general responsibility to take reasonable steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and 
of the Company, to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

This Statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 27 March 2018.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding, the smelting of tin concentrates and tin bearing 
materials, the production of various grades of refined tin metal under the MSC brand name and the sales and delivery 
of refined tin metal and by-products. 

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are tin mining, tin warehousing, property holding and rental, investment 
holding and smelting of non-ferrous metals. Other information relating to the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 18 
to the financial statements.

Results

				     Group 	  Company 
				     RM’000 	  RM’000 
				  
Profit net of tax				    16,104	 30,310

				  
Profit attributable to:				  
Owners of the Company				    16,105	 30,310
Non-controlling interests				    (1)	 –
				  
				    16,104	 30,310

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed 
in the statements of changes in equity.

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial 
year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

Dividends

The amount of dividend paid by the Company since 31 December 2016 was as follows:

					     RM’000
		
Final single-tier dividend of RM0.08 per share on 100,000,000 ordinary shares, 
 declared on 21 April 2017 and paid on 11 July 2017				    8,000
		

Subject to the approval of the members at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company, the directors 
recommend the payment of a first and final single-tier dividend of RM0.04 per share amounting to RM4,000,000 for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 do not reflect this proposed dividend. Such 
dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained 
earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2018.

Directors’
REPORT
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Share capital

No shares were issued by the Company and no option has been granted to any person or party to acquire shares in 
the Company during the financial year.

Directors

The name of the directors of the Company in office since the beginning of the financial year to the date of this report are:

Ms. Chew Gek Khim         	   	 (Chairman)		
Dato’ Ng Jui Sia*			    
Mr. John Mathew a/l Mathai 		   	
Mr. Yap Chee Keong*		   
Mr. Chia Chee Ming, Timothy		
Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan*   	   	 (Appointed on 17 May 2017)
Mr. Peter Ho Kok Wai                  	  	 (Resigned on 17 May 2017)

* Being members of Audit Committee as at the date of this report

In accordance with Article 101 of the Articles of Association of the Company, Mr. John Mathew a/l Mathai retires by 
rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and being eligible offer himself for re-election.

Dato’ Ng Jui Sia who retires in accordance with Article 101 of the Articles of Association of the Company has 
notified the Company that he does not wish to seek re-election and accordingly will retire at the conclusion of the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

In accordance with Article 106 of the Articles of Association of the Company, Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan retires at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and being eligible offers himself for re-election.

The name of the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries in office since the beginning of the financial year to the 
date of this report are:

Ms. Chew Gek Khim
Dato’ Ng Jui Sia 
Mr. John Mathew a/l Mathai 
Mr. Yap Chee Keong 
Mr. Chia Chee Ming, Timothy
Dato’ Dr. Ir. Patrick Yong Mian Thong 
Mr. Lee Hock Chye
Mr. Madzlan Bin Zam
Dato’ Abdul Aziz Bin Mohamed 
(Alternate: Dato’ Hj Mohd Abdah Bin Mohd Alif)
Mr. Najib Jaafar
Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan     		  (Appointed on 17 May 2017)
Mr. Raveentiran a/l Krishnan		  (Appointed on 12 December 2017)
Mr. Aldric Tan Jee Wei		  (Appointed on 31 January 2018)
Mr. Peter Ho Kok Wai		  (Resigned on 17 May 2017)
Mr. Au Soon Yong		  (Resigned on 12 December 2017)	
Ms. Maggie Yeo Sock Koon		  (Resigned on 31 January 2018)

Directors’
Report (cont’d)
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Directors’
Report (cont’d)

Directors’ benefits

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which 
the Company was a party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or 
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.   

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other 
than benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors as 
shown below) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with any director or with a 
firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest.

The directors’ benefits are as follows :

					     Group	  Company
					     RM’000 	 RM’000

Fees					     633	 538
Insurance effected to indemnify directors *			   77	 77
				  
				    710	 615
                                                                                                                           

                                                                                                                                                  
Indemnities of directors or officers

During the financial year, the directors and officers of the Group and of the Company are covered under the Directors 
& Officers Management Liability Insurance (“D&O Insurance”) in respect of liabilities arising from acts committed 
in their respective capacity as, inter alia, the directors and officers of the Group and of the Company subject to the 
terms of the D&O Insurance. The total insured limit of D&O Insurance effected for the directors and officers of the 
Group and of the Company was RM40 million in any one claim and in the aggregate for all claims (including deference 
costs). Expenses incurred on indemnity given or insurance effected for any director and officer of the Group and of 
the Company during the financial year amounted to RM77,000.*
             

Directors’ interests

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial year 
in shares in the holding companies, the Company and its related corporations during the financial year were as follows:

	 		  Number of ordinary shares 
		  1 January 		  31 December
		  2017	 Bought	 Sold	 2017
	
Ultimate holding company				  
Tan Chin Tuan Pte. Ltd.				  
				  
Direct interest				  
Ms. Chew Gek Khim		  92,478,922	 –	 –	 92,478,922
				  
Immediate holding company				  
The Straits Trading Company Limited 			
				  
Direct interest				  
Ms. Chew Gek Khim		  41,200	 –	 –	 41,200
Mr. Chia Chee Ming, Timothy		  3,900	 –	 –	 3,900
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Report (cont’d)

Directors’ interests (cont’d)

	 		  Number of ordinary shares 
		  1 January		  31 December
		  2017/	 Bought	 Sold	 2017
	 Date of appointment

The Company				  
				  
Direct interest				  
Ms. Chew Gek Khim		  400,000	 –	 –	 400,000
Dato’ Ng Jui Sia		  –	 6,000	 –	 6,000
				  
Deemed interest				  
Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan		  –	 8,000	 –	 8,000

None of the other directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares in the holding companies, 
the Company or its related corporations during the financial year.

hOLDING cOMPANIES

The immediate holding company of the Company is The Straits Trading Company Limited, a public limited liability 
company incorporated in Singapore and listed on the SGX-ST. The penultimate holding and ultimate holding companies 
of the Company are The Cairns Pte. Ltd. and Tan Chin Tuan Pte.Ltd. respectively, both of which are private limited 
liability companies incorporated in Singapore.

Other statutory information

(a)	 Before the statements of profit or loss and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company 
were made out, the directors took reasonable steps:

(i)	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making 
of provision for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off 
and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts in respect of the financial statements of 
the Group and of the Company; and

(ii)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting 
records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be 
expected so to realise.

(b)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:

(i)	 the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; and

(ii)	 the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
misleading.

(c)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would 
render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company 
misleading or inappropriate.

(d)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this 
report or financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the 
financial statements misleading.
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Report (cont’d)

Other statutory information (Cont’d)

(e)	 At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial 
year which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(ii)	 any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial 
year.

(f)	 In the opinion of the directors:

(i)	 no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the 
period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the 
Group and of the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due; and

(ii)	 no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end 
of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the 
operations of the Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

Auditors

The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Auditors’ remuneration is as follows:

					     Group	  Company
					     RM’000 	 RM’000

Ernst & Young				    590	 460
Other auditors				    9	 –
		
				    599	 460

Indemnification of auditors

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as part of the 
terms of its audit engagement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). No 
payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young during or since the financial year.

Signed on behalf of the board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 27 March 2018.

Chew Gek Khim 				   Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan  
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Statement by directors
Pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016

Statutory declaration 
Pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2016

We, Chew Gek Khim and Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan, being two of the directors of Malaysia Smelting Corporation 
Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 
80 to 182 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2017 and of their financial performance and 
cash flows for the year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 27 March 2018.

Chew Gek Khim 				   Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan 

I, Tevanaigam Randy Chitty, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Malaysia Smelting 
Corporation Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 
80 to 182 are in my opinion correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be 
true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared 
by the abovenamed Tevanaigam Randy Chitty 
at Petaling Jaya in the State of Selangor
on 27 March 2018                                                          			  Tevanaigam Randy Chitty

Before me,

Lawrence Low (B484)
Commissioner for Oaths
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the members of Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad 
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report On the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
	
We have audited the financial statements of Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad, which comprise the statements 
of financial position as at 31 December 2017 of the Group and of the Company, and statements of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and 
of the Company for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, as set out on pages 80 to 182.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 
and of the Company as at 31 December 2017, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.
	
Basis for opinion
	
We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence and other ethical responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, 
Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Key audit matters	

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description 
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. 
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the 
basis of our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.
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Key audit matters (cont’d)

Inventories

The Company contracts with various suppliers on different terms and conditions for the purchases of tin-in-
concentrates. The timing of recognition of tin-in-concentrates is dependent on the terms of the contracts. Given 
the high number of different purchase contracts, we identified timing of recognition of tin-in-concentrates to be an 
area of focus. 

In addition, we also identified valuation of tin-in-concentrates, tin-in-process and refined tin metal as an area of focus 
due to the magnitude of the balances and the nature of tin-in-process and refined tin metal requires management 
to apply valuation techniques which involve subjective judgements and estimates.

In addressing the area of focus in respect of the timing of recognition of tin-in-concentrates, we performed, amongst 
others, the following procedures:

(a)	 We read the significant purchase contracts to obtain an understanding of the terms and conditions to establish 
the Company’s rights and obligations over tin-in-concentrates purchased.

(b)	 We tested the relevant internal controls over the accuracy and timing of recognition of tin-in-concentrates.

(c)	 We inspected, on a sample basis, documents which evidenced the receipt of tin-in-concentrates from suppliers. 

(d)	 We also focused on testing purchase transactions close to the year end to establish whether the transactions 
were recorded in the correct accounting period.

In addressing the area of focus in respect of valuation of tin-in-concentrates, tin-in-process and refined tin metal, we 
performed, amongst others, the following procedures:

(a)	 We obtained an understanding of the Company’s production process and the types of costs included in the 
valuation of tin-in-concentrates, tin-in-process and refined tin metal.

(b)	 We also obtained an understanding of and tested the internal controls over the recording of tin-in-concentrates 
consumed and the valuation of different stages of tin-in-process. 

(c)	 We attended the physical inventory counts and observed whether the counts were conducted according to 
inventory count procedures. 

(d)	 We tested the arithmetic calculation of the valuation of inventories.

Provision for mine restoration costs

As disclosed in Note 27 to the financial statements, the Group recorded a provision for mine restoration costs of 
RM28.2 million in respect of restoration obligations of its subsidiary as at 31 December 2017. Under the Mineral 
(Perak) Enactment 2003, the Group is required to submit its mine restoration plan for approval by the Perak State 
Mineral Resources Committee. The Group engaged an external consultant specialising in mine restoration to carry 
out an assessment of the required restoration and to formulate a mine restoration plan. As at the reporting date, 
the mine restoration plan has been submitted and is pending approval. The Group estimates the costs required to 
fulfil this obligation according to the plan formulated by the external consultant and recognises a provision for these 
costs at each reporting date.  

A provision by its nature is more inherently uncertain as the estimates of the outcome and financial effects are 
determined by the judgement of the management in consultation with the external consultant. This was an area 
of focus in our audit due to the long timescales and significant management judgement and estimates involved in 
determining the intended method of restoration and amount of future cash outflows.

Independent Auditors’ Report (cont’d)
to the members of Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
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Key audit matters (cont’d)

Provision for mine restoration costs (cont’d)

In addressing this area of focus, we evaluated the objectivity, independence, expertise and experience of the external 
mine restoration consultant engaged by the Group. We obtained an understanding of the methodology adopted by 
the consultant in formulating the restoration plan and assessed whether such methodology is consistent with those 
used in the industry. We also evaluated the significant cost components through enquiries with the external consultant 
and, where relevant, we compared the cost components to past actual experience or quotations obtained from third 
party contractors and suppliers. We also focused on the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure about the significant 
judgements and estimates involved in determining the provision for mine restoration costs.

Information other than the financial statements and auditors’ report thereon
		
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company and our auditors’ report thereon. We have obtained the Directors’ Report prior to the date of this auditors’ 
report. The remaining other information expected to be included in the annual report are expected to be made 
available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information expected to be included in the annual report, if we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors of the Company and 
take appropriate action.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements
	
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The directors are also 
responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Independent Auditors’ Report (cont’d)
to the members of Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad 
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 



Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad 
Annual Report Year 2017078

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s and the Company’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont’d)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Other matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose.  We do not assume responsibility to any other person 
for the content of this report.

Ernst & Young   			   Teoh Soo Hock
AF: 0039			   No. 02477/10/2019 J
Chartered Accountants			   Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
27 March 2018 
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			   Group		  Company
		  Note	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
	
Revenue	
Tin mining and smelting 
 revenue			   1,436,177	 1,477,941	 1,436,172	 1,477,937

Other items of income
Dividend income		  5	 –	 –	 54,459	 9
Interest income		  6	 1,659	 3,493	 2,415	 3,593
Other income		  7	 7,384	 7,424	 7,292	 8,985
	
Expenses
Costs of tin mining and 
 smelting			   (1,318,726)	 (1,314,206)	 (1,396,040)	 (1,372,509)
Employee benefits expense		  8	 (56,880)	 (54,115)	 (37,248)	 (36,601)
Depreciation expense		  4	 (13,042)	 (9,184)	 (4,270)	 (3,927)
Amortisation expenses		  4	 (1,957)	 (1,975)	 (3)	 (3)
Reversal of impairment 
 losses/(Impairment losses)	 11	 129	 (37,536)	 (14,539)	 (28,479)
Finance costs		  9	 (14,718)	 (12,650)	 (13,697)	 (13,035)
Other expenses		  10	 (10,682)	 (9,596)	 (5,141)	 (4,937)

Total expenses			   (1,415,876)	 (1,439,262)	 (1,470,938)	 (1,459,491)

Share of results of 
 associates and joint ventures		  (1,109)	 (89)	 –	 –

Profit before tax 		  4	 28,235	 49,507	 29,400	 31,033
Income tax (expense)/credit		 12	 (12,131)	 (15,175)	 910	 (5,168)

Profit net of tax			   16,104	 34,332	 30,310	 25,865

Attributable to:
 Owners of the Company			   16,105	      34,334	 30,310	 25,865
    Non-controlling interests			   (1)	 (2)	 –	 –
		
			   16,104	 34,332	 30,310	 25,865

			   Group
			   2017	 2016
Earnings per share attributable to 
 owners of the Company (sen 
 per share):

- Basic and diluted		  13	 16.1	 34.3 
			 

Statements of profit or loss 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of comprehensive income 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

			   Group		  Company
			   2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Profit net of tax		  16,104	 34,332	 30,310	 25,865

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to 
 profit or loss:
Revaluation surplus on property, plant 
 and equipment, net		  5,305	 2,881	 308	 235
Net fair value changes in quoted investments 
 at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive 
 Income (“FVOCI”)		  (1,685)	 7,974	 (1,685)	 7,974
Share of an associate’s revaluation surplus 
 on property, plant and equipment		  155	 –	 –	 –
	
		  3,775	 10,855	 (1,377)	 8,209

Items that may be subsequently 
 reclassified to profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation		  1	 (1)	 –	 –
Net fair value changes on cash flow hedges	 1,720	 5,394	 1,720	 5,394
Realisation of foreign currency translation 
 reserves to profit or loss on partial disposal 
 of a joint venture		  –	 1,935	 –	 –
Share of foreign currency translation of an 
 associate and a joint venture		  (1,934)	 (10,041)	 –	 –
	
		  (213)	 (2,713)	 1,720	 5,394

Other comprehensive income for the 
 year, net of tax		  3,562	 8,142	 343	 13,603
	
Total comprehensive income for the year	 19,666	 42,474	 30,653	 39,468

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company		  19,667	 42,476	 30,653	 39,468
Non-controlling interests		  (1)	 (2)	 –	 –

Total comprehensive income for the year	 19,666	 42,474	 30,653	 39,468

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of financial position
as at 31 December 2017

			   Group		  Company
		  Note	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
	
Assets						    
	
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment	 15	 156,309	 154,615	 31,751	 32,532
Prepaid land lease payments	 16	 740	 773	 –	 –
Base inventory			   3,000	 3,000	 3,000	 3,000
Intangible assets 		  17	 5,942	 6,995	 204	 207
Investment in subsidiaries		  18	 –	 –	 148,681	 148,681
Investments in associates 
 and joint ventures		  19	 34,568	 37,336	 18,666	 18,666
Investment securities		  20	 21,205	 23,423	 21,205	 23,423
Other non-current assets		  21	 14,445	 15,025	 –	 –
Other receivables		  24	 –	 –	 –	 –
Deferred tax assets		  32	 7,227	 3,986	 140	 –

			   243,436	 245,153	 223,647	 226,509

Current assets
Inventories		  22	 469,677	 374,249	 469,731	 376,855
Trade receivables		  23	 11,436	 30,733	 11,435	 30,729
Other receivables		  24	 9,345	 12,969	 23,859	 32,596
Trade prepayments		  25	 49,694	 36,267	 49,694	 36,267
Other prepayments			   2,465	 3,352	 2,342	 3,347
Tax recoverable			   19,312	 11,480	 18,509	 11,480
Derivative financial instruments	 33	 375	 –	 375	 –
Cash, bank balances and deposits	 26	 68,678	 80,391	 58,795	 70,871

			   630,982	 549,441	 634,740	 562,145

Total assets			   874,418	 794,594	 858,387	 788,654
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Statements of Financial Position (cont’d)
as at 31 December 2017

			   Group		  Company
		  Note	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Equity and liabilities						    
	
Current liabilities	
Provisions	 27	 12,315	 12,035	 9,635	 9,635
Borrowings	 28	 452,781	 289,187	 403,617	 289,187
Trade and other payables	 29	 86,517	 126,159	 141,519	 205,738
Current tax payable		  51	 5,338	 –	 –
Derivative financial instruments	 33	 2,458	 2,676	 –	 2,676
		
		  554,122	 435,395	 554,771	 507,236

Net current assets		  76,860	 114,046	 79,969	 54,909
		

Non-current liabilities	
Provisions	 27	 27,904	 26,728	 –	 –
Deferred tax liabilities	 32	 1,343	 1,959	 –	 455
Borrowings 	 28	 –	 50,282	 –	 –
Derivative financial instruments	 33    	 –	 847	 –	 –
		
		  29,247	 79,816	 –	 455

Total liabilities		  583,369	 515,211	 554,771	 507,691

Net assets		  291,049	 279,383	 303,616	 280,963

Equity attributable to owners of 
 the Company		
Share capital	 30	 174,666	 100,000	 174,666	 100,000
Share premium	 30	 –	 76,372	 –	 74,666
Other reserves	 31	 43,651	 38,383	 11,962	 11,619
Retained earnings		  72,439	 64,334	 116,988	 94,678

		  290,756	 279,089	 303,616	 280,963
Non-controlling interests		  293	 294	 –	 –

Total equity		  291,049	 279,383	 303,616	 280,963

Total equity and liabilities		  874,418	 794,594	 858,387	 788,654

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity (cont’d)  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 
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Statements of cash flows
for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

			   Group		  Company
		  Note	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Operating activities
Profit before tax 			   28,235	 49,507	 29,400	 31,033
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of intangible 
 assets			   918	 935	 3	 3
Amortisation of mine properties 	 4	 1,006	 1,007	 –	 –
Amortisation of prepaid land
 lease payments		  4	 33	 33	 –	 –
Depreciation		  4	 13,042	 9,184	 4,270	 3,927
Dividend income received 
 from a subsidiary		  5	 –	 –	 (54,450)	 –
Dividend income received 
 from an associate		  5	 –	 –	 (9)	 (9)
Fair value changes in ineffective 
 portion of derivatives designated 
 as hedging instruments in cash 
 flow hedge		  7	 –	 (289)	 –	 (289)
Fair value changes in forward 
 currency contracts		  7	 823	 847	 (788)	 –
Fair value changes in interest 
 rate swap		  7	 –	 (2)	 –	 (2)
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of 
 property, plant and equipment	 7	 (157)	 (59)	 126	 (57)
Gain on partial disposal of a 
 joint venture		  7	 –	 (11,541)	 –	 (13,476)
Impairment of receivables		  11	 –	 5,568	 14,539	 5,568
Impairment of advances to 
 a supplier		  11	 –	 31,202	 –	 31,202
(Reversal of impairment)/
 Impairment of investment in 
 associates and joint ventures	 11	 (129)	 766	 –	 (8,291)
Interest expense		  9	 13,674	 11,914	 13,675	 13,019
Interest income		  6	 (1,659)	 (3,493)	 (2,415)	 (3,593)
Loss on disposal of intangible 
 assets		  7	 14	 –	 –	 –
Property, plant and equipment 
 written off		  10	 1	 1	 –	 –
Reversal of revaluation deficit 
 on property		  7	 (51)	 (61)	 –	 –
Share of results of associates 
 and joint ventures			   1,109	 89	 –	 –
Unrealised (gain)/loss on exchange		  (1,564)	 6,817	 (446)	 6,529
Unwinding of discount on provision	 9	 1,022	 720	 –	 –
Reversal of inventories written 
 down to net realisable value	 4	 –	 (17,400)	 –	 (17,400)
Write off of other prepayments	 10	 –	 635	 –	 –

Operating cash flows before 
 changes in working capital		  56,317	 86,380	 3,905	 48,164



Overview OthersCorporate Governance 
And Financial ReportBusiness Review

087

Statements of Cash Flows (cont’d)
for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

			   Group		  Company
		  Note	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
	
Operating activities (cont’d)	
Increase in inventories		  (95,428)	 (87,734)	 (92,876)	 (104,646)
Decrease in receivables		  26,739	 4,362	 27,205	 6,893
Increase in amounts due from 
 subsidiaries		  –	 –	 (8,968)	 (6,133)
(Increase)/Decrease in amounts 
 due from associates 		  (3,501)	 3,277	 (3,501)	 3,277
(Increase)/Decrease in trade 
 prepayments		  (13,427)	 39,135	 (13,427)	 39,135
Decrease/(Increase) in other 
 prepayments		  1,857	 (1,753)	 1,976	 (1,515)
(Decrease)/Increase in payables		  (39,146)	 37,028	 (54,460)	 32,756
(Decrease)/Increase in amount 
 due to holding company		  (539)	 611	 64	 (9)
(Decrease)/Increase in amount 
 due to subsidiaries		  –	 –	 (11,872)	 76,284

Cash (used in)/generated from 
 operations		  (67,128)	 81,306	 (151,954)	 94,206
Income tax paid		  (29,101)	 (15,940)	 (6,822)	 (8,843)
Interest paid		  (14,438)	 (10,825)	 (12,437)	 (10,825)

Net cash (used in)/generated 
 from operating activities		  (110,667)	 54,541	 (171,213)	 74,538
	
Investing activities	
Interest received		  1,503	 3,102	 1,331	 2,610
Net dividend received from 
 an associate 	 5	 9	 9	 9	 9
Net dividend received from
 a subsidiary	 5	 –	 –	 54,450	 –
Payment for intangible assets	 17	 (65)	 –	 –	 –
Payment for deferred mine 
 exploration and evaluation 
 expenditures and mine 
 properties	 21	 (426)	 (3,657)	 –	 –
Withdrawal of deposits of 
 more than three months 
 maturity with licensed 
 banks		  –	 3,234	 –	 –
Proceeds from disposal of 
 intangible assets		  135	 –	 –	 –
Proceeds from disposal of 
 property, plant and equipment		  1,084	 84	 184	 82
Purchase of property, plant and
 equipment	  	 (9,900)	 (53,751)	 (3,451)	 (2,342)

Net cash (used in)/generated 
 from investing activities		  (7,660)	 (50,979)	 52,523	 359
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for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

			   Group		  Company
		  Note	 2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
	
Financing activities	
Dividend paid	 14	 (8,000)	 –	 (8,000)	 –
Drawdown/(Repayment) of 
 short term trade financing 
 and other borrowings		  114,430	 (97,361)	 114,430	 (97,361)
Drawdown of term loan		  –	 49,993	 –	 –
Repayment of term loan		  –	 (6,011)	 –	 (6,011)

Net cash generated from/
 (used in) financing activities		  106,430	 (53,379)	 106,430	 (103,372)

					   
Net decrease in cash and cash 
 equivalents		  (11,897)	 (49,817)	 (12,260)	 (28,475)
Effect of changes in foreign 
 exchange rates		  (33)	 (501)	 (33)	 (501)
Cash and cash equivalents as at 
 1 January		  76,873	 127,191	 67,353	 96,329

Cash and cash equivalents as at 
 31 December	 26	 64,943	 76,873	 55,060	 67,353

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

	 	Carrying amount		  Non-cash changes	 Carrying amount
		  as at		  Foreign exchange	 as at
		  1 January 2017	 Cash flows	 movement	 31 December 2017
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
				  
Short term borrowings		  289,187	 114,430	 –	 403,617
Term loan		  50,282	 –	 (1,118)	 49,164

Total liabilities from 
 financing activities		  339,469	 114,430	 (1,118)	 452,781

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory information form an integral part of the financial statements.



Overview OthersCorporate Governance 
And Financial ReportBusiness Review

089

Notes to the financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2017

1.	 Corporate information

	 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on the 
Main Market of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The Company is secondarily listed on the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). The Registered Office of the Company is located at Lot 6, 8 
and 9, Jalan Perigi Nanas 6/1, Pulau Indah Industrial Park, West Port, Port Klang, 42920 Pulau Indah, Selangor, 
Malaysia. The principal place of business of the Company is located at 27, Jalan Pantai, 12000 Butterworth, 
Penang, Malaysia.

	 The immediate holding company of the Company is The Straits Trading Company Limited, a public limited 
liability company incorporated in Singapore and listed on the SGX-ST which publishes financial statements 
available for public use. The penultimate holding and ultimate holding companies of the Company are The 
Cairns Pte. Ltd. and Tan Chin Tuan Pte. Ltd. respectively, both of which are private limited liability companies 
incorporated in Singapore.

	 The principal activities of the Company are investment holding, the smelting of tin concentrates and tin bearing 
materials, the production of various grades of refined tin metal under the MSC brand name and the sales and 
delivery of refined tin metal and by-products. The principal activities of the subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures are set out in Notes 18 and 19 respectively. 

	 There have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies
					   

2.1	 Basis of preparation

	 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

	 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the 
accounting policies below.

	 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand (“RM’000”) except when otherwise indicated.

2.2	 Changes in accounting policies

	 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follow:

	 On 1 January 2017, the Group and the Company have adopted the following amendments to MFRS 
mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

					     Effective for annual 
					     periods beginning 
Description				    on or after

MFRS 107 Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to MFRS 107)			   1 January 2017
MFRS 112 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised 			   1 January 2017
 Losses (Amendments to MFRS 112)				  
Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2014–2016 Cycle - 			   1 January 2017
 Amendments to MFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
 Entities: Clarification of the scope of disclosure requirements in MFRS 12	
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Financial Statements (cont’d)

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (CONT’D)	

2.2	 Changes in accounting policies (cont’d)

	 Adoption of the above standards did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the 
Group and of the Company, except as disclosed below:

MFRS 107 Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to MFRS 107)

	 The amendments to MFRS 107 Statement of Cash Flows requires an entity to provide disclosures that 
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, 
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. On initial application of this 
amendment, entities are not required to provide comparative information for preceding periods. Apart 
from the additional disclosures in statement of cash flows, the application of these amendments has 
had no impact on the Group and on the Company.

2.3	 Standards issued but not yet effective

	 The Group and the Company have not adopted the following standards that have been issued but not 
yet effective: 

					     Effective for annual 
					     periods beginning 
Description				    on or after

MFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment 		  1 January 2018
 Transactions (Amendments to MFRS 2)				  
MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers			   1 January 2018
Clarifications to MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers		  1 January 2018
MFRS 140 Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to MFRS 140)		  1 January 2018
Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2014 – 2016 Cycle			   1 January 2018
IC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration		  1 January 2018
MFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 			   1 January 2019
 (Amendments to MFRS 9)				  
MFRS 16 Leases 					     1 January 2019
MFRS 128 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 		  1 January 2019
 (Amendments to MFRS 128)				  
Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle			   1 January 2019
MFRS 119 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 			   1 January 2019
 (Amendments to MFRS 119)				  
IC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments			   1 January 2019
MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts				    1 January 2021
Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128: Sale or Contribution of 		  Deferred
 Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture		
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Notes to the 
Financial Statements (cont’d)

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.3	 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

	 The directors expect that the adoption of the above standards will have no material impact on the financial 
statements in the period of initial application, except as disclosed below:

	 MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

	 MFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with 
customers. MFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including MFRS 118 
Revenue, MFRS 111 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes effective. 

	 The core principle of MFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue which depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 

	 Under MFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. 
when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred 
to the customer. 

	 Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018 with early adoption permitted. 

	 The Group and the Company intend to adopt the new standard on the required effective date using the 
full retrospective method, requiring the restatement of comparative period presented in the financial 
statements, if any.

	 The Group and the Company have established a project team to evaluate the potential impact of adopting 
this standard. The implementation efforts included identifying main revenue streams, selecting individual 
contracts to analyse the accounting differences and potential statement impact based on the new five-
step model, assessing transition method to be used in adoption, and developing updated disclosures. 

	 Based on the completed contracts reviews to date, the Group’s and the Company’s assessment of the 
impact of MFRS 15 is set out below:

•	 Revenue relating to sales of goods will be recognised when control of the goods has transferred, 
being the point when the goods are delivered to the customer. As the transfer of risks and rewards 
generally coincides with the transfer of control at a point in time, the timing and amount of revenue 
recognised for the sale of goods under MFRS 15 is unlikely to be materially different from its current 
practice.

•	 Revenue relating to other service charge and warehouse rent will be recognised in the accounting 
period in which the services are rendered. The Group and the Company do not expect the revenue 
recognition for services under MFRS 15 to be materially different from its current practice.

•	 The adoption of MFRS 15 will result in changes in accounting policies for revenue recognition and 
disclosures made in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements.  

	 The project team is developing additional quantitative and qualitative disclosures that will be required 
upon the adoption of the new revenue recognition standard.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
 

2.3	 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

IC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

	 The interpretation clarifies that, in determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of an asset, 
expense or income, when consideration for that item has been paid or received in advance in a foreign 
currency which resulted in the recognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability, the date of 
transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary 
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then 
the entity must determine the transaction date for each payment or receipt of advance consideration.

	 Entities may apply the amendments either retrospectively or prospectively. Specific transition provisions 
apply to prospective application. Early application is permitted and must be disclosed. The application 
of these amendments will not have an impact on the Group and on the Company as the Group and 
the Company are already accounting for transactions involving the payment or receipt of advance 
consideration in foreign currency in a way that is consistent with the amendments.

	 MFRS 16 Leases

	 MFRS 16 will replace MFRS 117 Leases, IC Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, IC Interpretation 115 Operating Lease-Incentives and IC Interpretation 127 Evaluating 
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. MFRS 16 sets out the principles for 
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account 
for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under 
MFRS 117. 

	 At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments and 
an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term. The right-of-use asset 
is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions), less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. 
The lease liability is initially measured at present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that 
date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact 
of lease modifications.

	 Classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments under MFRS 117 are 
presented as operating cash flows, whereas under MFRS 16, the lease payments will be split into a 
principal (which will be presented as financing cash flows) and an interest portion (which will be presented 
as operating cash flows). 

	 Lessor accounting under MFRS 16 is substantially the same as the accounting under MFRS 117. Lessors 
will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in MFRS 117 and distinguish 
between two types of leases: operating and finance leases. MFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors 
to make more extensive disclosures than under MFRS 117. MFRS 16 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. 

	 Early application is permitted but not before an entity applies MFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply 
the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group and the 
Company are currently assessing the impact of MFRS 16.

2.4	 Basis of consolidation 

	 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries at the reporting date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company. 
Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 
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Notes to the 
Financial Statements (cont’d)

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4	 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

	 The Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has all the following:

(i)	 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee);

(ii)	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
(iii)	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

	 When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, the Company considers 
the following in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to 
give it power over the investee:

(i)	 The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings 
of the other vote holders; 

(ii)	 Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
(iii)	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
(iv)	 Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the 

current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including 
voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings. 

	 Subsidiaries are consolidated when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised 
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

	 Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit 
balance. 

	 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s 
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests 
in the subsidiaries. The resulting difference is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of 
the Company. 

	 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss calculated as the difference between (i) the 
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and 
(ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 
interest, is recognised in profit or loss. The subsidiary’s cumulative gain or loss which has been recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss or where 
applicable, transferred directly to retained earnings. The fair value of any investment retained in the former 
subsidiary at the date control is lost is regarded as the cost on initial recognition of the investment. 

Business combinations

	 Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value 
and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. The Group elects on a transaction-by-
transaction basis whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Transaction costs incurred are 
expensed and included in administrative expenses. 

	 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed 
to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in profit or loss. If the contingent consideration is classified 
as equity, it will not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.4	 Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

Business combinations (cont’d)

	 When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

	 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or 
loss. 

	 Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred 
and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests over the net identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 
acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

2.5	 Subsidiaries

	 A subsidiary is an entity over which the Company has all the following:

(i)	 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee);

(ii)	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
(iii)	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

	 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. On disposal of such investments, the difference between 
net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts is included in profit or loss. 

	 The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2.12.

2.6	 Investments in associates and joint ventures 

	 An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power 
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint 
control over those policies. 

	 A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing 
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

	 On acquisition of an investment in associate or joint venture, any excess of the cost of investment over the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as 
goodwill and included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee over the cost of investment is excluded 
from the carrying amount of the investment and is instead included as income in the determination of 
the Group’s share of the associate’s or joint venture’s profit or loss for the period in which the investment 
is acquired. 
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.6	 Investments in associates and joint ventures (cont’d)

	 An associate or a joint venture is equity accounted for from the date on which the investee becomes an 
associate or a joint venture. 

	 Under the equity method, on initial recognition the investment in an associate or a joint venture is 
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share 
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture after the date 
of acquisition.  When the Group’s share of losses in an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds 
its interest in the associate or joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture. 

	 Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and 
its associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of 
unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or joint venture. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 

	 The financial statements of the associates and joint ventures are prepared as of the same reporting 
date as the Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line 
with those of the Group. 

	 After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an 
additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in associate or joint ventures. The Group determines 
at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the 
associate or joint venture is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment 
as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value 
and recognises the amount in profit or loss.

	 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in associates and joint ventures are accounted 
for at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. On disposal of such investments, the difference 
between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts is included in profit or loss.

	 The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2.12.

2.7	 Intangible assets

	 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The costs of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination are their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following 
initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

	 Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and 
expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

	 The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

	 Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.7	 Intangible assets (cont’d)	

	 The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are 
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing 
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. 
The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss.

	 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, 
either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed 
annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful 
life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

	 Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when 
the asset is derecognised.

	 The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2.12.

(i)	 Mining rights

	 Mining rights acquired are stated at their fair values as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, mining rights are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

	 Mining rights are amortised based on the unit-of-production method so as to write off the mining 
rights in proportion to the depletion of the estimated economically recoverable ore reserves and 
resources. Changes in the estimated economically recoverable ore reserves and resources are 
accounted for on a prospective basis from the beginning of the year in which the changes arises.   

 
(ii)	 Club memberships

	
	 Club memberships acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 

recognition, club memberships are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Club memberships are amortised on a straight-line basis over the finite 
useful life.

2.8	 Mine exploration, evaluation expenditures and mine properties

a) 	 Deferred mine exploration and evaluation expenditures

	 Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for mineral resources, the determination 
of technical feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource.

	 Exploration and evaluation activity includes:

•	 Researching and analysing historical exploration data
•	 Gathering exploration data through geophysical studies
•	 Exploratory drilling and sampling
•	 Determining and examining the volume and grade of the resource
•	 Surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements
•	 Conducting market and finance studies
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.8	 Mine exploration, evaluation expenditures and mine properties (cont’d)	

a) 	 Deferred mine exploration and evaluation expenditures (cont’d)	

	 Licence costs paid in connection with a right to explore in an existing exploration area are capitalised 
and amortised based on the unit-of-production method.

	 Mine exploration and evaluation expenditures incurred for a new area of interest are accumulated 
in respect of each identifiable area of interest. These costs are only carried forward to the extent 
that they are expected to be recouped through the successful development of the area or where 
activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the 
existence of economically recoverable ore reserves and resources. These costs also include 
directly attributable employee remuneration, materials used and overhead costs. 

	 Once an economically mineable resource for an area of interest is established and development 
is sanctioned, such exploration and evaluation expenditure is transferred to mine properties. No 
amortisation is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.

	 The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 
2.12.

b)	 Mine properties 

	 Mine properties are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. 

	 All expenditures incurred in connection with development activities in respect of each mine 
property, which includes all activities conducted in the preparation of economically recoverable 
ore reserves and resources until commercial production are accumulated in respect of each mine 
property. Exploration and evaluation expenditure is also transferred to mine properties once the 
work completed to date for the area supports the future development of the property and such 
development received appropriate approvals. These costs are only deferred to the extent that they 
are expected to be recouped through the successful development of the area. 

	 Waste removal (stripping) costs incurred during the production phase of a surface mine (production 
stripping costs) are only capitalised to mine property expenditure when all the following criteria 
are met:

a.	 It is probable that the future economic benefits (improved access to an ore body) associated 
with the stripping activity will flow to the entity;

b.	 The entity can identify the component of an ore body for which access has been improved; 
and

c.	 The costs relating to the improved access to that component can be measured reliably.

	 Expenditure for a mine property which is considered to provide minimal benefit to future periods 
is recognised as an expense in profit or loss.

	
	 When production for a mine property commences, the accumulated cost for the mine property is 

amortised based on the unit-of-production method so as to write off the expenditure in proportion 
to the depletion of the estimated economically recoverable ore reserves and resources. Changes 
in the estimated economically recoverable ore reserves and resources are accounted for on a 
prospective basis.
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2.8	 Mine exploration, evaluation expenditures and mine properties (cont’d)

b)	 Mine properties (cont’d)

	 A review is carried out annually on the carrying amount of a mine property to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense in profit or 
loss. 

	 The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 
2.12.

2.9	 Mine restoration expenditure

	 Restoration expenditure incurred during the production phase of operations is recognised in profit or 
loss as part of the cost of production of the mine property concerned. 

	 Significant mine restoration expenditure to be incurred subsequent to the cessation of production of 
each mine property is provided based on the present value of the estimated expenditure to be incurred.

2.10	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

	 Property, plant and equipment, other than land and buildings are stated at cost, net of accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part 
of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the 
recognition criteria are met. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be 
replaced at intervals, the Group and the Company recognise such parts as individual assets with specific 
useful lives and depreciate them accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost 
is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition 
criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in 
the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met. 

	 Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment 
losses recognised after the date of the revaluation. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity 
to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount.

	 Any revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive income and hence, credited to the revaluation 
reserve in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss, in which case, the increase is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit 
is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset 
recognised in the revaluation reserve.

	 The accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount 
of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any 
revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.

	 In the tin mining subsidiaries, plant and equipment used in mining are depreciated using the unit-of-
production method based on economically recoverable ore reserves and resources over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets. Changes in the estimated economically recoverable ore reserves and resources 
and the useful lives of plant and equipment are accounted for on a prospective basis. 
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2.10	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (cont’d)

     	 Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Capital work-in-progress are 
also not depreciated as these assets are not available for use. Depreciation of other property, plant and 
equipment of the Group and of the Company is provided for on the straight-line method to write off the 
cost of each asset to its residual value over the shorter of their estimated economic useful lives or life 
of the mine where appropriate. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold land		  80 years
Buildings		  8 to 40 years 
Plant, equipment and vehicles	 3 to 40 years
Furniture		  4 to 10 years
Mine restoration		  15 years, or remaining life of mine, 
				   whichever is shorter 

	 An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or 
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

	 The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year 
end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

	 The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2.12.

2.11	 Prepaid land lease payments
	
	 Prepaid land lease payments are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, prepaid land 

lease payments are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. 

	
	 The prepaid land lease payments are amortised over their lease terms.

	 The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2.12.

2.12	 Impairment of non-financial assets

	 The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset 
may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Group and the Company estimate the asset’s recoverable amount. 

	 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (“CGU”) fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. 
When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

	 Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss, except for a property previously 
revalued and the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impairment is 
also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.
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2.12	 Impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

	 A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is 
the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment 
loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured 
at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

	 The following assets have specific characteristics for impairment testing:

	 Goodwill
	
	 Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at 31 December and when circumstances indicate that 

the carrying value may be impaired.

	 Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of 
CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed 
in future periods.

	 Intangible assets

	 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually as at 31 December either 
individually or at the CGU level, as appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may be impaired.

2.13	 Financial assets 

	 Initial recognition and measurement 

	 Financial assets are recognised when, only when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions 
of the instruments.

	 At initial recognition, the Group and the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in 
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair 
value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

	 Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group and the Company 
expect to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding 
amounts collected on behalf of third party if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing 
component at initial recognition.
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2.13	 Financial assets (cont’d)

	 Subsequent measurement 

	 Debt instruments

	 Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s and the Company’s business 
model for managing the asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The three 
measurement categories for classification of debt instruments are:

-	 Amortised cost

	 Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial 
assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, 
and through amortisation process. 

-	 Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)

	 Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial 
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are 
measured at FVOCI. Financial assets measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair 
value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in 
other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. 

-	 Fair value through profit or loss

	 Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at fair 
value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss 
statement in the period in which it arises. Interest income from these financial assets is included 
in finance income.

	 Equity instruments 

	 The Group and the Company subsequently measure all equity instruments at fair value. On initial 
recognition of an equity instrument that is not held for trading, the Group and the Company may irrevocably 
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”). Dividends 
from such investments are to be recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s and the Company’s right 
to receive payments are established.

	
	 Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or 

loss.

Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI are recognised in OCI. 

	 Derecognition 

	 A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has 
expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in 
other comprehensive income for debt instruments is recognised in profit or loss.  
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2.14	 Impairment of financial assets

	 The Group and the Company assess at each financial year end whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk for financial assets by comparing the risk of default occuring over the expected 
life with the risk of default since initial recognition. In determining whether credit risk on a financial 
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group and the Company use external 
credit rating and other supportive information to assess deterioration in credit quality of a financial 
asset where practical. The Group and the Company assess whether the credit risk on a financial asset 
has increased significantly on an individual or collective basis. For collective basis evaluation, financial 
assets are grouped on the basis of similar risk characteristics.

	 The Group and the Company consider past loss experience and observable data such as current changes 
and future forecasts in economic conditions to estimate the amount of expected impairment loss. The 
methodology and assumptions including any forecasts of future economic conditions are reviewed 
regularly.

	 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the 
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. When a financial asset becomes uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account.

	 The Group and the Company measure the impairment loss based on the two-step approach to measure 
the Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) on financial assets:

-	 12-months ECL
	
	 For a financial asset for which there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 

the Group and the Company shall measure the allowance for impairment for that financial asset 
at an amount based on the probability of default occuring within the next 12 months considering 
the loss given default of that financial asset.

-	 Lifetime ECL

	 For a financial asset for which there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
a lifetime ECL for that financial asset is recognised as allowance for impairment by the Group and 
the Company. If, in a subsequent period the significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 
is no longer evident, the Group and the Company shall revert the loss allowance measurement 
from lifetime ECL to 12-months ECL.

	 If in a subsequent period, the credit quality improves and reverses any previously assessed significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, then the impairment loss reverts from lifetime ECL to 
12-months ECL.

2.15	 Inventories

	 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

	 Cost of trading inventory of refined tin metal is determined on a first-in first-out basis. 

	 Cost of inventories of tin-in-concentrates and tin-in-process which have matching sales contract for 
refined tin metal from tin smelting operations, are stated at the value of such contract less cost for 
conversion. This value is consistent with cost, as it is the practice of the tin smelting operations of the 
Company to buy tin-in-concentrates and sell refined tin metal on a back to back price basis. 
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2.15	 Inventories (cont’d)

	 Cost of tin inventories which has no matching sales contract is calculated using the weighted average 
cost method less allowance for conversion.

	 Absorption costing is used in the mining operations to assign costs to tin inventories using the weighted 
average cost method which includes both variable and fixed overhead cost components. 

	 Cost of other inventories comprising stores, spares, fuels, coal and saleable by-products is determined 
using the weighted average cost method. 

	 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.16	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and short-term deposits in the statements of financial position comprise cash at banks and on 
hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

	 For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-
term deposits as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

2.17	 Lease

	 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at inception date, whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of 
a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not 
explicitly specified in an arrangement.

	 As a lessee

	 Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

	 As a lessor

	 Leases in which the Group and the Company do not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of 
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease 
term on the same basis as rental income.

	 Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

2.18	 Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. When the Group and the Company expect some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for 
example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only 
when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit 
or loss net of any reimbursement.
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2.19	 Financial liabilities 

	 Initial recognition and measurement

	 Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as 
appropriate. The Group and the Company determine the classification of their financial liabilities at initial 
recognition.

	 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, plus 
directly attributable transaction costs.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings 
including bank overdraft, and derivative financial instruments.

	 Subsequent measurement

	 The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as described below:

	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

	 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

	 Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the 
near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group and the 
Company that do not meet the hedge accounting criteria. Separated embedded derivatives are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

	 Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

	 The Group and the Company have designated interest rate swap as a financial liability at fair value 
through profit or loss.

	 Loans and borrowings

	 After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

	 Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is 
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

	 Financial guarantee contracts

	 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in 
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

	 Financial guarantees are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial 
guarantees are measured at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance 
with the impairment model under MFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, 
the cumulative amount of income recognised.
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2.19	 Financial liabilities (cont’d)

	 Derecognition

	 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

2.20	 Offsetting of financial instruments

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of 
financial position if, and only if:

-	 There is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts; and
-	 There is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the  liabilities 

simultaneously

2.21  Fair value measurement

	 The Group and the Company measure financial instruments such as derivatives, and non-financial 
assets such as properties, at fair value at each reporting date. Also, fair values of financial instruments 
measured at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 37 (b). 

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:  

	
-	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
-	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

	 The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group and the Company. 

	 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic 
best interest.

	 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.  

	 The Group and the Company use valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and 
for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
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2.21  Fair value measurement (cont’d)	

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

-	 Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities  
-	 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
-	 Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable 

	 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
and the Company determine whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

	 The Group and the Company determine the policies and procedures for recurring fair value measurement 
for properties and derivatives instruments such as forward currency contracts.

	 External valuers may be involved for valuation of significant assets, such as properties. Involvement of 
external valuers is decided upon annually by the Company. Selection criteria include market knowledge, 
reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained. 

	 At each reporting date, the Group and the Company analyse the movements in the values of assets and 
liabilities which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s and the Company’s 
accounting policies. For this analysis, the Group and the Company verify the major inputs applied in the 
latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant 
documents.  

	 The Group and the Company also compare the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with 
relevant external sources, where practical to determine whether the change is reasonable.

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group and the Company have determined classes of assets 
and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level 
of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

2.22	 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

	 Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

	 The Group and the Company use derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts, 
interest rate swaps and forward commodity contracts, to manage their foreign currency risks, interest 
rate risks and commodity price risks respectively. Such derivative financial instruments are initially 
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and 
as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

	 Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or 
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive 
income.
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2.22	 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (cont’d)

	 Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (cont’d)
	
	 For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

-	 Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset 
or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment

-	 Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable 
to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast 
transaction or the foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment

-	 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

	 At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group and the Company formally designate and document 
the hedge relationship to which the Group and the Company wish to apply hedge accounting and the risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification 
of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how 
the entity will assess the effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in offsetting 
the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. 
Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash 
flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective 
throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated.

	 Hedge accounting will be discontinued in a situation where a derivative, which has been designated as 
a hedging instrument, is novated to effect clearing within a central counterparty as a result of laws or 
regulation, if specific conditions are met (in this context, a novation indicates that parties to a contract 
agree or replace their original counterparty with a new one). Any change to the fair value of the derivative 
designated as a hedging instrument arising from the novation should be included in the assessment 
and measure of hedge effectiveness with retrospective application.

	 Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as described below:

	 Fair value hedges

	 The change in the fair value of a hedging derivative is recognised in profit or loss. The change in the fair 
value of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying value of the 
hedged item and is also recognised in profit or loss.

	 For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, any adjustment to carrying value is 
amortised through profit or loss over the remaining term of the hedge using the effective interest rate 
method. Effective interest rate amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and no later 
than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk 
being hedged.

	 If the hedge item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	 When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative 
change in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an asset 
or liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.
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2.22	 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (cont’d) 

Cash flow hedges

	 The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income in the hedging reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

	 Amounts recognised as other comprehensive income are transferred to profit or loss when the hedged 
transaction affects profit or loss, such as when the hedged interest income or interest expense is 
recognised or when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. When the hedged item is the cost of a non-
financial asset or non-financial liability, the amounts recognised as other comprehensive income are 
transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.

	 If the forecast transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in equity is transferred to profit or loss. If the hedging instrument expires 
or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is 
revoked, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income remains in 
other comprehensive income until the forecast transaction or firm commitment affects profit or loss.

Derivatives that are not designated or do not qualify for hedge accounting

	 Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives during the year that do not qualify 
for hedge accounting are directly recognised in profit or loss.

	 Current versus non-current classification

	 Derivative instruments are classified as current or non-current or separated into a current and non-current 
portion based on an assessment of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash 
flows):

-	 When the Group and the Company hold a derivative instrument as an economic hedge (and do not 
apply hedge accounting) for a period beyond 12 months after the reporting date, the derivative 
instrument is classified as non-current (or separated into current and non-current portions) 
consistent with the classification of the underlying item.

-	 Embedded derivative that is not closely related to the host contract is classified consistent with 
the cash flows of the host contract.

-	 Derivative instrument that is designated as, and are effective hedging instrument, is classified 
consistently with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative instrument is 
separated into a current portion and a non-current portion only if a reliable allocation can be made.

2.23	 Foreign currencies

	 The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is also the 
functional currency of the Company. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and 
items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 

i)	 Transactions and balances

	 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group entities at their respective 
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.23	 Foreign currencies (cont’d)

i)	 Transactions and balances (cont’d)

	 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional 
currency spot rate of exchange at the reporting date.

	 All differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are taken to the profit or loss 
with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net 
investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive income until the 
net investment is disposed, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. 
Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also 
recorded in other comprehensive income.

	 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at 
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items is treated in line 
with the recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences 
on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or 
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

ii) 	 Group companies

	 On consolidation the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RM at the 
rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their income and expenses are translated 
at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising 
on translation for consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a 
foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign 
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

	 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated 
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and are recorded in the functional currency of the 
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate at the reporting date.

2.24	 Base inventory

	 Base inventory is the base recirculating inventory in the smelting process. 

2.25	 Revenue and other income recognition

	 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is 
being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking 
into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty. The Group and the 
Company assess their revenue arrangements against specific criteria to determine if they are acting as 
principals or agents. The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue 
is recognised.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.25	 Revenue and other income recognition (cont’d)

(a) 	 Sale of goods
	
	 Revenue is recognised net of goods and services tax upon transfer of significant risks and rewards 

of ownership to the buyer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there are significant 
uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return 
of goods.

(b)	 Interest income

	 Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using effective interest method.

(c)	 Dividend income

	 Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s and the Company’s right to receive payment is 
established.

(d)	 Other service charges
	
	 Revenue is recognised upon performance of services.

(e)	 Warehouse rent

	 Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis.

2.26	 Borrowing costs

	 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as 
part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing 
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

2.27	 Income tax

(a)	 Current tax

	 Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used 
to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date 
in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

	 Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not 
in profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect 
to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions where appropriate.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.27	 Income tax (cont’d)

(b)	 Deferred tax

	 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting 
date.

	 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

-	 Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

-	 In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

	 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

-	 Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; and

-	 In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or 
loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

	 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the 
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.27	 Income tax (cont’d)

(b)	 Deferred tax (cont’d)

	 Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate 
recognition at that date, would be recognised subsequently if new information about facts and 
circumstances changed. The adjustment would either be treated as a reduction to goodwill (as 
long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the measurement period or in profit 
or loss.

2.28	 Goods and services tax (“GST”)

	 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

-	 where the GST incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable; and

-	 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

	 The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statements of financial position.

2.29	 Employee benefits

(a)	 Short term benefits

	 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year 
in which the associated services are rendered by employees. Short term accumulating compensated 
absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees 
that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating 
compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

(b)	 Defined contribution plans

	 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group and 
the Company pay fixed contributions into separate entities or funds and will have no legal or 
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if any of the funds do not hold sufficient 
assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee services in the current and preceding 
financial years. Such contributions are recognised as expense in the period in which the related 
services is performed. As required by law, companies in Malaysia make such contributions to the 
Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”). 
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2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

2.29	 Employee benefits (cont’d)

(c)	 Termination benefits

	 Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date 
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group 
and the Company recognise termination benefits when they are demonstrably committed to either 
terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed plan without possibility of 
withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the measurement of 
termination benefits is based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits 
falling due more than 12 months after reporting date are discounted to present value.

2.30	 Segment reporting

	 For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on business segments 
which are independently managed by the respective segment chief operating officers responsible for the 
performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment chief operating officers report 
directly to the chief executive officer of the Group who regularly reviews the segment results in order 
to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures 
on each of these segments are shown in Note 38, including the factors used to identify the reportable 
segments and the measurement basis of segment information

2.31	 Share capital and share issuance expenses

	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and 
the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments.

	 Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction 
costs. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in 
the period in which they are declared.

2.32	 Contingencies

	 A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not 
wholly within the control of the Group and the Company.

	 Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the Group 
and the Company. 
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3.	 Significant accounting judgements and estimates

	 The preparation of the financial statements of the Group and the Company requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

3.1	 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

	 There are no critical judgements made by management in the process of applying the Group’s and the 
Company’s accounting policies that has significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.

3.2 	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
	
	 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

(a)	 Depreciation of plant and machinery

	 The cost of plant and machinery for tin smelting and refining is depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the assets’ useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these plant and machinery 
to be within 8 to 40 years. These are common life expectancies applied in such industry. Changes 
in the expected level of usage and timing of relocation to Pulau Indah could impact the economic 
useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charge could be 
revised.

	 In the tin mining subsidiaries, plant and equipment used in mining are depreciated using the unit-
of-production method based on economically recoverable ore reserves and resources over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets. Changes in estimated economically recoverable ore reserves 
and resources and useful lives of plant and equipment are accounted for on a prospective basis 
from the beginning of the year in which the changes arise. Changes in the estimated economically 
recoverable ore reserves and resources and expected level of usage could impact the economic 
useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charge could be 
revised. The carrying amount at the reporting date for property, plant and equipment is disclosed 
in Note 15.

(b)	 Provision for mine restoration costs

    	 Provision for mine restoration costs are provided based on the present value of the estimated future 
expenditure to be incurred subsequent to the cessation of production. Significant management 
judgement and estimation are required in determining the future expenditure, the cessation date 
of production and the discount rate. 
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3.	 Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

3.2 	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(b)	 Provision for mine restoration costs (cont’d)

	 The subsidiary has engaged a South Korean consultant specialising in mine restoration to carry 
out assessment on the mine restoration plan. The mine restoration plan was resubmitted by the 
subsidiary to the relevant authorities during the year ended 31 December 2017. The carrying 
amount of provision for mine restoration costs amounting to RM28.2 million (2016: RM26.7 
million) is as disclosed in Note 27. As the mine restoration plan is still pending approval from the 
relevant authorities, the final amount cannot be determined at this juncture. Where expectations 
from the relevant authorities differ from the plan submitted or actual amount differs from the 
original estimates, the differences may significantly impact the carrying amount of provision for 
mine restoration costs.

(c)	 Inventories
	
	 Significant management judgement and estimation is required in applying: (i) valuation techniques 

to determine the valuation of tin-in-concentrates, tin-in-process and refined tin metal; and (ii) the 
timing of recognition of tin-in-concentrates based on the terms of the contracts.

	 Inventories are written down when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amounts may not be recoverable. Where actual amount differ from the original estimates, the 
differences will impact the carrying amount of inventories. The carrying amount of inventories at 
the reporting date is disclosed in Note 22. 

(d)	 Income taxes, deferred tax liabilities and tax recoverable

	 The Group and the Company are subject to income taxes in Malaysia and other overseas 
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining the capital or mining allowances and 
deductibility of certain expenses and temporary differences during the estimation of the provision 
for income taxes and deferred tax liabilities. There are many transactions and calculations for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The 
Group and the Company recognise liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates 
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax, tax 
recoverable and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
The amount of income tax expense recognised in profit or loss and the carrying amount of deferred 
tax liabilities at the reporting date are disclosed in Notes 12 and 32 respectively.
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4.	 Profit before tax

The following items have been included in arriving at the profit before tax:

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

After charging/(crediting):

Auditors’ remuneration:
- statutory audits		  599	 550	 460	 420
- under/(over) provision in prior years	 –	 7	 –	 (10)
- other services		  70	 14	 70	 14

Amortisation of prepaid land lease 
 payments (Note 16)		  33	 33	 –	 –
Amortisation of mining rights (Note 17)	 886	 886	 –	 –
Amortisation of corporate club 
 memberships (Note 17)		  32	 49	 3	 3
Amortisation of mine properties (Note 21)	 1,006	 1,007	 –	 –

Amortisation expenses		  1,957	 1,975	 3	 3
Depreciation of property, 
 plant and equipment (Note 15)	 13,042	 9,184	 4,270	 3,927
Directors’ fees (Note 35(b))		  538	 731	 538	 655
Hire of equipment and vehicles		  190	 247	 190	 247
Professional indemnity insurance 
 for directors and officers 		  77	 77	 77	 77
Rental of land and buildings		  280	 389	 1,848	 1,964
Reversal of inventories written down 
 to net realisable value		  –	 (17,400)	 –	 (17,400)

5.	 Dividend income

	 	 Company
					      2017 	 2016
					      RM’000 	  RM’000 

Dividend income from:

Investment in subsidiaries
- Unquoted in Malaysia				    54,450	 –

Investments in associates and joint ventures
- Unquoted in Malaysia				    9	 9

					     54,459	 9
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6.	 Interest income

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Interest income from:
- Subsidiaries		  –	 –	 927	 593
- Associates and joint ventures		  168	 169	 168	 169
- Deposits placed with licensed banks	 1,181	 1,779	 1,010	 1,286
- Tin sales		  310	 1,545	 310	 1,545

			   1,659	 3,493	 2,415	 3,593

7.	 Other income

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Other operating income		  6,408	 4,294	 6,129	 2,846
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, 
 plant and equipment		  157	 59	 (126)	 57
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss)	 1,605	 (7,975)	 501	 (7,685)
Fair value changes in financial assets:
- Forward currency contracts		  (823)	 (847)	 788	 –
- Interest rate swap		  –	 2	 –	 2
- Ineffective portion of derivatives 
 designated as hedging instruments
 in cash flow hedge 		  –	 289	 –	 289
Reversal of revaluation deficit 
 on property		  51	 61	 –	 –
Loss on disposal of intangible assets	 (14)	 –	 –	 –
Gain on partial disposal of 
  a joint venture		  –	 11,541	 –	 13,476

			   7,384	 7,424	 7,292	 8,985
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8.	 Employee benefits expense

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 
	
Wages and salaries		  48,456	 44,737	 30,870	 29,150
Social security contribution		  398	 410	 196	 217
Contribution to defined 
 contribution plan		  5,536	 4,914	 4,049	 3,534
Termination benefits		  –	 1,600	 –	 1,600
Other benefits		  2,490	 2,454	 2,133	 2,100

			   56,880	 54,115	 37,248	 36,601

9.	 Finance costs    
     

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Interest expenses on bank 
 borrowings		  13,674	 11,914	 11,657	 11,671
Interest expenses on amount due 
 to a subsidiary 		  –	 –	 2,018	 1,348
Commitment fees		  22	 16	 22	 16
Unwinding of discount 
 on provision (Note 27)		  1,022	 720	 –	 –

			   14,718	 12,650	 13,697	 13,035

10. 	 Other expenses

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Administrative expenses		  9,726	 7,778	 4,186	 3,755
Marketing and distribution expenses	 955	 1,182	 955	 1,182
Property, plant and equipment 
 written off		  1	 1	 –	 –
Write off of other prepayments		  –	 635	 –	 –

			   10,682	 9,596	 5,141	 4,937
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11. 	 (Reversal of impairment losses)/ Impairment losses

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Impairment of receivables 		  –	 5,568	 14,539	 5,568
Impairment of advances to 
 a supplier (Note 25)		  –	 31,202	 –	 31,202
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment 
 of investments in associates and 
 joint ventures		  (129)	 766	 –	 (8,291)

			   (129)	 37,536	 14,539	 28,479

12.	 Income tax expense

Major components of income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense are as follows:

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Statements of profit or loss

Malaysian income tax:					   
Current income tax		  16,252	 19,597	 –	 7,348
(Over)/Under provision in prior year	 (270)	 343	 (207)	 342

			   15,982	 19,940	 (207)	 7,690

Deferred tax (Note 32): 
Relating to origination and reversal 
 of temporary differences		  (5,791)	 595	 (2,628)	 2,836
Under/(Over) provision in prior year	 1,940	 (5,360)	 1,925	 (5,358)

			   (3,851)	 (4,765)	 (703)	 (2,522)

Income tax expense/(credit) 
 recognised in profit or loss		  12,131	 15,175	 (910)	 5,168
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12.	 Income tax expense (Cont’d)

Major components of income tax expense (cont’d)

Statements of comprehensive income

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Deferred tax related to other 
 comprehensive income (Note 32):
Net surplus on revaluation of buildings	 32	 231	 98	 75
Net fair value changes in quoted 
 investments at Fair 
 Value through Other Comprehensive 
 Income (“FVOCI”)		  (533)	 2,519	 (533)	 2,519
Net fair value changes on cash flow 
 hedges		  543	 1,702	 543	 1,702

			   42	 4,452	 108	 4,296

	 Domestic current income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 24% (2016: 24%) of the estimated 
assessable profit for the year. The statutory income tax rate will be reduced from the current year’s rate of 
24% for year of assessments 2017 and 2018, as follows:

	Percentage of increase in chargeable income as compared 
to the immediate preceding year of assessment

Percentage point 
reduction

Income tax rate after 
reduction (%)

Less than 5.00 NIL 24
5.00 - 9.99 1 23
10.00 - 14.99 2 22
15.00 - 19.99 3 21
20.00 and above 4 20

	 The reduction in income tax rate from 24% to 20% is only applicable to the incremental  chargeable income 
as compared to the immediate preceding year of assessment.
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12.	 Income tax expense (cont’d)

	 Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. The income 
tax rates applicable to foreign subsidiaries are as follows:

					     2017	 2016

Indonesia				    25% 	 25% 
Singapore				    17%	 17%
	
		
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit

	 The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable 
corporate tax rate are as follows:

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Profit before tax		  28,235	 49,507	 29,400	 31,033

Taxation at Malaysian statutory 
 tax rate of 24% (2016: 24%)		  6,776	 11,882	 7,056	 7,448
Effect of reduction in Malaysian
 income tax rate on incremental 
 chargeable income		  (792)	 –	 –	 –
Different tax rates in other countries	 3	 3	 –	 –
Income not subject to tax		  (26)	 (2,784)	 (13,030)	 (3,248)
Expenses not deductible for tax 
 purpose		  4,500	 11,091	 3,346	 5,984
(Over)/Under provision of tax 
 expense in prior year		  (270)	 343	 (207)	 342
Under/(Over) provision of deferred tax 
 in prior year		  1,940	 (5,360)	 1,925	 (5,358)

Income tax expense/(credit) 
 recognised in profit or loss		  12,131	 15,175	 (910)	 5,168

13.	 Basic and diluted earnings per share

	 Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to owners of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

		  Group
					     2017	 2016

Profit net of tax attributable to owners of the Company (RM’000)		  16,105	 34,334
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000) 		  100,000	 100,000
Basic and diluted earnings per share (sen)			   16.1	 34.3



Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad 
Annual Report Year 2017122

Notes to the 
Financial Statements (cont’d)

14.	 Dividends

	 Net dividend per 
	 ordinary share
		  2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 Sen	 Sen

Final single-tier dividend of 
 RM0.08 per share on 100,000,000 
 ordinary shares, for the year 
 ended 31 December 2016, 
 declared on 21 April 2017 
 and paid on 11 July 2017		  8,000	 –	 8	 –

	

	 Subject to the approval of the members at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company, the 
directors recommend the payment of a first and final single-tier dividend of RM0.04 per share amounting to 
RM4,000,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

	 The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 do not reflect this proposed dividend. 
Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation 
of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2018.

15.	 Property, plant and equipment 

	 				     Plant, 		     	
					     equipment, 			 
		    			    vehicles 		  Capital
		  Freehold	 Leasehold		  and 	  Mine 	  work-in- 	
Group		  land 	 land	 Buildings 	  furniture 	 restoration 	 progress 	  Total 
		   RM’000 	 RM’000	   RM’000 	   RM’000 	  RM’000 	   RM’000 	 RM’000 

Cost or Valuation

At 1 January 2017							     
- At cost	 –	 –	 –	 113,285	 24,632	 1,582	 139,499
- At valuation	 30,095	 24,670	 29,041	 –	 –	 –	 83,806

		  30,095	 24,670	 29,041	 113,285	 24,632	 1,582	 223,305
Additions	 –	 –	 2,491	 2,337	 434	 5,072	 10,334
Disposals	 –	 –	 –	 (1,522)	 –	 –	 (1,522)
Written off	 –	 –	 –	 (39)	 –	 –	 (39)
Transfer in/(out)	 –	 –	 –	 4,993	 –	 (4,993)	 –
Revaluation adjustments	 6,574	 –	 (3,343)	 –	 –	 –	 3,231

At 31 December 2017	 36,669	 24,670	 28,189	 119,054	 25,066	 1,661	 235,309

Representing:							     
- At cost	 –	 –	 –	 119,054	 25,066	 1,661	 145,781
- At valuation 	 36,669	 24,670	 28,189	 –	 –	 –	 89,528

At 31 December 2017	 36,669	 24,670	 28,189	 119,054	 25,066	 1,661	 235,309
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15.	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

	 				     Plant, 		     	
					     equipment, 			 
		    			    vehicles 		  Capital
		  Freehold	 Leasehold		  and 	  Mine 	  work-in- 	
Group		  land 	 land	 Buildings 	  furniture 	 restoration 	 progress 	  Total 
		   RM’000 	 RM’000	   RM’000 	   RM’000 	  RM’000 	   RM’000 	 RM’000

Accumulated 
 depreciation 

At 1 January 2017	 –	 51	 –	 63,446	 5,193	 –	 68,690
Depreciation charge 							     
 for the year (Note 4)	 –	 309	 1,797	 7,347	 3,589	 –	 13,042
Disposals	 –	 –	 –	 (537)	 –	 –	 (537)
Written off	 –	 –	 –	 (38)	 –	 –	 (38)
Elimination of 
 accumulated
 depreciation 
 on revaluation	 –	 (360)	 (1,797)	 –	 –	 –	 (2,157)

At 31 December 2017	 –	 –	 –	 70,218	 8,782	 –	 79,000

Net carrying amount

- At cost	 –	 –	 –	 48,836	 16,284	 1,661	 66,781
- At valuation 	 36,669	 24,670	 28,189	 –	 –	 –	 89,528

At 31 December 2017	 36,669	 24,670	 28,189	 48,836	 16,284	 1,661	 156,309
 

Cost or Valuation

At 1 January 2016							     
- At cost	 –	 –	 –	 93,693	 16,624	 890	 111,207
- At valuation	 27,377	 –	 21,590	 –	 –	 –	 48,967

		  27,377	 –	 21,590	 93,693	 16,624	 890	 160,174
Additions	 –	 24,670	 7,830	 18,909	 8,008	 2,342	 61,759
Disposals	 –	 –	 –	 (319)	 –	 –	 (319)
Written off	 –	 –	 –	 (648)	 –	 –	 (648)
Transfer in/(out)	 –	 –	 –	 1,650	 –	 (1,650)	 –
Revaluation adjustments	 2,718	 –	 (379)	 –	 –	 –	 2,339

At 31 December 2016	 30,095	 24,670	 29,041	 113,285	 24,632	 1,582	 223,305

Representing:							     
- At cost	 –	 –	 –	 113,285	 24,632	 1,582	 139,499
- At valuation 	 30,095	 24,670	 29,041	 –	 –	 –	 83,806

At 31 December 2016	 30,095	 24,670	 29,041	 113,285	 24,632	 1,582	 223,305
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15.	 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

	 				     Plant, 		     	
					     equipment, 			 
		    			    vehicles 		  Capital
		  Freehold	 Leasehold		  and 	  Mine 	  work-in- 	
Group		  land 	 land	 Buildings 	  furniture 	 restoration 	 progress 	  Total 
		   RM’000 	 RM’000	   RM’000 	   RM’000 	  RM’000 	   RM’000 	 RM’000

Accumulated 
 depreciation 

At 1 January 2016	 –	 –	 –	 58,199	 3,082	 –	 61,281
Depreciation charge 							     
 for the year (Note 4)	 –	 51	 834	 6,188	 2,111	 –	 9,184
Disposals	 –	 –	 –	 (294)	 –	 –	 (294)
Written off	 –	 –	 –	 (647)	 –	 –	 (647)
Elimination of 
 accumulated
 depreciation on 
 revaluation	 –	 –	 (834)	 –	 –	 –	 (834)

At 31 December 2016	 –	 51	 –	 63,446	 5,193	 –	 68,690

Net carrying amount

- At cost	 –	 –	 –	 49,839	 19,439	 1,582	 70,860
- At valuation 	 30,095	 24,619	 29,041	 –	 –	 –	 83,755

At 31 December 2016	 30,095	 24,619	 29,041	 49,839	 19,439	 1,582	 154,615
 

	 Included in the Group’s additions to property, plant and equipment is an amount of RM434,000 (2016: 
RM8,008,000) relating to provision for mine restoration costs as disclosed in Note 27.
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15.	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

				    Plant, 		
				     equipment, 	  Capital 	
				     vehicles and 	  work-in- 	
Company		  Buildings 	  furniture 	  progress 	  Total 
			     RM’000 	   RM’000 	   RM’000 	   RM’000

Cost or Valuation

At 1 January 2017				  
- At cost		  –	 63,631	 1,582	 65,213
- At valuation		  11,150	 –	 –	 11,150

			   11,150	 63,631	 1,582	 76,363
Additions		  –	 –	 3,451	 3,451
Disposals		  –	 (888)	 –	 (888)
Written off		  –	 (29)	 –	 (29)
Transfer in/(out)		  –	 4,993	 (4,993)	 –
Revaluation adjustments		  96	 –	 –	 96

At 31 December 2017		  11,246	 67,707	 40	 78,993

Representing:				  
- At cost		  –	 67,707	 40	 67,747
- At valuation		  11,246	 –	 –	 11,246

At 31 December 2017		  11,246	 67,707	 40	 78,993

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2017		  –	 43,831	 –	 43,831
Depreciation charge for the 
 year (Note 4)		  310	 3,960	 –	 4,270
Disposals		  –	 (520)	 –	 (520)
Written off		  –	 (29)	 –	 (29)
Elimination of accumulated				  
 depreciation on revaluation		  (310)	 –	 –	 (310)

At 31 December 2017		  –	 47,242	 –	 47,242

Net carrying amount

- At cost		  –	 20,465	 40	 20,505
- At valuation		  11,246	 –	 –	 11,246

At 31 December 2017		  11,246	 20,465	 40	 31,751
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15.	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

				    Plant, 		
				     equipment, 	  Capital 	
				     vehicles and 	  work-in- 	
Company		  Buildings 	  furniture 	  progress 	  Total 
			     RM’000 	   RM’000 	   RM’000 	   RM’000

Cost or Valuation

At 1 January 2016				  
- At cost		  –	 62,490	 886	 63,376
- At valuation		  11,150	 –	 –	 11,150

			   11,150	 62,490	 886	 74,526
Additions		  –	 –	 2,342	 2,342
Disposals		  –	 (313)	 –	 (313)
Written off		  –	 (192)	 –	 (192)
Transfer in/(out)		  –	 1,646	 (1,646)	 –

At 31 December 2016		  11,150	 63,631	 1,582	 76,363

Representing:				  
- At cost		  –	 63,631	 1,582	 65,213
- At valuation		  11,150	 –	 –	 11,150

At 31 December 2016		  11,150	 63,631	 1,582	 76,363

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2016		  –	 40,694	 –	 40,694
Depreciation charge 
 for the year (Note 4)		  310	 3,617	 –	 3,927
Disposals		  –	 (288)	 –	 (288)
Written off		  –	 (192)	 –	 (192)
Elimination of accumulated				  
 depreciation on revaluation		  (310)	 –	 –	 (310)

At 31 December 2016		  –	 43,831	 –	 43,831

Net carrying amount

- At cost		  –	 19,800	 1,582	 21,382
- At valuation		  11,150	 –	 –	 11,150

At 31 December 2016		  11,150	 19,800	 1,582	 32,532
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15.	 Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

	 Group

	 Land and buildings owned by the Group were revalued on 31 December 2017 based on valuations carried out 
by independent firms of professional valuers as follows:

	 Description of Property					     Valuation
						      RM’000

(i)	 Land with offices and factory buildings in Jalan Pantai, Butterworth		  40,998

(ii)	 Land with offices and factory buildings in Pulau Indah Industrial Park		  34,770

(iii)	 3 units of office premises in Jalan Yap Kwan Seng, Kuala Lumpur		  6,750

(iv)	 80 units of flats in Bukit Mertajam				    4,496

(v)	 Land and buildings in Daerah Hulu Perak				    2,514

						      89,528

	 Further details on the valuation are disclosed in Note 37 (a).

	 Had the revalued properties been carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any, the net carrying amount of each class of the properties that would have been included 
in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company at the reporting date would be as follows:

 
		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Freehold land		  9,339	 9,339	 –	 –
Leasehold land		  24,310	 24,619	 –	 –
Buildings		  17,635	 16,115	 5,077	 5,279
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16.	 Prepaid land lease payments

					     2017	 2016
Group				     RM’000 	  RM’000 

Leasehold land

At 1 January 				    773	 806
Amortisation for the year (Note 4)			   (33)	 (33)

At 31 December				    740	 773

Analysed as:			 
Long term leasehold land				    494	 503
Short term leasehold land				    246	 270

					     740	 773

Amount to be amortised:			 
- Not later than one year				    33	 33
- Later than one year but not later than five years			   131	 131
- Later than five years				    576	 609

					     740	 773

	 The long term leasehold land has unexpired lease periods of between 51 and 95 years (2016: 52 and 96 years). 
The short term leasehold land has unexpired lease periods of between 5 and 11 years (2016: 6 and 12 years).

17.	 Intangible assets

					     Corporate	
				     Mining 	 club	
Group			    rights 	 memberships	  Total 
				     RM’000 	 RM’000	  RM’000 

Cost	
At 1 January 2017			   21,817	 1,078	 22,895
Additions			   –	 65	 65
Disposals			   –	 (577)	 (577)

At 31 December 2017			   21,817	 566	 22,383

At 1 January 2016/31 December 2016		  21,817	 1,078	 22,895
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17.	 Intangible assets (Cont’d)

		  			   Corporate	
				     Mining 	 club	
Group			    rights 	 memberships	  Total 
				     RM’000 	 RM’000	  RM’000 

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2017			   15,511	 389	 15,900
Amortisation for the year (Note 4)		  886	 32	 918
Disposals			   –	 (377)	 (377)

At 31 December 2017			   16,397	 44	 16,441

At 1 January 2016			   14,625	 340	 14,965
Amortisation for the year (Note 4)		  886	 49	 935

At 31 December 2016			   15,511	 389	 15,900
				  
Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2017			   5,420	 522	 5,942

At 31 December 2016			   6,306	 689	 6,995

						      Corporate
						      club
Company					      membership 
						       RM’000 

Cost	
At 1 January 2016/31 December 2016/31 December 2017			   215 

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2017					     8
Amortisation for the year (Note 4)				    3

At 31 December 2017					     11

At 1 January 2016					     5
Amortisation for the year (Note 4)				    3

At 31 December 2016					     8
	

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2017					     204

At 31 December 2016					     207

	 Mining rights

	 These consist of the mining rights of Rahman Hydraulic Tin Sdn. Bhd. (“RHT”) and SL Tin Sdn. Bhd. (“SL Tin”). 
Based on the assessment and review carried out by the management, there is no indication of impairment in 
the mining rights of RHT and SL Tin.
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18.	 Investment in subsidiaries

	 				    2017	 2016
Company				     RM’000 	  RM’000 
 
Unquoted shares, at cost 				    148,681 	 148,681

Details of the subsidiaries of the Group and the Company are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries
Country of 

incorporation
Principal 
activities

Proportion of ownership 
interest held by the 

Group^

Proportion of ownership 
interest held by non-
controlling interests^

Held by the Company:
2017

%
2016

%
2017

%
2016

%

Malaysia Smelting
 Corporation 
 (Warehousing)
 Sdn. Bhd. 
 (“MSCW”)*

Malaysia Tin 
warehousing

100 100 – –

Rahman Hydraulic 
 Tin Sdn. Bhd.
 (“RHT”)*

Malaysia Tin mining 100 100 – –

MSC Properties
 Sdn. Bhd. 
 (“MSCP”)*

Malaysia Property 
holding and 

rental

100 100 – –

Straits Resource
 Management 
 Private Limited 
 (“SRM”)**

Singapore Investment 
holding

100 100 – –

M Smelt (C) Sdn. Bhd. 
 (“M Smelt”)*

Malaysia Smelting of 
non-ferrous 

metals~

100 100 – –
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18.	 Investment in subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Details of the subsidiaries of the Group and the Company are as follows: (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiaries
Country of 

incorporation
Principal 
activities

Proportion of ownership 
interest held by the 

Group^

Proportion of ownership 
interest held by non-
controlling interests^

2017
%

2016
%

2017
%

2016
%Held through subsidiaries:

Held by RHT
SL Tin Sdn. Bhd.
 (“SL Tin”)***

Malaysia Tin mining 80# 80# 20 20

Held by SRM
PT SRM Indonesia
 (“PT SRM”)***

Indonesia Dormant 99# 99# 1 1

^ 	 equals to the proportion of voting rights held
* 	 Audited by Ernst & Young, Malaysia
** 	 Audited by member firm of Ernst & Young Global in the respective country
***	 Audited by firms of auditors other than Ernst & Young
# 	 Indirect interest
~	 The intended activity of M Smelt is smelting of non-ferrous metals. M Smelt has yet to commence 

operation since the date of incorporation
	
	 The non-controlling interests in respect of SL Tin and PT SRM are not material to the Group. 
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19.	 Investments in associates and joint ventures

		  Group	 Company
			   2017 	 2016	 2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 

Investments in associates

In Malaysia:
Unquoted shares, at cost 		  10,473	 10,473	 10,473	 10,473
Share of post-acquisition reserves	 16,451	 17,292	 –	 –

			   26,924	 27,765	 10,473	 10,473

Outside Malaysia:
Unquoted shares, at cost 		  –	 17,374	 –	 17,374
Share of post-acquisition reserves	 –	 (5,558)	 –	 –

			   –	 11,816	 –	 17,374
Accumulated impairment losses 	 –	 (11,816)	 –	 (17,374)

			   –	 –	 –	 –

			   26,924	 27,765	 10,473	 10,473

Investments in joint ventures

In Malaysia:
Unquoted shares, at cost 		  8,193	 8,193	 8,193	 8,193
Share of post-acquisition reserves	 5,468	 7,524	 –	 –

			   13,661	 15,717	 8,193	 8,193
Accumulated impairment losses	 (6,017)	 (6,146)	 –	 –

			   7,644	 9,571	 8,193	 8,193

Outside Malaysia:
Unquoted shares, at cost 		  –	 1,274	 –	 1,274
Share of post-acquisition reserves	 –	 (1,274)	 –	 –

			   –	 –	 –	 1,274
Accumulated impairment losses	 –	 –	 –	 (1,274)

			   –	 –	 –	 –

			   7,644	 9,571	 8,193	 8,193

Total investments in associates 
 and joint ventures		  34,568	 37,336	 18,666	 18,666

	 At the reporting date, the Group and the Company have written off the investments in an associate and a joint 
venture as both companies are dormant and no longer in operation.
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19.	 Investments in associates and joint ventures (cont’d)

(i)	 Investments in associates

	 Details of the associates of the Group and the Company are as follows:

Name of 	 Country of 	 Principal 	 Proportion of 		  Accounting
associates	 incorporation 	 activities	 ownership interest* 		  model applied
				    2017	 2016
 				    %	 %

Held by the 
 Company:

Redring Solder (M) 	 Malaysia 	 Manufacture and	  40	 40 	 Equity method
 Sdn. Bhd. 		   sale of solder
 (“Redring”)		   products

Guilin Hinwei Tin 	 China	 Dormant	 35	 35	 Equity method
 Co Ltd. (“Guilin”)

* equals to the proportion of voting rights held

	 These associates have the same reporting period as the Group. No quoted market prices are available 
for the shares of Redring and Guilin as these are private companies.

	 The summarised financial information of Redring, a material associate, based on its financial statements 
and a reconciliation with the carrying amount of Group’s interest is set out below.

	 Summarised statement of financial position of Redring is as follows:

					     2017 	 2016
					     RM’000 	 RM’000 

Non-current assets				    22,513	 22,286
Current assets				    51,492	 50,867

Total assets				    74,005	 73,153

Non-current liabilities				    439	 –
Current liabilities				    6,255	 3,740

Total liabilities				    6,694	 3,740

Net assets				    67,311	 69,413



Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad 
Annual Report Year 2017134

Notes to the 
Financial Statements (cont’d)

19.	 Investments in associates and joint ventures (cont’d)

(i)	 Investments in associates (cont’d)

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of Redring as follows:

					     2017 	 2016
					     RM’000 	 RM’000 

Revenue				    81,139	 66,704
(Loss)/Profit before tax				    (1,070)	 7,081
(Loss)/Profit for the year				    (1,054)	 5,295
Other comprehensive (loss)/income			   (1,024)	 1,877
Total comprehensive (loss)/income			   (2,078)	 7,172

	 Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to the carrying amount of the 
Group’s interest in Redring:

					     2017 	 2016
					     RM’000 	 RM’000 
	
Net assets at 31 December			   67,311	 69,413
Interest in associate				    40%	 40%

Carrying value of Group’s interest in associate		  26,924	 27,765

(ii)	  Investments in joint ventures

Details of the joint ventures of the Group and the Company are as follows:

Name of joint	 Country of 	 Proportion of 	 Nature of	  Accounting
ventures 	 incorporation	 ownership interest* 	 relationship	 model applied
			   2017	 2016
 			   %	 %

Held by the Company:

KM Resources, Inc. 	 Labuan, 	 30	 30	 Note (a)	 Equity method
(“KMR”)	 Malaysia

Africa Smelting 	 Democratic	 40	 40	 Note (b)	 Equity method
 Corporation Sprl	 Republic of
 (“ASC”)	 Congo

* equals to the proportion of voting rights held

	 These joint ventures have the same reporting period as the Group. No quoted market prices are available 
for the shares of KMR and ASC as these are private companies.
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19.	 Investments in associates and joint ventures (cont’d)

(ii)	 Investments in joint ventures (cont’d)

(a)	 KMR is an investment holding company with subsidiaries in the Philippines involved in the mining 
and processing of copper, gold, zinc and silver. The subsidiaries of KMR in the Philippines have 
ceased the mining and processing operations due to depletion of mineral resources.

	 In 2016, KMR completed a share buy-back exercise whereby 36,945,030 shares of USD1.00 each in 
KMR were purchased from its shareholders for USD36,945,030 and held as treasury shares. This 
was accounted for as partial disposal of the Company’s investment in KMR and gain on disposal 
of RM11,541,000 and RM13,476,000 was recognised for the Group and the Company respectively. 
The share buy-back exercise did not result in any change in the Company’s equity interests in KMR.

	 A reversal of impairment of RM129,000 (2016: An impairment loss of RM766,000) was recognised 
in profit or loss of the Group in respect of the Group’s investment in KMR. The recoverable amount 
was derived based on management’s estimate of fair value less costs to sell. 

(b)	 The principal activity of ASC is the smelting of tin. ASC is currently dormant.

	 Summarised financial information of KMR Group, a material joint venture, based on their financial 
statements and a reconciliation with the carrying amount of Group’s interest is set out below.

	 Summarised statement of financial position of KMR Group as follows:

					     2017 	 2016
					     RM’000 	 RM’000 

Non-current assets				    20,841	 20,987

Cash and cash equivalents			   25,203	 33,725
Other current assets				    283	 1,028

Total current assets				    25,486	 34,753

Total assets				    46,327	 55,740

Trade and other payables and provisions, representing 
 total current liabilities				    7	 2,083

Trade and other payables and provisions			   –	 850
Non-current liabilities (excluding trade and other payables 
 and provisions)				    782	 416

Total non-current liabilities			   782	 1,266

Total liabilities				    789	 3,349

Net assets				    45,538	 52,391
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19.	 Investments in associates and joint ventures (cont’d)

(ii)	 Investments in joint ventures (cont’d)

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of KMR Group as follows:

					      2017 	 2016
					     RM’000 	 RM’000 

Revenue				    –	 9
Interest income				    10	 166
Loss before tax				    (3,185)	 (7,357)
Loss after tax				    (3,458)	 (7,357)
Loss after tax - attributable to owners of the Company		  (2,290)	 (7,357)
Other comprehensive loss				   (4,563)	 (35,972)
Total comprehensive loss				   (6,853)	 (43,329)

	 Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to the carrying amount of the 
Group’s interest in KMR Group: 

					      2017 	 2016
					     RM’000 	 RM’000 

Net assets at 31 December			   45,538	 52,391
Interest in joint venture				    30%	 30%

					     13,661	 15,717
Accumulated impairment losses			   (6,017)	 (6,146)

Carrying value of Group’s interest in joint venture		  7,644	 9,571

20.	 Investment securities

					     2017	 2016
Group and Company				    RM’000 	 RM’000 

Equity securities
Quoted investments 				    21,205	 23,423

Unquoted investment				    34,320	 34,320
Accumulated impairment losses 			   (34,320)	 (34,320)

					     –	 –

					     21,205	 23,423
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20.	 Investment securities (cont’d)

	 The fair value of each of the investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 

					     2017 	 2016 
Group and Company				    RM’000 	 RM’000 

At fair value through other comprehensive income
- Equity securities (quoted)
 - Asian Mineral Resources Limited (“AMR”)			   3,540	 2,084
 - Alphamin Resources Corp. (“Alphamin”)			   17,665	 21,339

					     21,205	 23,423

	 The Group and the Company have elected to measure these equity securities at FVOCI due to the Group’s 
intention to hold these equity instruments for long-term capital appreciation.

	
(a)	Q uoted investments 

	 These comprise the investment in AMR and Alphamin, both incorporated in Canada and listed on the 
Toronto Venture Exchange. 

(b)	 Unquoted investment

	 This comprises the Company’s 18.54% interest in TMR Ltd (“TMR”), a Bermuda incorporated company. 
TMR has 99% shareholding in PT Tenaga Anugerah (“PTTA”), which holds tin mining rights in Indonesia. 
TMR together with its subsidiary, PTTA, are principally involved in integrated tin business in Indonesia.  

	 The Group and the Company recognised full impairment losses in the carrying value of the investment 
in profit or loss as the operations had been suspended and there is no indication that it would resume.

21.	 Other non-current assets

				    Deferred mine 
				    exploration and 
				    evaluation 	 Mine 
				    expenditures 	 properties	 Total

Group			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

At 1 January 2017			   9,193	 5,832	 15,025
Additions			   421	 5	 426
Amortisation to profit or loss (Note 4)		  –	 (1,006)	 (1,006)

At 31 December 2017			   9,614	 4,831	 14,445

At 1 January 2016			   5,878	 6,497	 12,375
Additions			   3,315	 342	 3,657
Amortisation to profit or loss (Note 4)		  –	 (1,007)	 (1,007)

At 31 December 2016			   9,193	 5,832	 15,025
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21.	 Other non-current assets (CONt’D)

	 Deferred mine exploration and evaluation expenditures and mine properties represent expenditures incurred 
on several areas of interest. The costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be 
recovered through the successful development of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached 
a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable ore reserves and 
resources.

22.	 Inventories

		  Group	 Company
			   2017 	 2016 	 2017 	 2016 
			   RM’000 	 RM’000 	 RM’000 	 RM’000 
At cost:

Inventories of tin-in-concentrates, 
 tin-in-process and refined tin metal	 455,262	 352,442	 458,036	 358,430
Other inventories (stores, spares, 
 fuels, coal and saleable by-products)	 9,446	 20,329	 6,726	 16,947

			   464,708	 372,771	 464,762	 375,377

At net realisable value:

Inventories of tin-in-concentrates, 
 tin-in-process and refined tin metal	 4,969	 1,478	 4,969	 1,478

			   469,677	 374,249	 469,731	 376,855

	 Tin inventories comprise feed materials or tin-in-concentrates from suppliers, tin bearing intermediates or 
tin-in-process and refined tin metal.

	 The cost of inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales is RM1,318,726,000 (2016: RM1,314,206,000) 
for the Group and RM1,396,040,000 (2016: RM1,372,509,000) for the Company.
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23.	 Trade receivables

		  Group	 Company
			   2017 	 2016 	 2017 	 2016 
			   RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	 RM’000 
Current

Third parties 		  7,572	 30,415	 7,571	 30,411
Associate		  4,564	 1,018	 4,564	 1,018

			   12,136	 31,433	 12,135	 31,429

Allowance for impairment
- Third parties		  (700)	 (700)	 (700)	 (700)

Trade receivable, net		  11,436	 30,733	 11,435	 30,729

Add: Other receivables (current 
 and non-current) excluding 
 GST recoverable (Note 24)		  914	 1,425	  18,881	 24,084
Add: Cash and bank balances 
 (Note 26)		  68,678	 80,391	   58,795	 70,871

Total financial assets carried 
 at amortised cost		  81,028	 112,549	 89,111	 125,684

	 Credit risk
		
	 The Group’s and the Company’s normal trade credit terms range from cash term to 90 days (2016: 90 days). 

Other credit terms are assessed and approved on a case-by-case basis. 

	 Other information on credit risk are disclosed in Note 36(d). 

	 Amount due from an associate
			 
	 These are unsecured  and subject to the Group’s and the Company’s normal credit terms which range from 

cash term to 90 days (2016: 90 days) where interest rate of 5% (2016: 5%) per annum is charged.
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23.	 Trade receivables (cont’d)

Further details on related party transactions are disclosed in Note 35.

Other information on financial risks of trade receivables are disclosed in Note 36.

The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

					     Allowance for 
				    Gross	 impairment 	 Net
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Group

At 31 December 2017

Not past due			   11,415	 –	 11,415

Past due:
Less than 30 days			   –	 –	 –
30 to 60 days			   15	 –	 15
61 to 90 days			   –	 –	 –
91 to 120 days			   –	 –	 –
More than 120 days 			   706	 700	 6

				    721	 700	 21

Total				    12,136	 700	 11,436

At 31 December 2016

Not past due			   30,722	 –	 30,722

Past due:
Less than 30 days			   –	 –	 –
30 to 60 days			   5	 –	 5
61 to 90 days			   –	 –	 –
91 to 120 days			   –	 –	 –
More than 120 days 			   706	 700	 6

				    711	 700	 11

Total				    31,433	 700	 30,733
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23.	 Trade receivables (cont’d)

					     Allowance for 
				    Gross	 impairment 	 Net
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Company

At 31 December 2017

Not past due			   11,414	 –	 11,414

Past due:
Less than 30 days			   –	 –	 –
30 to 60 days			   15	 –	 15
61 to 90 days			   –	 –	 –
91 to 120 days			   –	 –	 –
More than 120 days 			   706	 700	 6

				    721	 700	 21

Total				    12,135	 700	 11,435

At 31 December 2016

Not past due			   30,718	 –	 30,718

Past due:
Less than 30 days			   –	 –	 –
30 to 60 days			   5	 –	 5
61 to 90 days			   –	 –	 –
91 to 120 days			   –	 –	 –
More than 120 days 			   706	 700	 6

				    711	 700	 11

Total				    31,429	 700	 30,729

	 Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

	 Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records 
with the Group and the Company.

	 Receivables that are past due but not impaired

	 Both the Group and the Company have trade receivables amounting to RM21,000 (2016: RM11,000) that are 
past due at the reporting date but not impaired. Although these balances are unsecured in nature, they are 
mostly due from creditworthy customers.



Malaysia Smelting Corporation Berhad 
Annual Report Year 2017142

Notes to the 
Financial Statements (cont’d)

23.	 Trade receivables (cont’d)

	 Receivables that are impaired

	 The Group’s and the Company’s trade receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movements 
of allowance accounts used to record the impairment were as follows: 
	
		  Group/Company
		  Individually impaired
					     2017 	 2016
					      RM’000 	 RM’000 

Trade receivables-nominal amounts			   700	 700
Less: Allowance for impairment				   (700)	 (700)

					     –	 –

Movement in the allowance accounts: 	

		  Group/Company
					     2017 	 2016
					      RM’000 	 RM’000 

At 1 January				    700	 684
Impairment for the year				    –	 16

At 31 December				    700	 700

24.	 Other receivables

		  Group	 Company
			   2017 	 2016	 2017 	 2016
		  Note	 RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	 RM’000 

Non-current 

Joint venture	 (i)	 6,935	 7,661	 6,935	 7,661

Allowance for impairment
- Joint venture		  (6,935)	 (7,661)	 (6,935)	 (7,661)

			   –	 –	 –	 –
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24.	 Other receivables (CONT’D)

		  Group	 Company
			   2017 	 2016	 2017 	 2016
		  Note	 RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	 RM’000 

Current

Third parties		  10,138	 11,802	 10,112	 11,760
Subsidiaries	 (ii)	 –	 –	 32,278	 22,383
Joint venture		  59	 59	 59	 59

			   10,197	 11,861	 42,449	 34,202
Allowance for impairment
 - Third parties		  (9,775)	 (10,798)	 (9,775)	 (10,798)
 - Subsidiary		  –	 –	 (14,539)	 –

			   422	 1,063	 18,135	 23,404
Deposits		  492	 362	 746	 680
GST recoverable		  8,431	 11,544	 4,978	 8,512

			   9,345	 12,969	 23,859	 32,596

Total other receivables 
 (current and non-current) 		  9,345	 12,969	 23,859	 32,596 
Less: GST recoverable		  (8,431)	 (11,544)	 (4,978)	 (8,512)

Total other receivable
 (current and non-current)
 excluding GST recoverable		  914	 1,425	 18,881	 24,084

(i)	 Amount due from a joint venture

	 The amount is due from Africa Smelting Corporation Sprl. Based on the impairment assessment carried 
out by the management, the amount due from a joint venture had been fully impaired as at 31 December 
2016.

(ii)	 Amounts due from subsidiaries
		
	 These are unsecured and repayable on demand and include advances amounting to RM32,278,000 

(2016: RM22,383,000) where interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 4.0% (2016: 3.0% to 4.0%) per annum 
is charged.
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24.	 Other receivables (CONT’D)
Further details on related party transactions are disclosed in Note 35.

Other information on financial risks of other receivables are disclosed in Note 36.

	 Receivables that are impaired

	 The Group’s and the Company’s other receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movements 
of allowance accounts used to record the impairment were as follows: 

		  Group	 Company
		  Individually impaired	  Individually impaired
			   2017	 2016	 2017 	 2016
			   RM’000 	 RM’000	  RM’000 	 RM’000 

Other receivables-nominal amounts	 16,710	 18,459	 35,157	 18,459
Less: Allowance for impairment		 (16,710)	 (18,459)	 (31,249)	 (18,459)

			   –	 –	 3,908	 –

Movement in the allowance accounts: 

				    12-month	 Lifetime
				    ECL 	 ECL	 Total 
				    allowance	 allowance	 allowance
 				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group

At 1 January 2017			   5,591	 12,868	 18,459
Exchange difference			   (530)	 (1,219)	 (1,749)

At 31 December 2017			   5,061	 11,649	 16,710

At 1 January 2016			   5,354	 5,899	 11,253
Impairment for the year 			   –	 5,552	 5,552
Exchange difference			   237	 1,417	 1,654

At 31 December 2016			   5,591	 12,868	 18,459

Company

At 1 January 2017			   5,591	 12,868	 18,459
Impairment for the year			   –	 14,539	 14,539
Exchange difference			   (530)	 (1,219)	 (1,749)

At 31 December 2017			   5,061	 26,188	 31,249

At 1 January 2016			   5,354	 5,899	 11,253
Impairment for the year 			   –	 5,552	 5,552
Exchange difference			   237	 1,417	 1,654

At 31 December 2016			   5,591	 12,868	 18,459

	 At the reporting date, the Company has provided an allowance of RM14,539,000 for impairment of the advances 
to a subsidiary. This subsidiary has been suffering financial losses for the current and last financial year, thus 
the recoverability of the advances is uncertain.
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25.	 Trade prepayments

					     2017	 2016
					      RM’000 	 RM’000 
Group and Company

Trade prepayments - nominal amounts			   80,896	 67,469
Less: Allowance for impairment (Note 11)			   (31,202)	 (31,202)

					     49,694	 36,267

The trade prepayments relate to provisional advances paid to suppliers of tin-in-concentrates.

26.	 Cash, bank balances and deposits

		  Group	 Company
			   2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	 RM’000 

Cash on hand and at banks		  23,728	 29,832	 16,845	 23,312
Deposits of up to three months 
 maturity with licensed banks		  41,215	 47,041	 38,215	 44,041

			   64,943	 76,873	 55,060	 67,353
Deposit of more than three months 
 maturity with licensed banks		  3,735	 3,518	 3,735	 3,518

 
			   68,678	 80,391	 58,795	 70,871

	 Deposits are made for varying periods of between 3 days and 12 months (2016: 2 days and 12 months) 
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and the Company, and earn interests at the 
respective short-term deposit rates. The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31 December 2017 
for the Group and the Company was 2.5% (2016: 3.0%) per annum.

	 For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at the 
reporting date: 

		  Group	 Company
			   2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000 	  RM’000 	  RM’000 	 RM’000 

Cash on hand and at banks		  23,728	 29,832	 16,845	 23,312
Deposits of up to three months 
 maturity with licensed banks		  41,215	 47,041	 38,215	 44,041

Cash and cash equivalents		  64,943	 76,873	 55,060	 67,353
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27.	 Provisions

		  Group	 Company
			   2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Mine restoration		  28,184	 26,728	 –	 –
Provision for financial guarantee	 9,635	 9,635	 9,635	 9,635
Provision for environmental 
 waste removal		  2,400	 2,400	 –	 –

			   40,219	 38,763	 9,635	 9,635

Analysed as:
Current		  12,315	 12,035	 9,635	 9,635

Non-current		  27,904	 26,728	 –	 –

Provision for mine restoration				    2017	 2016
					     RM’000	 RM’000

At 1 January				    26,728	 18,000 
Provision during the year (Note 15) 			   434	 8,008
Unwinding of discount on provision (Note 9)			   1,022	 720

At 31 December				    28,184	 26,728

Current				    280	  –
Non-current:
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years			   279	 –
Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years			   553	 –
Later than 5 years				    27,072	 26,728

					     27,904	 26,728

					     28,184	 26,728

(a)	 Provision for mine restoration

	 The Group’s tin mining activity is conducted principally through its subsidiary, Rahman Hydraulic Tin 
Sdn. Bhd. (“RHT”). RHT is obliged to restore and rehabilitate the mine subsequent to the cessation of 
production. 

	 Mine restoration costs will be substantially incurred subsequent to the cessation of production of the 
mine property. The provision for mine restoration costs is based on the present value of the estimated 
cash outflows to be incurred to restore and rehabilitate the mine.

	 The Group has engaged a South Korean consultant specialising in mine rehabilitation to carry out an 
assessment on the mine rehabilitation plan.

	 During the year, the increase in provision for mine restoration costs is due to changes in the estimated 
timing, discount rate and cash outflows to be incurred to restore and rehabilitate the mine.

(b)	 Provision for environmental waste removal

	 A provision of RM2,400,000 was made in respect of the obligation of M Smelt (C) Sdn. Bhd. for removal 
of environmental waste from its plant. 
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28.	 Borrowings

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	 RM’000	 RM’000

Short term borrowings
Unsecured:
Short term trade financing		  –	 33,011	 –	 33,011
Bankers’ acceptances		  403,617	 256,176	 403,617	 256,176
Term loan 		  49,164	 –	 –	 –

			   452,781	 289,187	 403,617	 289,187

Long term borrowings
Unsecured:
Term loan 		  –	 50,282	 –	 –

Total borrowings		  452,781	 339,469	 403,617	 289,187

	 Bankers’ acceptances

	 Bankers’ acceptances bear interest rates which range from 3.7% to 4.4% (2016: 3.8% to 4.0%) per annum.

	 Term loan

	 The term loan is denominated in Singapore Dollar and repayable in one lump sum at maturity on 17 November 
2018. The effective interest rate for the term loan is 4.0% per annum (2016: 4.0%).

	 The remaining maturities of the borrowings at the reporting date are as follows:

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
			    RM’000 	  RM’000 	 RM’000	 RM’000

On demand or within one year		  452,781	 289,187	 403,617	 289,187
More than 1 year and less than 2 year	 –	 50,282	 –	 –

			   452,781	 339,469	 403,617	 289,187

	 Other information on financial risks on borrowings are disclosed in Note 36.
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29.	 Trade and other payables

		  Group	 Company
			    2017 	 2016	  2017 	 2016
		  Note	  RM’000 	 RM’000 	  RM’000 	 RM’000 
Current

Trade payables
Third parties	 a	 34,493	 85,130	 29,796	 80,871
Subsidiaries	 d	 –	 –	 25,388	 37,346

			   34,493	 85,130	 55,184	 118,217

Other payables
Third parties	 b	 36,734	 22,217	 14,860	 14,186
Holding company	 c	 88	 628	 71	 8
Subsidiaries	 d	 –	 –	 60,301	 58,197

			   36,822	 22,845	 75,232	 72,391
Advance from customers		  3,221	 6,076	 3,221	 6,076
Accruals		  11,431	 10,867	 7,882	 9,054
GST payable		  550	 1,241	 –	 –

			   52,024	 41,029	 86,335	 87,521

Total trade and other payables		  86,517	 126,159	 141,519	 205,738
Less: GST payable 		  (550)	 (1,241)	 –	 –

			   85,967	 124,918	 141,519	 205,738
Add: Borrowings (Note 28)		  452,781	 339,469	 403,617	 289,187

Total financial liabilities 
 carried at amortised cost		  538,748	 464,387	 545,136	 494,925

(a) 	 Trade payables - third parties

	 These are unsecured and non-interest bearing. The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group range 
from cash to 90 days (2016: 90 days).

(b)	 Other payables - third parties

	 These are unsecured and non-interest bearing. The normal credit terms granted to the Group range from 
cash to 90 days(2016: 90 days).

(c)	 Amount due to holding company

	 This is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. 

(d)	 Amounts due to subsidiaries

	 These are unsecured and repayable on demand and include advances amounting to RM60.44 million 
(2016: RM 58.89 million) where interest rates ranging from 3.1% to 3.2% (2016: 2.5% to 4.0%) per annum 
is charged. 

	 Further details on related party transactions are disclosed in Note 35. 

	 Other information on financial risks of trade and other payables are disclosed in Note 36.
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30.	 Share capital and share premium

			   Number of 
			   ordinary 
			   shares 	  Amount 
						      Total 
			   Share	 Share		  share 
			   capital	 capital		  capital and 
			   (issued and	 (issued and	 Share	 share 
			   fully paid)	 fully paid)	 premium	 premium 
			   ’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Group

At 1 January 2017		  100,000	 100,000	 76,372	 176,372
Transfer in accordance with
 Section 618(2) of the 
 Companies Act 2016		  –	 74,666	 (74,666)	 –
Reclassification to other 
 reserve (Note 31)		  –	 –	 (1,706)	 (1,706)

At 31 December 2017		  100,000	 174,666	 –	 174,666

At 1 January 2016/31 
 December 2016		  100,000	 100,000	 76,372	 176,372

Company

At 1 January 2017		  100,000	 100,000	 74,666	 174,666
Transfer in accordance with
 Section 618(2) of the 
 Companies Act 2016		  –	 74,666	 (74,666)	 –

At 31 December 2017		  100,000	 174,666	 –	 174,666

At 1 January 2016/
 31 December 2016		  100,000	 100,000	 74,666	 174,666

	 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All 
ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions and rank equally with regard to the Company 
residual assets.

	 With the Companies Act 2016 (“New Act”) coming into effect on 31 January 2017, the concept of authorised 
share capital and par value of share capital have been abolished. Consequently, the credit standing in the 
share premium account of RM74,666,000 for the Group and the Company becomes part of the Group’s and 
the Company’s share capital pursuant to the transitional provisions set out in Section 618(2) of the New Act. 
There is no impact on the number of ordinary shares in issue.

	 Pursuant to subsection 618(3) of the New Act, the Company may exercise its right to use the credit amount 
being transferred from share premium account within 24 months after the commencement of the New Act.
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31.    Other reserves (non-distributable) 

			   Foreign 
			   currency
		  Revaluation	 translation	 FVOCI	 Hedging	 Other	
		  reserves	 reserves	 reserves	 reserves	 reserve	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Group

At 1 January 2017	 31,726	 3,206	 5,171	 (1,720)	 –	 38,383
Reclassification from 
 share premium 
 account (Note 30)	 –	 –	 –	 –	 1,706	 1,706
						    
Other comprehensive
 income:					   
Revaluation surplus 
 on property, plant 
 and equipment, net	 5,305	 –	 –	 –	 –	 5,305
Net fair value changes 
 in quoted investments 
 at FVOCI	 –	 –	 (1,685)	 –	 –	 (1,685)
Share of an associate’s 
 revaluation surplus on 
 property, plant 
 and equipment	 155	 –	 –	 –	 –	 155
Foreign currency 
 translation	 –	 1	 –	 –	 –	 1
Net fair value changes 
 on cash flow hedges	 –	 –	 –	 1,720	 –	 1,720
Share of foreign currency 
 translation of an 
 associate and a joint
 venture	 –	 (1,934)	 –	 –	 –	 (1,934)

		  5,460	 (1,933)	 (1,685)	 1,720	 –	 3,562

At 31 December 2017	 37,186	 1,273	 3,486	 –	 1,706	 43,651
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31.    Other reserves (non-distributable) (cont’d.) 

			   Foreign 
			   currency	 Available
		  Revaluation	 translation	 -for-sale	 FVOCI	 Hedging	
		  reserves	 reserves	 reserves	 reserves	 reserves	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Group

At 1 January 2016	 28,845	 11,313	 –	 (2,803)	 (7,114)	 30,241

Other comprehensive
 income:					   
Revaluation surplus on 
 property, plant and 
 equipment, net	 2,881	 –	 –	 –	 –	 2,881
Net fair value changes 
 in quoted investments 
 at FVOCI	 –	 –	 –	 7,974	 –	 7,974
Foreign currency 
 translation	 –	 (1)	 –	 –	 –	 (1)
Net fair value changes 
 on cash flow hedges	 –	 –	 –	 –	 5,394	 5,394
Realisation of foreign 
 currency translation 
 reserves to profit or 
 loss on partial 
 disposal of a joint 
 venture	 –	 1,935	 –	 –	 –	 1,935
Share of foreign 
 currency translation 
 of an associate and 
 a joint venture	 –	 (10,041)	 –	 –	 –	 (10,041)

		  2,881	 (8,107)	 –	 7,974	 5,394	 8,142

At 31 December 2016	 31,726	 3,206	 –	 5,171	 (1,720)	 38,383
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31.    Other reserves (non-distributable) (cont’d.) 

	 		  Revaluation	 FVOCI	 Hedging
			   reserves	 reserves	 reserves	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Company

At 1 January 2017		  8,168	 5,171	 (1,720)	 11,619

Other comprehensive income:
Revaluation surplus on property, 
 plant and equipment, net		  308	 –	 –	 308
Net fair value changes in quoted 
 investments at FVOCI		  –	 (1,685)	 –	 (1,685)
Net fair value changes on 
 cash flow hedges		  –	 –	 1,720	 1,720

			   308	 (1,685)	 1,720	 343

At 31 December 2017		  8,476	 3,486	 –	 11,962

			   Available-
		  Revaluation	 for-sale	 FVOCI	 Hedging
		  reserves	 reserves	 reserves	 reserves	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Company					   

At 1 January 2016	 7,933	 –	 (2,803)	 (7,114)	 (1,984)

Other comprehensive income:				  
Revaluation surplus on property, 
 plant and equipment, net	 235	 –	 –	 –	 235
Net fair value changes in 
 quoted investments at FVOCI	 –	 –	 7,974	 –	 7,974
Net fair value changes on 
 cash flow hedges	 –	 –	 –	 5,394	 5,394

		  235	 –	 7,974	 5,394	 13,603

At 31 December 2016	 8,168	 –	 5,171	 (1,720)	 11,619
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31.    Other reserves (non-distributable) (cont’d.) 

	 The nature and purpose of each category of reserve are as follows:
	

(a)	 Revaluation reserves

	 The account records increases in the fair value of land and buildings and decreases to the extent that 
such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset previously recognised in equity, net of tax.

(b) 	 Foreign currency translation reserves

	 The account records the exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 
of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation 
currency. It also records the exchange differences arising from monetary items which form part of the 
Group’s net investment in foreign operations, regardless of the currency of the monetary item. 

		
(c)	 Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
		
	 The account records the cumulative fair value changes of investment securities until they are derecognised 

or impaired.
	
(d)	 Hedging reserves

	 The account records the effective portion of the cash flow hedge relationships incurred at the reporting 
date. Also recorded herein as a separate component, is the effective portion of the gain or loss on hedging 
instruments in cash flow hedges. 

32.	 Deferred tax

		  Group	 Company
			   2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

At 1 January		  (2,027)	 (1,714)	 455	 (1,319)
Disposal of intangible assets		  (48)	 –	 –	 –
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 12) 	 (3,851)	 (4,765)	 (703)	 (2,522)
Recognised in other comprehensive 
 income (Note 12)		  42	 4,452	 108	 4,296

At 31 December 		  (5,884)	 (2,027)	 (140)	 455

Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows:

Deferred tax assets		  (7,227)	 (3,986)	 (140)	 –
Deferred tax liabilities		  1,343	 1,959	 –	 455

			   (5,884)	 (2,027)	 (140)	 455
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32.	 Deferred tax (cont’d)

	 The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities and assets during the financial year prior to offsetting 
are as follows:

	 Deferred tax liabilities  
	 			 
				    Property,	 Other 
				    plant and	 temporary		

			   equipment	 differences	 Total
				    RM’000	  RM’000 	 RM’000
Group

At 1 January 2017 			   6,598	 1,634	 8,232
Disposal of intangible assets			   (48)	 –	 (48)
Recognised in profit or loss			   118	 –	 118
Recognised in other comprehensive income 		  32	 (533)	 (501)

At 31 December 2017			   6,700	 1,101	 7,801

At 1 January 2016			   6,419	 (885)	 5,534
Recognised in profit or loss			   (52)	 –	 (52)
Recognised in other comprehensive income 		  231	 2,519	 2,750

At 31 December 2016			   6,598	 1,634	 8,232

Company

At 1 January 2017 			   4,729	 1,634	 6,363
Recognised in profit or loss			   291	 –	 291
Recognised in other comprehensive income 		  98	 (533)	 (435)

At 31 December 2017			   5,118	 1,101	 6,219

At 1 January 2016 			   4,604	 (885)	 3,719
Recognised in profit or loss			   50	 –	 50
Recognised in other comprehensive income 		  75	 2,519	 2,594

At 31 December 2016			   4,729	 1,634	 6,363
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32.	 Deferred tax (cont’d)

	 Deferred tax assets 

		  Unutilised tax			   Fair value 	
		  losses and			   changes on 
		  unabsorbed			   derivative
		  capital		  Other	  financial
		  allowances	 Receivables	 provisions	 instruments	 Total
		  RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000 
Group

At 1 January 2017	 –	 (2,426)	 (7,191)	 (642)	 (10,259)
Recognised in profit or loss	 (2,600)	 2,258	 (3,816)	 189	 (3,969)
Recognised in other 
 comprehensive income 	 –	 –	 –	 543	 543

At 31 December 2017	 (2,600)	 (168)	 (11,007)	 90	 (13,685)

At 1 January 2016 	 (1,165)	 (176)	 (3,492)	 (2,415)	 (7,248)
Recognised in profit or loss	 1,165	 (2,250)	 (3,699)	 71	 (4,713)
Recognised in other 
 comprehensive income 	 –	 –	 –	 1,702	 1,702

At 31 December 2016	 –	 (2,426)	 (7,191)	 (642)	 (10,259)

Company

At 1 January 2017	 –	 (2,426)	 (2,840)	 (642)	 (5,908)
Recognised in profit or loss	 (2,600)	 2,258	 (841)	 189	 (994)
Recognised in other 
 comprehensive income 	 –	 –	 –	 543	 543

At 31 December 2017	 (2,600)	 (168)	 (3,681)	 90	 (6,359)

At 1 January 2016	 (1,165)	 (178)	 (1,280)	 (2,415)	 (5,038)
Recognised in profit or loss	 1,165	 (2,248)	 (1,560)	 71	 (2,572)
Recognised in other 
 comprehensive income 	 –	 –	 –	 1,702	 1,702

At 31 December 2016	 –	 (2,426)	 (2,840)	 (642)	 (5,908)
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33.	 Derivative financial instruments

	 Derivative financial instruments included in the statements of financial position at the reporting date were:

	 Group	 Company
			   Assets	 Liabilities	 Assets	 Liabilities
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

At 31 December 2017

Forward currency contracts		  375	 2,458	 375	 –

Analysed as:
Current		  375	 2,458	 375	 –

Non-current		  –	 –	 –	 –

At 31 December 2016

Forward currency contracts		  –	 3,523	 –	 2,676

Analysed as:					   
Current		  –	 2,676	 –	 2,676

Non-current		  –	 847	 –	 –

	 Forward currency contracts were entered into for the purpose of managing foreign exchange risk.  During the 
financial year, there were no contracts designated as cash flow or fair value hedge. Such derivatives do not 
qualify for hedge accounting.

	 Forward currency contracts not designated as hedges

	 The fair value changes of these contracts are recognised in profit or loss.

	 Forward currency contracts designated as hedges

	 The fair value changes of these contracts are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity under hedging reserves to the extent that the hedges are effective.

	 The fair value changes of these contracts are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that the hedges are 
ineffective. 



Overview OthersCorporate Governance 
And Financial ReportBusiness Review

157

Notes to the 
Financial Statements (cont’d)

33.	 Derivative financial instruments (cont’d)

	 The Group has the following derivative financial instruments at the reporting date:

	 At 31 December 2017

	 Forward currency contracts not designated as hedges

	 Forward currency contracts not designated as hedges to manage its foreign currency risk on expected future 
sales receivables.

Sell USD		  Average exchange rate
(in RM’000)	 Range of maturity period	 RM/USD

11,600	 From January 2018 to March 2018	 4.0924

	 A fair value gain of RM375,000 with a deferred tax expense of RM90,000 in respect of these contracts has 
been recognised in profit or loss.

	 Forward currency contracts not designated as hedges to manage its foreign currency risk on expected future 
repayment of borrowings in Singapore Dollar (SGD):

Buy SGD		  Average exchange rate
(in RM’000)	 Range of maturity period	 RM/SGD

16,200	 November 2018 	 3.2325

A fair value loss of RM2,458,000 in respect of these contracts has been recognised in profit or loss.

At 31 December 2016

(i)	 Forward currency contracts designated as hedges

	 Forward currency contracts designated as hedges to manage its foreign currency risk on expected future 
sales receivables and purchases payables in United States Dollar (USD) and Singapore Dollar (SGD):

Sell USD		  Average exchange rate
(in RM’000)	 Range of maturity period	 RM/USD

22,700	 From January 2017 to March 2017	 4.3728

	 A fair value loss of RM2,263,000 with a deferred tax benefit of RM543,000 on such contracts that relate to 
effective hedges has been included in the hedging reserves in respect of these contracts. The cash flow 
hedges of certain contracts were assessed to be ineffective. Accordingly, a fair value loss of RM405,000 
with a deferred tax benefit of RM97,000 in respect of these contracts has been recognised in profit or 
loss.
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33.	 Derivative financial instruments (cont’d)

At 31 December 2016 (cont’d)

(i)	 Forward currency contracts designated as hedges (cont’d)

Buy USD		  Average exchange rate
(in RM’000)	 Range of maturity period	 RM/USD

1,700		 January 2017 	 4.4890

	 The cash flow hedges of these contracts were assessed to be ineffective. Accordingly, a fair value loss 
of RM5,000 with a deferred tax benefit of RM1,200 in respect of these contracts has been recognised 
in profit or loss.

Buy SGD		  Average exchange rate
(in RM’000)	 Range of maturity period	 RM/SGD

400		  January 2017 	 3.1100

	 The cash flow hedge of this contract was assessed to be ineffective. Accordingly, a fair value loss of 
RM3,000 with a deferred tax benefit of RM700 in respect of this contract has been recognised in profit 
or loss.

(ii)	 Forward currency contracts not designated as hedges

	 Forward currency contracts not designated as hedges to manage its foreign currency risk on expected 
future repayment of borrowings in Singapore Dollar (SGD):

Buy SGD		  Average exchange rate
(in RM’000)	 Range of maturity period	 RM/SGD

16,200	 November 2018 	 3.2325

A fair value loss of RM847,000 in respect of these contracts has been recognised in profit or loss.

34.	 Commitments and contingency 

	 Capital commitments	
	 Group	 Company

			   2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Capital expenditure:					   
					   
Approved and contracted for:					   
- Property, plant and equipment		  18,438	 287	 34	 269

Approved but not contracted for:				  
- Property, plant and equipment		  6,420	 29,098	 –	 –

 

	 Legal claim contingency

	 A subsidiary is defending a legal action brought by two companies. The subsidiary, via its lawyer, filed a 
Defence and Counter Claim Statement on the legal suit and the subsidiary has strong grounds to defend the 
action based on legal advice. The legal suit is currently pending hearing. In the Directors’ opinion, disclosure 
of additional information about the above matter would be prejudicial to the interests of the Group.



Overview OthersCorporate Governance 
And Financial ReportBusiness Review

159

Notes to the 
Financial Statements (cont’d)

35.    Related party disclosures

(a) 	 Related party transactions

	 In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group and the Company 
had the following transactions with related parties during the financial year.

					     2017	 2016
				    Note	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group

Associates/joint ventures:				 
- Sales of products 			   (i)	 61,718	 50,408
- Interest income			   (ii)	 168	 169

Director:				  
- Legal fee charges			   (iii)	 –	 140

Key management personnel:				  
- Professional fee charges			  (iv)	 1,911	 466
- Proceeds from disposal of motor vehicle		  (v)	 242	 –

Company

Subsidiaries:				  
- Purchases of products			   (vi)	 183,518	 174,366
- Interest income			   (ii)	 927	 593
- Management fee income 			   1,800	 2,400
- Advances given			   (vii)	 10,291	 7,520
- Advances received			   (viii)	 56,000	 58,886
- Rental paid				    1,796	 1,796
- Interest expense				    2,018	 1,348

Associates/joint ventures:				 
- Sales of products			   (i)	 61,718	 50,408
- Interest income			   (ii)	 168	 169

Key management personnel:				  
- Proceeds from disposal of motor vehicle		  (v)	 242	 –

(i)	 The sales of products to an associate have been made according to the market prices and conditions 
offered to the major customers of the Group. It is subject to the Group’s normal credit terms which 
range from cash to 90 days.

(ii)	 Interest income are receivable in respect of amounts due from Redring Solder (M) Sdn. Bhd. , M 
Smelt (C) Sdn. Bhd. and MSC Properties Sdn. Bhd. Further details are disclosed in Notes 23 and 
24 respectively.

(iii)	 Legal fee was raised by a law firm on a subsidiary of the Company where a director of the Company 
and a director of the subsidiary is a partner of the law firm.
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35.   Related party disclosures (cont’d)

(a)	 Related party transactions (cont’d)

(iv)	 Professional fee was charged by a firm related to a former key management personnel of the 
Group. 

(v)	 Proceeds from disposal of motor vehicles to two former key management personnel of the 
Company.

(vi)	 The purchases of products from a subsidiary has been made according to the market prices. 
Amount due to a subsidiary on trade transactions are repayable on demand.

(vii)	 Advances given to certain subsidiaries are subject to interest as disclosed in Note 24 (ii).

(viii)	 Advances received from a subsidiary is subject to interest as disclosed in Note 29 (d).

	 Information regarding outstanding balances arising from related party transactions as at 31 December 
2016 and 2017 are disclosed in Notes 23, 24 and 29.

(b)	 Compensation of key management personnel

	 The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

	 Group	 Company
			   2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Short term employee benefits	 4,582	 4,733	 4,224	 4,434
Post-employment benefits:
- Defined contribution plan		 533	 543	 497	 543
Termination benefits		  –	 1,600	 –	 1,600

			   5,115	 6,876	 4,721	 6,577

Included in the total compensation of key management personnel was:

	 Group	 Company
			   2017	 2016	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Directors’ fees (Note 4)		  538	 731	 538	 655
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36.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

	 The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the use of financial 
instruments. The key financial risks include interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, liquidity risk, credit risk, 
commodity price risk and market price risk.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial 
resources are available for the development of the Group’s and the Company’s businesses whilst managing 
their interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, liquidity risk, credit risk, commodity price risk and market price 
risk. The policies for managing each of these risks are summarised below. 

(a) 	 Interest rate risk

	 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

	 The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily 
to the Group’s and the Company’s cash deposits and debt obligations.

	 The Group and the Company had placed the cash deposits with reputable banks and financial institutions 
with a good mix of maturity periods to obtain the most favourable interest rates and ensure funds are 
available when required.

	 The table below demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates with 
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit or loss net of tax through the impact on interest 
income from bank deposits and interest expense on floating rate borrowings at the reporting date:

						      (Decrease)/
					     Increase (+)/	 Increase
					     Decrease (-)	 in profit
					     in basis point	 net of tax
						      RM’000

At 31 December 2017
- Malaysian Ringgit				    +25	 (699)
					     -25	 699

- United States Dollar				    +25	 17
					     -25	 (17)

At 31 December 2016
- Malaysian Ringgit				    +25	 (393)
					     -25	 393

- United States Dollar				    +25	 (60)
					     -25	 60
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36.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b)	 Foreign currency risk

	 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

	 The Group has exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates in both business transactions and 
foreign currency term loan. The Group has foreign exchange risk exposure mainly in United States Dollar 
and Singapore Dollar.

	 Due to the concentration of its purchases and sales in United States Dollar, there is a natural hedge and 
the exposure to United States Dollar foreign exchange risk for business transactions is minimised. The 
Group also uses forward currency contracts to manage foreign exchange risk.

	 At the reporting date, approximately:

(i)	 55% (2016: 91%) of the Group’s trade and other receivables (excluding GST recoverable) as well as 
36% (2016: 56%) of the Group’s trade and other payables (excluding GST payable) are denominated 
in foreign currencies, mainly in United States Dollar.

(ii)	 32% (2016: 8%) of the Group’s cash and bank deposits are denominated in foreign currencies, 
mainly in United States Dollar.

(iii)	 11% (2016: 25%) of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in Singapore Dollar and United States 
Dollar.

	 At 31 December 2017, the Group held forward currency contracts to manage its foreign currency risk on 
expected future sales receivables and purchases payables in United States Dollar for actual and highly 
probable forecasted transactions. 

	 Forward currency contracts designated as hedges

	 The terms of the forward currency contracts have been negotiated to match the terms of the commitments. 
There were no highly probable transactions for which hedge accounting had previously been used, which 
are no longer expected to occur. In the previous financial year, the ineffectiveness arising from the cash 
flow hedges resulted in a net loss of RM413,000 with a deferred tax benefits of RM99,000 recognised 
in profit or loss (see Note 33).

	 In the previous financial year, the cash flow hedges of certain contracts were assessed to be effective and 
a net loss of RM2,263,000 with a deferred tax benefit of RM543,000 is included in other comprehensive 
income (see Note 33).
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36.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b)	 Foreign currency risk (cont’d)

	 Forward currency contracts not designated as hedges

	 A net loss of RM2,083,000 (2016: a loss of RM847,000) with a deferred tax expense of RM90,000 (2016: 
RM Nil) in respect of the forward currency contracts were recognised in profit or loss (see Note 33).

	 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the United States 
Dollar (“USD”) against the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, with all other variables 
held constant, of the Group’s profit or loss net of tax and equity at the reporting date:

		  2017	 2016
			   Increase/		  (Decrease)/
			   (Decrease) 	 Increase/	 Increase	 (Decrease)/
			   in profit net	 (Decrease)	 in profit net	 Increase
			   of tax	  in equity 	 of tax	 in equity
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
					   
USD/RM	 strengthened by 5% 	 1,101	 1,101	 (10,191)	 (8,471)
		  weakened by 5% 	 (1,101)	 (1,101)	 9,353	 11,073

(c)	 Liquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial 
obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises 
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. 

	 The Group and the Company manage their debt maturity profiles, operating cash flows and the availability 
of funding so as to ensure that all financing, repayment and funding needs are met. As part of its overall 
prudent liquidity risk management, the Group and the Company maintain sufficient levels of cash or 
cash convertible investments to meet its working capital requirements. In addition, the Group and the 
Company strive to maintain available banking facilities of a reasonable level to its overall debt position. 
As far as possible, the Group and the Company raise committed funding from financial institutions and 
prudently balance their portfolio with some short term funding so as to achieve overall cost effectiveness.
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36.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

	 Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

	 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and 
liabilities at the reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. 

			   Within	 1 to 5	 Over	
Group	 Note	 1 year	 years	 5 years	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

At 31 December 2017

Financial assets:

Non-derivative					   
Trade receivables 	 23	 11,436	 –	 –	 11,436
Other receivables 	 24	 914	 –	 –	 914
Cash, bank balances
 and deposits	 26	 68,678	 –	 –	 68,678

Derivative					   
Forward currency contracts	 33	 375	 –	 –	 375

Total undiscounted
 financial assets		  81,403	 –	 –	 81,403

Financial liabilities:

Non-derivative					   
Borrowings	 28	 452,781	 –	 –	 452,781
Interest payable on
 borrowings	 	 1,928	 –	 –	 1,928
Trade and other payables	 29	 85,967	 –	 –	 85,967
					   
Derivative 					   
Forward currency contracts	 33	 2,458	 –	 –	 2,458

Total undiscounted
 financial liabilities		  543,134	 –	 –	 543,134

Total net undiscounted
 financial liabilities		  (461,731)	 –	 –	 (461,731)
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36.    Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

			   Within	 1 to 5	 Over	
Group	 Note	 1 year	 years	 5 years	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

At 31 December 2016

Financial assets:

Non-derivative					   
Trade receivables 	 23	 30,733	 –	 –	 30,733
Other receivables 	 24	 1,425	 –	 –	 1,425
Cash, bank balances
 and deposits	 26	 80,391	 –	 –	 80,391

Total undiscounted
 financial assets		  112,549	 –	 –	 112,549

Financial liabilities:					   

Non-derivative					   
Borrowings	 28	 289,187	 50,282	 –	 339,469
Interest payable on
 borrowings		  2,197	 1,769	 –	 3,966
Trade and other payables	 29	 124,918	 –	 –	 124,918

Derivative 					   
Forward currency contracts	 33	 2,676	 847	 –	 3,523

Total undiscounted
 financial liabilities		  418,978	 52,898	 –	 471,876
					   
Total net undiscounted
 financial liabilities		  (306,429)	 (52,898)	 –	 (359,327)
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36.    Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

			   Within	 1 to 5	 Over	
Company	 Note	 1 year	 years	 5 years	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

At 31 December 2017

Financial assets:

Non-derivative					   
Trade receivables	 23	 11,435	 –	 –	 11,435
Other receivables	 24	 18,881	 –	 –	 18,881
Cash, bank balances
 and deposits	 26	 58,795	 –	 –	 58,795

Derivative					   
Forward currency contracts	 33	 375	 –	 –	 375

Total undiscounted
 financial assets		  89,486	 –	 –	 89,486

Financial liabilities:

Non-derivative					   
Borrowings	 28	 403,617	 –	 –	 403,617
Interest payable on
 borrowings	 	 198	 –	 –	 198
Trade and other payables	 29	 141,519	 –	 –	 141,519

Total undiscounted
 financial liabilities		  545,334	 –	 –	 545,334

Total net undiscounted
 financial liabilities		  (455,848)	 –	 –	 (455,848)
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36.    Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

			   Within	 1 to 5	 Over	
Company	 Note	 1 year	 years	 5 years	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

At 31 December 2016	
					   
Financial assets: 			 
					   
Non-derivative					   
Trade receivables	 23	 30,729	 –	 –	 30,729
Other receivables	 24	 24,084	 –	 –	 24,084
Cash, bank balances
 and deposits	 26	 70,871	 –	 –	 70,871

Total undiscounted
 financial assets		  125,684	 –	 –	 125,684

					   

Financial liabilities:					   
					   
Non-derivative					   
Borrowings	 28	 289,187	 –	 –	 289,187
Interest payable on
 borrowings		  186	 –	 –	 186
Trade and other payables	 29	 205,738	 –	 –	 205,738

Derivative 					   
Forward currency contracts	 33	 2,676	 –	 –	 2,676

Total undiscounted
 financial liabilities		  497,787	 –	 –	 497,787

Total net undiscounted
 financial liabilities		  (372,103)	 –	 –	 (372,103)
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36.    Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(d)	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty 
default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from 
trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including investment securities, cash and bank 
balances and derivatives), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with 
high credit rating counterparties.

	 Credit risks, or the risks of counterparties defaulting are controlled by the application of credit approvals, 
limit and monitoring procedures. Credit risks are minimised and monitored by limiting the Group’s and the 
Company’s associations to business partners with high creditworthiness. Trade receivables are monitored 
on an ongoing basis via Group management reporting procedures. The Group and the Company place 
the cash deposits with reputable banks and financial institutions.

	 The Group and the Company consider the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting 
period.

	 The Group and the Company determine the default event on a financial asset to be when the counterparty 
fails to make contractual payments, within 90 days (2016: 90 days) when they fall due.

	 To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group and the Company compare 
the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of 
initial recognition. The Group and the Company consider available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information which includes the following indicators:

-	 Internal credit rating

-	 External credit rating

-	 Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 
are expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations

-	 Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor

-	 Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor

-	 Significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-
party guarantees or credit enhancements

-	 Significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the debtors, including changes 
in the payment status of debtors in the group and changes in the operating results of the debtor.

	 Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more 
than 30 days past due in making contractual payment.
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36.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(d)	 Credit risk (cont’d)

	 The Group and the Company determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:

-	 There is significant financial difficulty of the debtor

-	 A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event

-	 It is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation

-	 There is a disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulty

	 Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor 
failing to meet a repayment plan with the Group and the Company. Where loans and receivables have 
been written off, the Group and the Company continue to engage enforcement activity to attempt to 
recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss. 

	 The following are credit risk management practices and quantitative and qualitative information about 
amounts arising from expected credit losses for trade and other receivables:

-	 The Group and the Company provide for 12-month expected credit losses for all trade and other 
receivables (excluding GST recoverable). The 12-month expected credit losses have taken into 
consideration historical loss rate statistics for debts with similar credit profile and the country risk 
of the debtors. 

-	 For receivables which are lower risk, the probability of default (“PD”) is minimal.

-	 For receivables which are higher risk, the PD rates ranging from 2.5% to 50% (2016: 2.5% to 50%) 
is applied if a receivable is more than 90 days to 360 days. 

	 During the financial year, the Group and the Company did not make any write-offs of trade and other 
receivables. The Group and the Company do not expect to receive future cash flows from and no recoveries 
from collection of cash flows previously written off.

	 Exposure to credit risk 

	 At the reporting date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposures to credit risk are represented by 
the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statements of financial position.

	 The Group has a concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposure to a single debtor which 
constitutes approximately 39.9% (2016: 24.9%) of its trade receivables and 6.3% (2016: 9.6%) of its 
other receivables (excluding GST recoverable).
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36.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(d)	 Credit risk (cont’d)

	 The Group and the Company determine concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country profile of 
their trade and other receivables on an ongoing basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s 
and the Company’s current and non-current trade and other receivables (excluding GST recoverable) at 
the reporting date were as follows:

	 2017	 2016
			   RM’000	 % of total	 RM’000	 % of total

Group
By country:					   
Malaysia		  5,526	 45	 2,801	 8
Germany		  2,453	 20	 6,024	 19
United Kingdom		  1,443	 12	 3,900	 12
Taiwan and China, 
 including Hong Kong		  1,280	 10	 10,248	 32
Switzerland		  910	 7	 99	 –
Belgium		  264	 2	 –	 –
Countries in Africa continent	 80	 1	 869	 3
Japan		  –	 –	 7,667	 24
Others 		  394	 3	 550	 2

			   12,350	 100	 32,158	 100

Company
By country:					   
Malaysia		  23,492	 77	 25,456	 46
Germany		  2,453	 8	 6,024	 11
United Kingdom		  1,443	 5	 3,900	 7
Taiwan and China, including
 Hong Kong		  1,280	 4	 10,248	 19
Switzerland		  910	 3	 99	 –
Belgium		  264	 1	 –	 –
Countries in Africa continent	 80	 –	 869	 2
Japan		  –	 –	 7,667	 14
Others 		  394	 2	 550	 1

			   30,316	 100	 54,813	 100

	 Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

	 Information regarding trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed in Note 23. 
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions that are neither past due nor impaired are placed 
with or entered into with reputable financial institutions or companies with high credit ratings and have 
no history of default.

	 Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

	 Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Notes 23 and 
24.
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36.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(e)	 Commodity price risk

	 Commodity price risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from movements in the price of the Group’s 
commodity inputs and outputs. The Group is exposed to commodity price risk on revenue for sales of 
tin as well as production cost for fuel consumed in the operations.

	 The commodity price risk on revenue for sales of tin is managed through contractual arrangements 
with customers and forward commodity contracts. At the reporting date, there was no such contract 
outstanding.

	 The commodity price risk on production cost for fuel is managed through forward commodity contracts. 
The terms of the forward commodity contracts have been negotiated to match the terms of the 
commitments. There were no highly probable transactions for which hedge accounting had previously 
been used, which are no longer expected to occur. At the reporting date, there was no such contract 
outstanding. 

(f)	 Market price risk

	 Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates). 

	 The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity instruments. The 
quoted equity instruments outside Malaysia are listed on Toronto Venture Exchange in Canada. These 
instruments are classified as financial assets at FVOCI.

	 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the share price, with 
all other variables held constant, of the Group’s equity at the reporting date:

					     2017	 2016
					     Increase/	 Increase/
					     (Decrease)	 (Decrease)
					     in equity	 in equity
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Share price	 increased by 5%		      	       806	 890
		  decreased by 5%			   (806)	 (890)
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36.	 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(g)	 Capital management

	 The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the various core businesses. The Group allocates 
the amount of capital in proportion to risk, manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it 
in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristic of the underlying assets. In 
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, sell assets or increase borrowings. 
The Group monitors the return of capital, which is defined as total shareholders’ equity (excluding non-
controlling interests), and gearing ratio, which is defined as total borrowings over total equity.

	 The Group seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher 
level of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

		  Group
					     2017	 2016
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Share capital				    174,666	 100,000
Share premium				    –	 76,372
Other reserves				    43,651	 38,383
Retained earnings				    72,439	 64,334

Total shareholders’ equity			  	 290,756	 279,089
Non-controlling interests				    293	 294

Total equity				    291,049	 279,383

Total borrowings (Note 28)			   452,781	 339,469

Gearing ratio (as defined above)			   1.6	 1.2
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37.    Fair value of assets and liabilities

(a)	 Fair value of assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value

	 The following table shows an analysis of each class of assets and liabilities carried at fair value by level 
of fair value hierarchy:

			Q   uoted prices
			   in active	 Significant
			   markets for	 other	 Significant
			   identical	 observable	 unobservable
		  Date of	 instruments	 inputs	 inputs
		  valuation	 (Level 1)	 (Level 2)	 (Level 3)	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group 

At 31 December 2017

Assets measured at fair value:

Investment securities (Note 20)
 - Equity instruments (quoted)	 31.12.2017	 21,205	 –	 –	 21,205

Revalued freehold land and
 buildings (Note 15)
 - Land and tin smelting industrial
  complex in Butterworth	 31.12.2017	 –	 –	 40,998	 40,998
 - Land and buildings in Pulau
  Indah Industrial Park	 31.12.2017	 –	 –	 34,770	 34,770
 - Office lots in Kuala Lumpur	 31.12.2017	 –	 –	 6,750	 6,750
 - 80 units flats in Bukit Mertajam	 31.12.2017	 –	 –	 4,496	 4,496
 - Land and buildings in Daerah
  Hulu Perak	 31.12.2017	 –	 –	 2,514	 2,514

Derivative financial
 assets (Note 33)
 - Forward currency contracts	 31.12.2017	 –	 375	 –	 375

			   21,205	 375	 89,528	 111,108

Liabilities measured at fair value:

Derivative financial liabilities
 (Note 33)
- Forward currency contracts	 31.12.2017	 –	 2,458	 –	 2,458
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37.    Fair value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)

(a)	 Fair value of assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value (cont’d)

			Q   uoted prices
			   in active	 Significant
			   markets for	 other	 Significant
			   identical	 observable	 unobservable
		  Date of	 instruments	 inputs	 inputs
		  valuation	 (Level 1)	 (Level 2)	 (Level 3)	 Total
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

Group

At 31 December 2016
					   
Assets measured at fair value:

Investment securities (Note 20)					   
 - Equity instruments (quoted)	 31.12.2016	 23,423	 –	 –	 23,423

Revalued freehold land and
 buildings					   
 - Land and tin smelting industrial
  complex in Butterworth	 31.12.2016	 –	 –	 37,777	 37,777
 - Land and buildings in Pulau
  Indah Industrial Park	 31.12.2016	 –	 –	 32,396	 32,396
 - Office lots in Kuala  Lumpur	 31.12.2016	 –	 –	 6,750	 6,750
 - 80 units flats in Bukit Mertajam	 31.12.2016	 –	 –	 4,400	 4,400
 - Land and buildings in Daerah
  Hulu Perak	 31.12.2016	 –	 –	 2,432	 2,432

			   23,423	 –	 83,755	 107,178

Liabilities measured at fair value:
Derivative financial liabilities
 (Note 33)					   
 - Forward currency contracts	 31.12.2016	 –	 3,523	 –	 3,523

	 Fair value hierarchy

	 The Group classified fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 –	 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 –	 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from  prices), and

Level 3 –	 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs)
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37.	 Fair value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)

(a)	 Fair value of assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value (cont’d)

	 Determination of fair value

	 Quoted equity instruments: Fair value is determined directly by reference to the published market closing 
price at the reporting date. 

	 Unquoted equity instruments: These investments are valued using valuation models which use both 
observable and non-observable data. The non-observable inputs to the models include assumptions 
regarding the future financial performance of the investee, its risk profile, and economic assumptions 
regarding the industry and geographical jurisdiction in which the investee operates. 

	 Derivatives: Forward currency contracts, forward commodity contracts and interest rate swap contract 
are valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs. These contracts are valued by 
financial institutions.

	 Information about significant unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair value measurements

	 The following table shows the information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3).

				    Significant		  Sensitivity of
			   Valuation	 unobservable		  the input
Description	 Fair value	 techniques	 inputs	 Range 	 to fair value
		  RM’000

Group

At 31 December 2017				  

Revalued freehold land	 89,528	 Market	 Difference in	 -25.0%	 Every 1% increase
 and buildings (Note 15)		  comparable	 location, time	 to	 or (decrease) in
			   approach/	 factor and	 30.0%	 the adjustments
			    Depreciated	 size		  would result in
			   replacement			   increase or
			   cost			   (decrease) in
						      fair value by
						      RM27,000.

At 31 December 2016

Revalued freehold land	 83,755	 Market	 Difference in	 -20.0%	 Every 1% increase
 and buildings (Note 15)		  comparable	 location, time	 to	 or (decrease) in
			   approach/	 factor and	 30.0%	 the adjustments
			    Depreciated	 size		  would result in
			   replacement			   increase or
			   cost			   (decrease) in
						      fair value by
						      RM283,000.
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37.	 Fair value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)

(a)	 Fair value of assets and liabilities that are carried at fair value (cont’d)

	 Movements in Level 3 assets measured at fair value

	 The following table presents the reconciliation for all assets measured at fair value based on significant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

Group

Property, plant and equipment

				    Freehold	 Leasehold
				    land	 land	 Buildings
				    RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

At 1 January 2017			   30,095	 24,619	 29,041
Additions			   –	 –	 2,491
Revaluation adjustments			   6,574	 –	 (3,343)
Depreciation charge for the year		  –	 (309)	 (1,797)
Elimination of accumulated depreciation
 on revaluation			   –	 360	 1,797

At 31 December 2017			   36,669	 24,670	 28,189

At 1 January 2016			   27,377	 –	 21,590
Additions			   –	 24,670	 7,830
Revaluation adjustments			   2,718	 –	 (379)
Depreciation charge for the year		  –	 (51)	 (834)
Elimination of accumulated depreciation
 on revaluation			   –	 –	 834

At 31 December 2016			   30,095	 24,619	 29,041

	 There has been no transfer from Level 1 and Level 2 to Level 3 during the financial year ended 31 December 
2017.

(b)	 Fair value of assets and liabilities by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value

	 The following are classes of financial instruments whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation 
of fair value:

						      Note

Trade receivables (current)				    23
Other receivables (current)				    24
Other receivables (non-current)				    24
Borrowings (current)					     28
Borrowings (non-current)					     28
Trade and other payables (current)				    29



Overview OthersCorporate Governance 
And Financial ReportBusiness Review

177

Notes to the 
Financial Statements (cont’d)

37.	 Fair value of assets and liabilities (cont’d)

(b)	 Fair value of assets and liabilities by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value (cont’d)

	 The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values, 
either due to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market 
interest rates on or near the reporting date.

	 The carrying amounts of the non-current portion of borrowings are reasonable approximation of fair 
values due to the insignificant impact of discounting.

38.	 Segmental information

	 The revenue of the Group is derived from tin mining and smelting of tin concentrates and tin bearing materials, 
the production of various grades of refined tin metal and the sale and delivery of refined tin metal and by-
products.

	 For management purposes, the Group is organised into two business segments within the tin industry, and 
has three reportable operating segments as follows:

(a)	 Tin Smelting

	 Tin smelting includes the smelting of tin concentrates and tin bearing materials, the production of various 
grades of refined tin metal and the sale and delivery of refined tin metal and by-products.

(b)	 Tin Mining

	 Tin mining includes activities involving exploration for and mining of tin. 

(c)	 Others

	 These include investments in other metal and mineral resources to form a reportable operating segment.

Business segments

	 Management monitors the operating results of each business unit separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based 
on profit before tax. 

	 Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions 
with third parties. These intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
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38.	 Segmental information (cont’d)

Business segments (cont’d)

	 The following tables provide an analysis of the Group’s revenue, results, assets, liabilities and other information 
by business segments:

			   Tin	 Tin		  (Eliminations)/
			   Smelting	 Mining	 Others	 Adjustments	 Total
		  Note	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2017

Revenue						    
Sales to external customers		  1,436,177	 –	 –	 –	 1,436,177
Inter-segment sales		  –	 183,518	 –	 (183,518)	 –

Total revenue		  1,436,177	 183,518	 –	 (183,518)	 1,436,177

Results
(Loss)/Profit from operations		  (6,407)	 47,725	 (89)	 2,704	 43,933
Reversal of impairment losses		  –	 –	 129	 –	 129
Finance costs		  (13,057)	 (1,022)	 (639)	 –	 (14,718)
Share of results of associates
 and joint ventures		  –	 –	 (1,109)	 –	 (1,109)

(Loss)/Profit before tax 		  (19,464)	 46,703	 (1,708)	 2,704	 28,235
Income tax credit/(expense)		  655	 (12,137)	 –	 (649)	 (12,131)

(Loss)/Profit net of tax		  (18,809)	 34,566	 (1,708)	 2,055	 16,104

At 31 December 2017

Assets						    
Segment assets		  751,967	 69,548	 21,212	 (2,877)	 839,850
Investment in associates
 and joint ventures		  –	 –	 34,568	 –	 34,568

Total assets		  751,967	 69,548	 55,780	 (2,877)	 874,418

Liabilities						    
Segment liabilities		  526,030	 57,296	 43	 –	 583,369
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38.	 Segmental information (cont’d)

Business segments (cont’d)

			   Tin	 Tin		  (Eliminations)/
			   Smelting	 Mining	 Others	 Adjustments	 Total
		  Note	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2017

Other segment information
Additions of non-current assets						    
- Property, plant and equipment	 15	 9,020	 1,314	 –	 –	 10,334
- Intangible and other non-current
 assets	 17/21	 –	 426	 65	 –	 491
Depreciation	 4	 6,795	 6,247	 –	 –	 13,042
Amortisation of prepaid land
 lease payments	 4	 27	 6	 –	 –	 33
Amortisation of mining rights	 4	 –	 886	 –	 –	 886
Amortisation of corporate
 club membership	 4	 3	 5	 24	 –	 32
Amortisation of mine properties	 4	 –	 1,006	 –	 –	 1,006
Interest income	 6	 (1,493)	 (166)	 –	 –	 (1,659)
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38.	 Segmental information (cont’d)

Business segments (cont’d)

			   Tin	 Tin		  (Eliminations)/
			   Smelting	 Mining	 Others	 Adjustments	 Total
		  Note	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2016

Revenue
Sales to external customers		  1,477,941	 –	 –	 –	 1,477,941
Inter-segment sales		  8	 174,366	 1,796	 (176,170)	 –

Total revenue		  1,477,949	 174,366	 1,796	 (176,170)	 1,477,941
	
					   
Results						    
Profit from operations		  64,392	 41,007	 663	 (6,280)	 99,782
Impairment losses		  (33,947)	 –	 (3,589)	 –	 (37,536)
Finance costs		  (11,009)	 (720)	 (921)	 –	 (12,650)
Share of results of associates 
 and joint ventures		  –	 –	 (89)	 –	 (89)

Profit/(Loss) before tax 		  19,436	 40,287	 (3,936)	 (6,280)	 49,507
Income tax expense		  (5,168)	 (11,286)	 (226)	 1,505	 (15,175)

Profit/(Loss) net of tax		  14,268	 29,001	 (4,162)	 (4,775)	 34,332

						    
At 31 December 2016

Assets
Segment assets		  670,061	 68,936	 23,642	 (5,381)	 757,258
Investment in associates 
 and joint ventures		  –	 –	 37,336	 –	 37,336

Total assets		  670,061	 68,936	 60,978	 (5,381)	 794,594

						    
Liabilities
Segment liabilities		  468,281	 46,899	 480	 (449)	 515,211
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38.	 Segmental information (cont’d)

Business segments (cont’d)

			   Tin	 Tin		  (Eliminations)/
			   Smelting	 Mining	 Others	 Adjustments	 Total
		  Note	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000

2016

Other segment information
Additions of non-current assets
 - Property, plant and equipment	 15	 52,935	 8,824	 –	 –	 61,759
 - Intangible and other non-current
  assets	 21	 –	 3,657	 –	 –	 3,657
Depreciation	 4	 4,479	 4,705	 –	 –	 9,184
Amortisation of prepaid land
 lease payments	 4	 27	 6	 –	 –	 33
Amortisation of mining rights	 4	 –	 886	 –	 –	 886
Amortisation of corporate club
 membership	 4	 3	 5	 41	 –	 49
Amortisation of mine properties	 4	 –	 1,007	 –	 –	 1,007
Other significant non-cash income:						    
 - Reversal of inventories written
  down to net realisable value	 4	 (17,400)	 –	 –	 –	 (17,400)
Interest income	 6	 (3,000)	 (493)	 –	 –	 (3,493)
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38.	 Segmental information (cont’d)

	 The following item was added to segment profit before tax to arrive at profit before tax as disclosed in the 
consolidated statements of profit or loss:

		  Group
					     2017	 2016
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Realised profit/(Unrealised profit) from inter-segment sales		  2,704	 (6,280)

	 The following items were deducted from segment assets to arrive at total assets as disclosed in the consolidated 
statement of financial position:

		  Group
					     2017	 2016
					     RM’000	 RM’000

Unrealised profit arising from inter-segment sales			   (2,877)	 (4,932)
Inter-segment assets				    –	 (449)

					     (2,877)	 (5,381)

Geographical Information

	 The primary segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group’s risks and rates 
of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services. The activities of the Group are 
carried out mainly in Malaysia and as such, segmental reporting by geographical locations is not presented.

	 Information about major customers

	 Revenue from two major customers amounted to RM294,326,000 and RM155,496,000 (2016: one major 
customer amounted to RM236,361,000), arising from sales by the tin smelting segment.

39.	 Authorisation of financial statements for issue 

	 The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 were authorised for issue in accordance with 
a resolution of the directors on 27 March 2018.



Overview OthersCorporate Governance 
And Financial ReportBusiness Review

183

RECONCILIATIONS OF MFRSs 
WITH SINGAPORE FRSs

For statutory reporting purposes in Malaysia, the Group and the Company continue to prepare consolidated 
and separate financial statements in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”). The 
reconciliations between MFRSs and Singapore FRSs are prepared as the Company is required to lodge its annual 
report with the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) following the completion of its secondary 
listing on the Main Road of SGX-ST on 27 January 2011.

MFRSs vary in certain respects from Singapore FRSs. The application of Singapore FRSs that affected the preparation 
and presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements are discussed below:

(a)	 Foreign currency translation reserves

	 Under Singapore FRS, the translation differences on foreign operations are recognised as a separate component 
of equity. MFRS 1 provides the optional exemption that cumulative foreign currency translation differences for 
all foreign operations are deemed to be zero as at the date of transition to MFRS.

	 Accordingly, at the date of transition to MFRS – 1 January 2011, the cumulative foreign currency translation 
differences of RM28,067,000 (31 December 2017: (RM408,000); 31 December 2016: (RM408,000)) were 
adjusted to retained earnings.

(b)	 Investment in subsidiaries

	 The Company has previously adopted a cost model for its investment in subsidiaries. In the Company’s separate 
financial statements, investment in subsidiaries are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

	 MFRS 1 provides the optional exemption for the Company to measure its investment in subsidiaries at cost 
(determined in accordance with MFRS 127) or deemed cost (fair value or carrying amount recorded under 
FRS) at the date of transition to MFRS.

	 The Company regards the fair value as at 1 January 2011 as the deemed cost for its investment in Rahman 
Hydraulic Tin Sdn. Bhd. Accordingly, at the date of transition to MFRS, the excess of fair value over the carrying 
amount of RM133,356,000 (31 December 2017: RM133,356,000; 31 December 2016: RM133,356,000) were 
adjusted to retained earnings.
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Singapore FRSs do not provide for these MFRS 1 optional exemptions. The reconciliations of equity at the reporting 
date and for comparative period from MFRSs to Singapore FRSs are provided below:

Reconciliation of equity as at 31 December 2017

				    Note (a)	
				    Foreign
				    currency	 Singapore
			   MFRS as at	 translation	 FRS as at
			   31.12.2017	  reserves 	 31.12.2017
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Group			 
			 
Equity			 
Foreign currency translation reserves			   1,273	 408	 1,681
Retained earnings			   72,439	 (408)	 72,031

		  		  Note (b)	 Singapore
			   MFRS as at	 Investment in	 FRS as at
			   31.12.2017	 subsidiaries	 31.12.2017
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Company			 
			 
Non-current assets			 
Investment in subsidiaries			   148,681	 (133,356)	 15,325
			 
Equity			 
Retained earnings/(Accumulated losses)		  116,988	 (133,356)	 (16,368)

Reconciliation of equity as at 31 December 2016

				    Note (a)	
				    Foreign
				    currency	 Singapore
			   MFRS as at	 translation	 FRS as at
			   31.12.2016	 reserves	 31.12.2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Group			 
			 
Equity			 
Foreign currency translation reserves			   3,206	 408	 3,614
Retained earnings			   64,334	 (408)	 63,926

				    Note (b)	 Singapore
			   MFRS as at	 Investment in	 FRS as at
			   31.12.2016	 subsidiaries	 31.12.2016
			   RM’000	 RM’000	 RM’000
Company			 
			 
Non-current assets			 
Investment in subsidiaries			   148,681	 (133,356)	 15,325
			 
Equity			 
Retained earnings/(Accumulated losses)		  94,678	 (133,356)	 (38,678)
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LIST OF PROPERTIES OF THE GROUP 
31 December 2017 

Location Description
Approximate 

area Tenure
Year of 
expiry

Approximate 
age of 

buildings

Net 
carrying 

amount at 
31.12.17
RM’000

Date of last 
revaluation

MALAYSIA

1. 27 Jalan Pantai 
12000 Butterworth

(a)  Lot 142-187 & 362 L a n d  w i t h 
offices 
and factory 
buildings

12.5 acres Freehold – 13 to over 50
years

40,982 31.12.2017

(b) Lot 268 Land with 
car park shed

45,575 sq. ft. Leasehold 2028 30 years 262 31.12.2017

(c) PT 686 Seabed
leases with
main wharf

15,000 sq. ft. Leasehold 2069 NA 95 31.12.2017

2. Lot 6, 8 & 9
Jalan Perigi Nanas 6/1
Pulau Indah Industrial Park, 
West Port
42920 Port Klang
Selangor

Land with
offices and
factory
buildings

48,753 sq. m Leasehold 2097 16 years 34,770 31.12.2017

3. B-15-11, Block B, 15th Floor, 
Unit 11, Megan Avenue II
12 Jalan Yap Kwan Seng
50450 Kuala Lumpur

Office
premises

4,629 sq. ft. Freehold – 18 years 3,150 31.12.2017

4. B-15-6, B-15-7, Block B
15th Floor, Unit 6 & 7
Megan Avenue II
12 Jalan Yap Kwan Seng
50450 Kuala Lumpur

Office
premises

4,786 sq. ft. Freehold – 18 years 3,600 31.12.2017
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Location Description
Approximate 

area Tenure
Year of 
expiry

Approximate 
age of 

buildings

Net 
carrying 

amount at 
31.12.17
RM’000

Date of last 
revaluation

5. Taman Desa Palma, 
Alma 14000 Bukit Mertajam

80 units of 
flats 

52,000 sq. ft. Freehold – 17 years 4,496 31.12.2017

6. Mukim Pengkalan Hulu
Daerah Hulu Perak

(a) Lot 344 & 348 Land with 
buildings

3.78 
hectares 

Freehold – over 50 years 290 31.12.2017

(b) Lot 2071, 55502, 55503   
      & 55504, PT 3934,
     4338, 4522 & 4523

Land with 
buildings

7.02 
hectares

Leasehold 2068-
2112

36 to over 50 
years

1,474 31.12.2017

(c) PT 1705, 1706 & 1707 3 units of 
terrace houses

417 sq. m Leasehold 2108 7 years 525 31.12.2017

(d) Lot 55671 and 55675   
      (formerly PT 5022 and     
      5026)

2 units of 
semi-detached 
houses

526 sq. m Freehold – 4 years 600 31.12.2017

7. Mukim Belukar Semang 
Daerah Hulu Perak

(a) Lot 1886 Vacant land 0.4 hectares Freehold – – 20 31.12.2017

(b) PT 725, 726, 727 Land with
buildings

7.01 
hectares

Leasehold 2022 – 4 31.12.2017

List of Properties of the Group 
31 December 2017 (cont’d)
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
(as at 2 April 2018) 

Issued Share Capital	 : 	 RM100,000,000 comprising 100,000,000 Ordinary Shares

Class of Shares	 : 	 Ordinary Shares

Voting Rights	 : 	 One (1) vote per Ordinary Share

ANALYSIS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings
No. of 

Shareholders %
No. of 

Shares held %

less than 100 21 0.59 422 0.00

100 to 1,000 1,601 44.65 1,029,396 1.03

1,001 to 10,000 1,429 39.85 6,320,133 6.32

10,001 to 100,000 462 12.88 14,450, 115 14.45

100,001 to less than 5% of
issued shares 70 1.95 27,339,134 27.34

5% and above of issued shares 3 0.08 50,860,800 50.86

TOTAL 3,586 100.00 100,000,000 100.00
					   

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS 

Directors

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

No. of 
Shares held %

No. of 
Shares held %

Ms. Chew Gek Khim 400,000 0.40 – –

Mr. Chia Chee Ming, Timothy – – – –

Dato’ Ng Jui Sia 6,000 0.006 – –

Mr. John Mathew A/L Mathai – – – –

Mr. Yap Chee Keong – – – –

Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan – – 88,000 0.088
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THE 30 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 

Shareholders No. of Shares Held %

1.	 The Straits Trading Company Limited 28,090,000 28.09

2.	 Straits Trading Amalgamated Resources Sdn Bhd 17,374,500 17.37

3.	 Sword Investments Private Limited 5,396,300 5.40

4.	 Baxterley Holdings Private Limited 3,700,000 3.70

5.	 Cartaban Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd for ICapital.Biz Berhad 2,902,000 2.90

6.	 Leong Kok Tai 1,240,900 1.24

7.	 Neoh Choo Ee & Company Sdn Berhad 1,150,000 1.15

8.	 Lim Khoon 999,800 1.00

9.	 Quarry Lane Sdn Bhd 860,000 0.86

10.	 Lee Pin 829,000 0.83

11.	 Toh Yew Keong 660,000 0.66

12.	 Dynaquest Sdn Berhad 600,000 0.60

13.	 Lim Kian Siong 593,100 0.59

14.	 Au Yong Mun Yue 575,000 0.58

15.	 Chua Ah Moi @ Chua Sai Peng 418,000 0.42

16.	 Kuek Siaw Kia@ Quek Shiew Poh 417,500 0.42

17.	 Toh Yew Keong 410,000 0.41

18.	 2G Capital Pte Ltd 400,000 0.40

19.	 Chew Gek Khim 400,000 0.40

20.	 Tan Lee Hwa 393,000 0.39

21.	 Pui Cheng Wui 382,300 0.38

22.	 Affin Hwang Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Exempt an for DBS Vickers Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd 376,900 0.38

23.	 Au Yong Mun Yue 375,000 0.38

24.	 Lim Kian Siong 373,000 0.37

25.	 Synergy Motion Sdn Bhd 359,000 0.36

26.	 Ng Poh Cheng 333,600 0.33

27.	 Cimsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Exempt an for CIMB Securities (Singapore) Pte Ltd 317,000 0.32

28.	 Lim Bee San 309,300 0.31

29.	 CGS-CIMB Securities (S) PL 306,534 0.31

30.	 Liew Ben Poh 300,000 0.30
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LIST OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Substantial Shareholders

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

No. of 
Shares held %

No. of 
Shares held %

The Straits Trading Company
Limited

28,090,000 28.09 26,755,800*1 26.76

Straits Trading Amalgamated
Resources Sdn Bhd

17,374,500 17.37 – –

Sword Investments Pte Ltd 5,396,300 5.40 – –

Tan Chin Tuan Pte Ltd – – 54,845,800*2 54.85

The Cairns Pte Ltd – – 54,845,800*2 54.85

Tecity Pte Ltd – – 54,845,800*2 54.85

Raffles Investments Pte Ltd – – 54,845,800*2 54.85

Aequitas Pte Ltd – – 54,845,800*2 54.85

Dr Tan Kheng Lian – – 54,845,800*3 54.85

	
Notes:-  

*1	 Held through Straits Trading Amalgamated Resources Sdn Bhd, Sword Investments Pte Ltd, Baxterley Holdings 
Pte Ltd and Redring Solder (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd  

*2	 Tan Chin Tuan Pte Ltd, The Cairns Pte Ltd, Tecity Pte Ltd, Raffles Investments Pte Ltd and Aequitas Pte Ltd hold 
not less than 20% of the voting shares in The Straits Trading Company Limited. Tan Chin Tuan Pte Ltd is the 
ultimate holding company for The Straits Trading Company Limited 

*3	 Dr Tan Kheng Lian holds not less than 20% of the voting shares in Tan Chin Tuan Pte Ltd

Analysis of Shareholdings
(as at 2 April 2018) (cont’d)
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✄

PROXY FORM
MALAYSIA SMELTING CORPORATION BERHAD (43072-A) 
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

	
	

I/We,___________________________________________________________________________(name of shareholder as per NRIC/Passport, in 
capital letters), IC No./Passport No./Company No._________________________________________________	 of___________________________ 
________________________________________________________________________________(full address) being a member of MALAYSIA 
SMELTING CORPORTION BERHAD (43072-A) hereby appoint *Mr/Ms___________________________________________________________  
____________________________________________________(NRIC/Passport   No.__________________)   of______________________________
____________________________________________________ or failing   whom   *Mr/Ms ______________________________________________
(NRIC/Passport No.________________ )  of_________________________________________________________________________________or  
failing  *him/*them,  the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf at 
the Thirty-Ninth Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company to be held at Meeting Hall, Lot 8, Jalan Perigi Nanas 6/1, Pulau 
Indah Industrial Park, West Port, Port Klang, 42920 Pulau Indah, Selangor, Malaysia on Wednesday, 30 May 2018 at 11.00 a.m. and 
at any adjournment thereof.

My/our proxy/proxies is/are to vote as indicated below.

RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST
1. To approve the payment of Final Single-Tier Dividend of 4 sen per share in 

respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2017.	
Ordinary Resolution 1

2. To approve the Directors’ Fees of the Company of RM537,647.93 for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2017.

Ordinary Resolution 2

4. Re-election of Mr John Mathew A/L Mathai as Director. Ordinary Resolution 3
5. Re-election of Dato’ Robert Teo Keng Tuan as Director. Ordinary Resolution 4
 6. Re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young as Auditors of the Company and 

authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
Ordinary Resolution 5

7. Authority to Allot and Issue Shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the 
Companies Act 2016.

Ordinary Resolution 6

(Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate box against the resolutions on how you wish your proxy to vote. The 
proxy is to vote on the resolutions set out in the Notice of Meeting as you have indicated. If no specific instruction 
as to voting is given, this form will be taken to authorise the proxy to vote at his/her discretion.)

Dated this ………… day of ……………………, 2018

_______________________________________
Signature/Common Seal of Shareholder

NOTES:

1.	 A member entitled to attend, speak and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend, participate, speak and vote 
in his/her stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and there is no restriction as to the qualification of a proxy.

2.	 Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportions of his/her 
shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

3.	 Where a member is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one 
securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, there is no limit to the 
number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

4.	 The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy 
of that power or authority shall be deposited with the Registered Office of the Company at  Lot 6, 8 & 9, Jalan Perigi Nanas 6/1, Pulau Indah 
Industrial Park, West Port, Port Klang, 42920 Pulau  Indah, Selangor, Malaysia   not less than 48 hours before the time set for holding the 
meeting or any adjournment thereof, or in the case of a poll, not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for the taking of the poll and 
in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid. Any notice of termination of person’s authority to act as a proxy must be 
forwarded to the Company prior to the commencement of the AGM or Adjourned AGM.

5.	 If the appointor is a corporation, the instrument appointing a proxy must be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand of its attorney.
6.	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear on the Record of Depositors on 24 May 2018 (General Meeting Record 

of Depositors) shall be eligible to attend the meeting or appoint proxy(ies) to attend and/or vote on his behalf.
7.	 Pursuant to paragraph 8.29A of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, all resolutions set out in the 

Notice of AGM will be put to vote on poll. 

No. of ordinary shares held CDS account no. of holder

For appointment of two proxies, percentage of shareholdings to be 
represented by the proxies:

No. of shares Percentage
Proxy 1 %
Proxy 2 %

Total 100%



Fold this flap for sealing

Then fold here

1st fold here

AFFIX
STAMP

MALAYSIA SMELTING CORPORATION BERHAD (43072-A)

Lot 6, 8 & 9, Jalan Perigi Nanas 6/1
Pulau Indah Industrial Park
West Port, Port Klang
42920 Pulau Indah
Selangor 
Malaysia
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Registered Office

Lot 6, 8 and 9, Jalan Perigi Nanas 6/1, Pulau Indah Industrial Park 
West Port, Port Klang, 42920 Pulau Indah, Selangor, Malaysia
Tel: (603) 3102 3083   •   Fax: (603) 3102 3080

www.msmelt.com


